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SURVEY AND COMMENT.

Dr. Hyslop wishes to announce that he has ceased his ex-
periments with Mrs. Chenoweth. The cost would have been
too great to justify the continuance of them, for the desire was
that the price for sittings be doubled. As a consequence, Dr.
Hyslop has converted the experiment fund which he had on hand
for this year’s work into an addition to the endowment fund,
and has suspended all experiments of the kind, tho some of his
very important work has not yet been finished. He intends to
devote such spare time as he has to getting endowment, so that
the work will be on a much more permanent foundation. He
wishes members and the public generally to realize that no
permanent good can come for work in psychic research that is
not done by a scientific body. The simple reason for that is
that the phenomena are sporadic; and, whether so or not, no
conclusion that permanently affects human conviction ever comes
from any but an organized source which may be as permanent
as a hospital, a college, or a church.

This whole subject has been exploited for centuries, by in-
dividuals and by groups of individuals, for personal purposes.
No scientific conclusion has ever been effected in that way.
There will be no permanent accomplishment for the world apart
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from a continuous scientific body of persons, such as you find in
the institutions named. And for this reason your Secretary
wishes to emphasize more and more the need of endowment
adequate to have a group of scientists who should do the work
in the same way that scientific work is done in the Rockefeller
and Carnegie Institutes.

)
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ILLUSIONS IN PSYCHICAL RESEARCH.
By James H. HysLop.

In discussing the problem of survival before public audiences
I find that there is a most important illusion that infects both
the layman and the scientific man. This illusion embodies itself
in more than one form. Sometimes it is a complaint that the
facts are so trivial and at others it is that we give no conception
of what the future life is. Or they may accuse us of not giving
them any new truth or any truths that have any value.

All of these demands or objections are based on lllusions
and no intelligent person would make them. It is all the more
surprising that the so-called scientific man should make them,
because we might suppose that he had an intelligent conception
of the problem. But the fact is that the average scientific
man is quite as ignorant as the layman of the problem, or if not
ignorant, he is guilty of equivocation and prevarication about it.
He may take his choice between these alternatives.

All the forms of this illusion have the same meaning. The
layman and the soi-disant scientific man, when he complains of
triviality, when he complains that we present no new or valuable
truth, or conception of the next life, is demanding that we tell
him the nature, place, form, mode, manner and conditions of life
in a transcendental world. The futility and irrationality of such
a demand, until its existence has been proved, ought to be an
axiom for every intelligent man. This can easily be shown.

What should we have thought of Queen Isabella if she had
refused to give Columbus ships to discover America until he had
shown her what the nature and contour of the western continent
were, or whether there was gold there. The existence of the
continent was the first condition of ascertaining its form and
nature. The first problem of Columbus was the existence of a
western world, not its nature.

What sort of sanity would there have been in demanding of
Sir William Ramsay that he tell you all about the nature and
classification of argon before he found that it existed. He had
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to weigh evidence for its existence before he could say anything
whatever about its nature. The two facts may be closely con-
nected, but the nature of the thing cannot be asked or asserted
until you have its existence guaranteed. Even then its nature
will depend as much upon your method of investigation or the
processes involved in the inquiry as upon anything else.

Would it have been rational to ask the astronomer to tell
you all about the planet Neptune before he had discovered it?
Could we refuse to believe in the existence of the planet until
its nature was known? Astronomers had to be certain that it
existed before they could even investigate its nature.

Could a naturalist tell you the nature of deep sea fish before
he had discovered specimens of them? After he had once found
instances of them and ascertained the cause of certain peculiar-
ities he might then say that future specimens would exhibit
the same characteristics. But he could not forecast their specific
features until he knew that they existed.

This is particularly true of the nature of a spiritual world.
In the physical world we may well say that any new territory or
thing will have certain general qualities, because they would
not be in the category of physical or verifiable things unless they
possessed these most general characteristics. But when it comes
to indicating the nature of the spiritual world, especially in terms
of verifiable or communicable ideas, we are in a worse situation
than physical science. We either cannot test them at all or we
must seek their analogies within the territory of mind, which
is the only standard of spirit that we possess.

Those who demand a definite idea of the other world, how-
ever they may protest against the accusation that they expect a
materialistic account of it, actually do expect this very thing.
They happen merely to have refined their materialism and called
it spiritual. They expect us to show something that will
appeal to their imagination or to their ideas of it. There is

absolutely no excuse whatever for this on the part of any intel-

ligent man. This can be stated very clearly. If the spiritual world
is like the present one, a world of spatial relations, colors and
other sensory equivalents, the most natural thing in the world
would be to see it or to have the appropriate perception of it.
But it is certainly not this in any ordinarily intelligible sense. It




Tlusions in Psychical Research. S

would be easily proved if it were. On the other hand, if it be
radically different from the world we know or can perceive and
conceive from sensory experience, it can not be rationally
described to us in the terms we expect or demand. Or to put
it briefly, if it be like the present world we can hardly believe
it and if it be radically different we can not prove it. Con-
sequently those who demand easy, clear information about it do
not know what they ask. Superficial interpretation of the ac-
counts is not to be tolerated. I mean by this that we cannot take
our ordinary sensory meaning in terms as properly expressive
of the facts. The process of communicating is most probably
a symbolic one, a pictographic process involving the interpreta-
tion by the subconsciousness of the medium of these symbolic
pictures which are not properly representative as in sense
perception supposedly construed, but merely indicative of some-
thing which may have remote analogies with our normal con-
ceptions and those remote analogies expressible in terms of
mental states and not in terms of physical things. The usual
habit is to take each statement on its superficial meaning as we
would when interpreting descriptions of the physical world. and
then take offense at anything that seems to contradict it or
that seems preposterous. The fact is that it may turn out that
the apparently or even really preposterous statements will be the
clue to the correct conception of the facts. The reason for
this cannot be gone into here. I can only remark boldly that
I do not flinch at the ribaldry and gibes of the Philistine at this
point. I accept his challenge and should push him to the wall
on the very things about which he seems most assured. But
we may as well recognize at once that we cannot assume the
same method of interpretation of messages about the nature of
the spiritual world as we do about descriptions of the physical
world unless we first prove that the method of communication
is the same as our sensory process, which we can rather safely
suppose it is not. The construction of our idea of the other
world can be accomplished only by finding a unity in apparent
contradictions, as thgre is now evidence enough that there is a
unity in records that seem superficially quite chaotic. Here will
lie the solution of the problem.
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THE PERVERSITY OF HUMAN NATURE.

One of the curious things which this work has to meet all
the time is the persistent perversity of human nature in its op-
position to a belief which is only a modification of the instinct
for self-preservation. It is true that the scientific spirit requires
men to be critical and cautious in all beliefs, but this spirit
does not require us to resort to all sorts of perverse ingenuity
to eradicate a belief which has so many excellent ethical implica-
tions, and, as well, is consonant with the very instinct on which
we rely for the protection of the highest aspirations.

There is nothing in normal life that is more insistent than
the desire to preserve healthy consciousness. We will sacrifice
food, money, time and even comfort to obtain it. We pay
enormous sums of money to the doctor to preserve it. No matter
how strong our passions for pleasure of any and all kinds, the
moment we discover that their indulgence shortens life we cut
off the indulgence, if we are ordinarily normal people, and adopt
a course of conduct that will prolong healthy life. But the
moment you start to suggest that possibly man can retain his
consciousness after death the whole intellectual world rises in
arms to contest it. It acts as if it were positively wicked to try
to prolong it or to hope that it will be continued. Every resource
of science is called to aid to contest a hope that is one of the
best which human nature ever felt. One of the striking things
in my experience as an investigator is the frequency with which
men and women remain indifferent to a future life until they
have lost a friend or companion and then become frantic with
interest, not to live themselves but to be sure that the friend or
companion lives. This is not selfish. It is the highest of al-
truistic instincts. But your scientist who has been raised to
security by his salary and respectability finds a fiendish and
malicious delight in laughing at these subjects of really ethical
passion. No doubt the poor victims should have had more in-
terest before sorrow elicited their interest and thus have
balanced life better. But that is a matter of nature’s evolution,
and it certainly does not become us to meet such tendencies with
a tactless assault on what has refined and developed the social
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instincts while it has protected the ideals of personality and
their relation to the meaning of the cosmos.

Lucretius, the ancient materialist, taught that the fear of
death was the greatest evil with which man had to contend.
St. Paul too recognized that it was morally and perhaps psycho-
logically the worst enemy we have to meet, and the long line of
phobias in abnormal psychology and insanity bear out that view
of it. But St. Paul and Lucretius had different remedies for it.
Lucretius thought that the belief in annihilation would eradicate
it, and certainly lacked sense of humor if he thought despair
was better than hope in relieving human nature of its maladies
or in creating a peaceful state of mind. St. Paul taught that
the hope of immortality would cure it, and he was certainly so
far right that psychologically the assurance of continuity breeds
the hope of betterment in grief and sorrow while it mitigates the
pains of suffering.

But your modern man, without starting with the same con-
fessions as Lucretius, offers the same remedy, or, if not openly
avowing annihilation, he takes every occasion to discourage hope
and wonders why human nature does not fall down and worship
his perspicacity and intelligence. If asked whether he is a
materialist or not, he will usually say he is not. But he will not
allow you to draw the evident inference that survival is possible.
He carefully and sedulously attacks all efforts to give material-
ism any meaning while he allows you to believe that he is ortho-
dox enough in as much as he denies what you deny, but he will
not affirm what you hope. If asked what he does believe he may
say idealism, the wonderful limbo in which all but clear ideas
dwell together in a higgledy-piggledy fashion. When pressed
to know if idealism supports survival he will hedge or admit
that it does not, but he does not wish, in most cases, to disturb
the illusions created by his denial of materialism and he remains
sublimely indifferent to any solution of the problem except the
one that enables him to preserve his game, salary, position and
respectability.

It is anything but alignment on the side of humanistic ideals.
If anything pleases the public it is a signal to let it alone or to
attack it. Every resource of ridicule or subterfuge is permissible
to avoid sympathy with the primitive ethical instincts. When
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called on to furnish a substitute for what they tear down, they
hedge and evade the issue or disguise the very thing which they
say they deny. They are not materialists, but they secretly har-
bor the materialist’s ideals, tho calling them by another name.
All the arts of subterfuge are employed to set up theories that
are absolutely wanting in ethical implications of any inspiring
or heroic character. Consciousness is a very good thing to live
for up to the brink of the grave, but it becomes absurd to hope
that it does not end there! The very ideal that gives life its
zest and vigor, namely: the prolongation and extension of the
meaning of personality, is discouraged and laughed at, if it tries
to extend its meaning beyond the grave. Self-preservation is
all very well, if only you limit it to the present life, but it is
ridiculous if you desire or hope to guard it for eternity. Ideals
are for the present and not for the future in such a system. But
it mistakes the constitution of human nature and it is successful
in maintaining its position by disguising the motives which deter-
mine its course. It exaggerates the importance of knowledge, or
distorts the knowledge that is really valuable and totally neglects
the ethical and emotional elements of human nature for whose
guidance intelligence exists. It despises emotion and forgets that
there lie the springs of morality and idealism, the only idealism
that is clear and important. Instead of directing these passions,
as Plato suggested was the function of reason in the myth of
the chariot and the two steeds, they seek to ignore or despise all
emotions that lead to moral heroism and cultivate those which
accompany the conquests of knowledge, the passive passions that
lead only to indolence and snobbery and to no heroic action. The
philosopher and scientific man must find the moral equivalent
of religion and urge it with all the fervor of a missionary, or
the world will go its way without him, seeking in the exaltation
of personality and its hopes the redemption it needs from the
besotted Laodiceanism of the sceptic or the libertinism of the
materialist.
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THREE EVIDENTIAL CHENOWETH SITTINGS.
By GERTRUDE OGDEN TUBBY.

In March, 1914, it was my good fortune to act as substitute
at one week’s Chenoweth séances in Boston, during Dr. Hyslop’s
convalescence from an illness. Miss Crawford took the steno-
graphic notes, as she had been doing for several weeks, and
merely told Mrs. Chenoweth that there would be a sitter present.
Dr. Hyslop authorized me to notify her to expect “ Miss
Charles” (my pseudonym chosen for the occasion), to meet
her at the proper hour and conduct her to Mrs. Chenoweth’s
home for the first sitting. It is therefore evident that Miss
Crawford knew nothing whatever of the sitter’s identity, and,
as usual, Mrs. Chenoweth was not notified as to the sex of the
sitter. On the second day, Miss Crawford said that she sus-
pected she herself knew who I must be, but she merely knew my
name as Dr. Hyslop's secretary through occasional business notes
or some passing reference by Dr. Hyslop. Of me personally, my
affairs, friends or family, she knew literally nothing. Hence
she could not be regarded as in any way of assistance in the
mental setting -of the work on these three days.

Mrs. Chenoweth’s personal knowledge of the sitter was very
limited, no facts of personal history ever having been mentioned -
to her, even any statement as to whether my parents were living
or not. Our first acquaintance dated from the year subsequent
to the last passing among my three communicators, and Starlight
had promised me some messages of my own, when I was taking
notes for the Society’s sittings in 1907, but no definite word was
spoken as to whom I might expect messages from, and I voiced
nothing beyond my thanks, at that time.

It is to be noted that my first communicator succeeded in
giving some of the very best evidence, and that she was not
even a relative, who by virtue of relationship might be expected
as a communicator.

My three main communicators gave each a characteristic
touch to his or her particular contribution.
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The first one, “ Mary B.” showed her lifetime warmth and
friendliness, her devotion to her husband and family, which
had been rare and beautiful, her interest in her children and the
home environment, her steadfastness in friendship, and her love
of music. Her philosophizing is characteristic too, tho more
conventionally phrased than I should have expected—which of
course may be due to subliminal coloring. Her virtual apology
for certain entirely natural reactions to her own life-experiences
is also characteristic, for she was quick to confess herself in
error in life, if she came to feel herself to be so. Her open-
mindedness and responsiveness were strong traits. .

Her expression here of thanks for help and her saying that
I am always to be linked in her thought “ with those who were ’
a part of her soul ” are given on her first opportunity, for at the
time of her passing she was unable to speak to me intimately.
Owing to certain important circumstances, she must have longed
to do so. Her being “ sorry so many, many times that she could
not tell ” her husband something would be entirely characteristic.
She would certainly long to do so if she felt she had misjudged
him in any way. Her devotion to her husband was surpassing.

The second day’s letter, that from my mother, showed equally
distinguishing characteristics. Her maternal desire “to help ”
was always unusually strong. She preferred helping others to
serving herself, too often to her own deprivation or depletion.
Doubtless it would be characteristic of many mothers to do as
she did in this letter; to seem to regard me as a child and yet to
express her appreciation of the seriousness of the work in which
I am engaged. Her open-mindedness in reference to this work,
her own growth in understanding of it, and appreciation of the
help it has given her are quite in keeping with her character
as I knew her. She had a curious way in her lifetime of making
practical adjustment in individual cases to circumstances and
acts which her established code of morality and religion were
flatly opposed to approving in theory.

Especially vital seems my mother’s humorous touch in the
remark about cats and pets. She always did put humor into her
reactions and experiences in this life, and this rather than a fond-
ness for ““ pets ”’ is the logical explanation of this remark in the
automatic writing. Indeed, as one of a large family of children
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and mother of another large family, she had rather less than the
average association with pet animals and was not especially fond
of having them about. The exceptions were rare. Therefore,
she would not especially have hoped to find “ pets” in a future
state, and her surprise is entirely expectable. In communications
received through another psychic, I often get these characteristic
touches of her humor, and this one serves to re-enforce those.

Her effort to give evidence would be natural on the assump-
tion that she knows the needs in this work and is anxious to
help in this as in all that ever concerned her children. Her own
scientific appreciation of the necessity would have been gained
subsequent to her passing, and would be secondary to the desire
to help, just as she herself states. Matters that concern my peace
of mind and heart would claim her attention first. She has al-
ways been a loving and demonstrative parent.

Her description of the ‘“home” which father says he had
all ready for her—and he had long preceded her in death, making
such an idea natural to one’s thinking—is of just such a home
as she, herself, made and loved, open, airy, sunny, with flowers in
the windows and out-of-doors. She repeatedly refers to this
through various psychics, who are strangers to her and to one
another.

Her reference to my responsibilities as daily increasing was
as predictive as it was pertinent at the time. Within two months
of the date of her letter through Mrs. Chenoweth, they doubled
and trebled and have never since been as light as they were
even when she wrote the message, tho five years have elapsed
since. The old home problem has in the meantime been happily
solved, making the life conditions better, thus fulfilling another
prediction.

My father’s communications bear the stamp of his character
very plainly. His attitude toward me, as still my proper pro-
tector and provider, is suitable to my age at his passing. I was
just past eighteen and still in school. His remarks upon the value
of money and of work and of this particular work are quite in
character. He was a Thirty-second Degree Mason, and a faith-
ful attendant upon the Friends’ Meeting in which he had been
brought up from childhood. Both of these associations must
have fitted him to understand readily the work of psychic re-
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search in some of its aspects. Moreover, he remarks, a fact
which is very interesting to me, that he has often tried and some-
times succeeded in communicating with me at other places. He
has been my most frequent communicator, and the most ready
one. I have had an extended experience, my mother being
second to him in frequency of communication. Of course I
cannot prove that he has not always succeeded in reaching me
when he has attempted it, but the correctness of the statement
that he has succeeded creates a presumption in favor of the cor-
rectness of the other statement.

The word I received from him on this occasion was much.
more complete and coherent and extended than any other that
I have had from him, and it was the only occasion on which I
had been the sole receiver and he the main communicator, and
the apparently direct expression in the automatic writing seemed
to me, as to him, more complete and like his own work. In
one of the other cases where he has often appeared, he has more
of the personal prepossessions of the medium to work through,
as she knew him well in life, and has known me well all my life,
and in a third one, he has never seemed to me to take personal
possession of the instrument but speaks through a guide.
Father’s reference to his having less fear than “ Mama ” about
the possibility of my losing my head over psychic investigation
seems to me fitting to his knowledge and temperament as com-
pared with Mother’s. Her family history was not so closely
related to opportunities for observing the influence of “the
spirit "’ as his. Moreover, I had taken a larger interest in psychic
matters for a longer period in her lifetime, for my father
passed out of this life just as my interest was beginning to be
manifest and it became much stronger and more intelligent he-
fore my mother’s passing, so that she had opportunity to be
anxious over it, tho I am pot aware that she was so in her
lifetime.

In this connection, a curious coincidence may be of interest:
my early training was all in my mother’s church, but my inclina-
tion was not harmonious with its teachings. After my father’s
death I joined an Evangelical body, neither my mother’s nor my
father’s but between them in type, verging more toward mother’s
than father’s. After some years of membership therein, in which
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my interest in psychic'and spiritual and metaphysical problems
grew apace, I found myself increasingly out of place and took
my membership to another church. About a year later I dis-
covered to my astonishment that this new alignment conformed
precisely to my father’s religious beliefs, of which I had known
but little in his lifetime owing to his reticence in speaking of them.

Apparently his love for music, strong in life, has grown in
the new life. It was startling to have him refer to my arrange-
ments to go on with my music before anyone except the in-
structor knew that I had actually set the date when I should
again begin to study, tho I had been agitating the idea for a short
time previous. Music has always been to my life so vital that
it is pertinent for him to endorse my decision.

It is noteworthy that my parents seem to testify through
Mrs. Chenoweth that through her work for me they are becom-
ing acquainted with my friends and associates made since their
passing, including those whom I know only as among our reg-
ular communicators in the Society’s work, even as my parents
must know Dr. Hyslop and Mrs. Chenoweth, whom they never
met in the physical life.

It is remarkable that this whole group of sittings offers
but one apparently random shot. I can recognize and verify
every detail of both matter and manner, except the references
to the young man named Albert or Alfred. This is an amazingly
low percentage of ‘ misses” to “hits”, and the excellence of
the work makes the series unique in my experience, for any three
séances I can recall having witnessed for one sitter. I have
felt compelled to accept my three communicators as present and
communicating. The efforts of the Group, including R. H. and
G. P, to keep the field clear and free for my people were crowned
with a degree of success which must have been as gratifying to
them as to me, on this my first opportunity to receive any of the
Chenoweth automatically written communications.

Mrs. C. Miss Charles. Monday, March 23, 1914, 9 A. M.

[The sitter and stenographer went to Mrs. Chenoweth’s house
from Boston; on arrival at the house the sitter spoke to Mabel
[the housekeeper] in whispers when she came to the door. Sten-
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ographer went up to the séance room first and when ready stepped
to the stairs to call the sitter, saying only: “ You may come up
now.”]

[Subliminal.]

[Sitter admitted and pause.]
Oh, it is beautiful.
(The stenographer: Yes; what is it that is beautiful ?)
The air.
(Is there snow on the ground?) [as with us.]
I don’t see any ground. No, there isn’t; now I see it. Oh, no,

not where I am, 4

(Where are you; can you tell?)
Yes, above the world, outside the earth. But the people are here.

[Hand reached for pencil.]
[Automatic writing.]

Mary B [pseudonym] [pause] [P. F. R. Breathed heavily.]

Mary B [Heavily and larger] [P. F. R.; breathed heavily.] [1]

I am at your si [P. F. R. Sighed.] my love to my little friend
and I have so much to tell you of my conscious life since that
dreadful experience [2] I did not do it [3]

(The sitter: I see)

with [pause] knowledge dear [4]

1. “Mary B.” [pseudonym] the name as usually signed in her letters,
in life, by sitter’s intimate friend, distinguishing her from a member of
her family who was known by the name of “ Mary E.” [pseudonym].

2. Her sudden tragic death, eight years before, in the summer, no snow,
but fine air, of course, as it occurred in mountainous country. The heavy
breathing reminiscent of this.

3. The cause of the death open to question. In 1910 or 1911, while
sitter was abroad, Mary B. had sent the remark to sitter by a psychic in
America: “Tell Gertrude I did it.” Sitter had had, in London, her first
psychic message from Mary B, through a personal friend of sitter in
London, who “couldn’t make head or tail” of the conversation, tho sitter
understood it. Sitter had then wished she might learn the cause of the
death. Dates were not noted and cannot be compared. Experience in London
was between March 1 and May 1, 1911,

4. Apparent effort, having cleared others of responsibility, to clear her-
self also. Especially pertinent owing to earlier thoughts of suicide confessed
months before her death, with the voluntary pledge “I will not do that again.
It's weak.”

T a. M

L S
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(Yes.)

I am not trying to make heartache for you. [5] The past is past
and the [moaned] present with all the glorious opportunities for
expression and work is still ours. I remember those evenings out of
doors with stars overhead and sweet joyous converse between us [6]
[Indian] the baby the baby [P. F. R.; Indian]

(Yes.)

That was the hardest of all [7] no philosophy could give answer
to us us but even that looks [N. R.] looks more reasonable now
when I ask myself how God could be blamed for my careless act [8]
[P. F. R.] Oh do not think that I am suffering as much as it seems
for [moaned] I am quite free and most [moaned] desirous of
sending to him my messages of constant affection and [moaned]
appreciation of his brave life.

(Life?) .

Life. [Period inserted.] You two stood side by side in that
awful hour [9] and I am happy indeed to come to bring this
assurance of my [moaned] living and enduring consciousness my
husband [P. F. R.] [Indian; P. F. R.] Ge Ge '

(Sitter whispers: All right.)

G E I thank you [10]

(A thousand thanks, Mary.)

5. Mary's death had caused heavy heartache for sitter.

6. Two or three weeks before her death, sitter had passed one or two
clear, starry evenings with Mary B. in intimate converse, but not all sweet
and joyous. Earlier evenings had been so, however, tho scattered through
years and not thought of in this way by sitter. But this sort of experience
had been Mary B’s many such evenings in her summer home with her husband,
notably just before her passing.

7. One of her last requests was to have her baby brought in for her
to see. There was a tremendous deal that was “hard ” about her passing.

8. Baby was but fourteen months old at his mother’s death, her death
being due to her “careless act”, according to her statement here and
according to family statements made at the time.

9. Sitter had stood side by side with Mary’s husband both before and
at and after her death, both personally and professionally,. He had shown
himself brave in the calamity. “ Ge"” first letters of sitter’s first name.

10. G. first letter of sitter’s first name, E. first letter of M’s husband’s
first name,
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for all the help [moaned] you are and have been [moaned] and
will be Your si sister sister [moaned] and friend and helper
(Yes, thank you, Mary.)
everywhere and always [11] God is good after all
(Yes.)
as we always learn when we get the full light
(Yes.) :
It is the half light which hides [marks on paper; N. R.] h-hides
his face [12] I still love my family [13] my E E Ed Edgar
[pseudonym]
(Yes.) '
my brave [N. R.] brave Edgar you and I know how brave he is
[14] I would like to sing to him and
(Good!)
give him the pleasure of knowing that the gift he loved is not lost
(Good!)
but grows in strength as I grow [15] Do you recall a little white
shawl shoulder wrap I used to have to throw about me when sitting
out in the big chair out of doors [16]
(I think so.)
and do you recall those glorious days when the sky was like [pause]
crystal after the city smoke and June [N. R.]

11. A form of subscription characteristic of Mary B.

12. Pertinent remarks owing to certain difficulties encountered before
and at the time of her death which strained faith severely, both hers and
sitter’s.

13. The mother of four children and step-mother of two. “Edgar”
correct [pseudonym], name of her husband.

14, True.

15. Mary's unusually fine singing voice had been a source of pride and
enjoyment to her husband, who had encouraged its use and development,
in every way. Their last evening together, before M. B’s illness, had been
spent by her in singing his favorite songs. She was a professional.

16. This shawl figured for several years in the family history, for the
babies and their mother, a knitted woolen shawl, which she doubtless used
on the porch where there were “big” chairs. This shawl must have been
used in the summer home as well, tho my association there occurred only
after iliness set in, and I cannot personally aver this fact.
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(Yes.)
among the hills [17] June wild roses ‘[18] and

(Yes.)
[pause] the brook the river I think they cal[l]ed it the river [19]
and the walk [N. R.] to [N. R.] the walk to Post Office

(Yes, indeed.)
all so charming and I loved it as you did [20] We will have more
of that sweet life some day when lifes busy season is o’er [apos-
trophe inserted] 1

(Good!)
wish I could tell you what this opportunity is to me It will make
me strong [N. R.] to do some strong of the many things I want to
[Indian] do for you all You will always be linked in my thought
with those who were a part of my soul [21] I have been sorry so
many many times [moaned] that I could not tell him that I [N. R.]
that I know he had to follow the gleam you know quite well what I
mean [22]

(Yes.)
His soul writhed under the bondage of ‘university rules and some-

17. “June among the hills ”, and “sky like crystal after the city smoke"”
are clear references to the last scenes of her life, which occurred in a
summer home “among the hills ”, in June, where “ the skv was like crystal.”
Her winter home, which she had left the last of May or first of June, was
within twelve miles of the “city smoke” of New York.

18. Wild roses were abundant at the time of her death. A bowl of
them had been placed on E’s desk by her hand the last day of her active
life, and were not thrown out. They remain there, dried, to the present
time, 1918.

19. Correct. Small river in the summer village home.

20. A daily occurrence, and a pleasant walk of a mile or two, But I
did not love it, tho her family probably did. My association with the en-
vironment was too sad, from the beginning.

21. Sitter was a very close and intimate friend in daily life of com-
municator, and was able to serve her and her family in personal ways, both
before and after communicator’s death.

22, “Follow the gleam ”, peculiarly pertinent reference to persomal quali-
ties and actions of E. who had broken away from university associations
early in life to enter upon an individual and brilliant career. No apparent
hesitancy of Mary to accede to this, tho other individual tendencies caused
disagreement at times. The quotation of this phrase of Tennyson is most
evidential, as it was a favorite with E. and often used by him publicly.
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times I am afraid I may have suggested the inadvisability of break-
ing with the University but he knew best. His life is a life of
supreme individuality and brooks no bigotry [23] I love it all
now more than ever [24] Mary B. [Large and heavy signature.]

(Yes, thank you, Mary.)

[Pause.] [Change of control.]

Tell her to keep her identity to herself for a little longer [N. R.]
a little longer R. H. little longer.

(I will.) [Sitter left.] [25]

[Subliminal.]

Didn’t I come back quick?
(Yes.)

Not quite back?

(Not quite; pretty near.)

Yes. Did you get anything?
(Yes; oh, yes.)

I am glad, aren’t you?

[Pause.]

Any good?

(I think so; I think it is all right. Don’t worry about that.)
[Pause and Mrs. C. awakened.]

Mrs. C. Miss Charles. Tuesday, March 24, 1914. 9 A. M.
[Subliminal.]
[Sitter admitted ; pause.]
[Hand reached for pencil and Automatic Writing began.]

23. Perfectly correct description.

24. Probably an attempt to express approval now of what had been
disapproved in life, as well as the natural expression of interest from an
unusually devoted wife who had indeed loved her husband’s work and life
and been a helpmeet.

25. Sitter, who knew Mrs. Chenoweth, had intended to remain in room
until she awakened, and surprise her, as she had not been informed in advance
of the identity of sitter, who was brought under an assumed name, unknown
even by the stenographer. Only the housekeeper, who admitted the sitter
and stenographer, knew the identity, and knew that Miss Charles intended
to remain until Mrs. Chenoweth woke. It is not customary for strangers
to do so and Mrs. Chenoweth ordinarily does not meet the sitters at the
Society’s sittings.
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.

Mother Mother

(Yes, Mother.)

I am glad it is true [N. R.] true true that I can [N. R.] true
can see you all and can help your father [26a] [moaned] is with
us you are a good little girl [26b] I follow your thought more
readily [from here on, less difficulty in writing] now than at first
It was all new to me but I am glad for all I did grasp while living
[more rapid and easier writing] [Indian] [27] someone is helping
me I think for I feel [Indian] freer and clearer Isnt it wonderful
to be here

(Yes.)
after the changes and the plans of living [N. R.] living transferred
I am so glad to tell you dear that we are all together and the home
is just what you would like all open [N. R.] and [N. R.] open and
airy and so much sun shine and flowers and yes and pets [N. R.]
pets that is what surprises me for I did not think that cats could
be here as they are [28] I know dear it is hard for you to have the
old life broken but it is only a step toward another one Do not
feel lonely and do not try to do everything for all the rest you
have always taken responsibility for all of us and I feel that you

26a. Mother died nine years after father. Her gladness to “help” is
very characteristic. Evidently is now meeting the guides and helpers on the
other side.

26b. A very familiar phrase from my mother, always: “ Be a good little
girl.” So much so that it was a part of my childhood prayer that God
would make me a good little girl, and it still falls unexpectedly into the
midst of my petitions, in my mature womanhood.

27. Mother had known little or nothing of psychic communication with
the discarnate in her lifetime, but she had learned a little concerning
healing and had herself had the aid of a healer who eased her pain noticeably
in her last year, when she suffered greatly.

28. The description of the home is of just such a home as mother loved
to make for us—open, airy, sunny, and with flowers and pets. The “sur-
prise ” at cats is good, as mother was never fond of cats in general, but we
had four in my lifetime, a mother and daughter cat in my childhood, and
again in my young womanhood, all four having been especially bright and
cunning, and mother had been very fond of them. “ The old life,” of which
these things were a part, has been “broken” for years, by the passing of
one after another of the family.
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have earned a respite you know what I mean [29a] I have so much
to say I do not know what to say ‘first but if you can realize that I
am as much in your life as I can be and not bother you with the
new responsibilities which daily increase [29b] He [N. R.] will
[N. R.] He will not come here yet

(All right.)
It is not as bad as that and for the present you must stand steady
and help the rest you realize what it means to have the family
worry for you have been in that place

(True.)
before and it takes all your optimism to overcome the natural ten-
dencies [Indian] of those who fear for his future [30] I want
to give you some of those evidential things which are so satisfying
but my heart is so full of the real matters that are vital to your
peace that I find myself writing about them It is not your fate
[N. R.] dear fate to be always on the verge of a happy and steady
life and yet just escape it for by and bye a turn will come [31]
Aunt [N. R.] Aunt E

(Aunt E, yes.)

Aunt E is with me too [32]

29a. I have always, from girlhood, had a good share of responsibility in
times of illness and financial stress, but the remark would be even more
pertinent to my sister.

29b. A correct reference to my situation, which was unknown to stenog-
rapher. My position, as J. H. H.'s secretary, known to the psychic in her
normal state, was doubtless also subliminally known. But the subliminal had
not yet manifestly recognized my presence.
, 30. Evidently a reference to the state of health of Dr. Hyslop, at the
time on an enforced vacation of several months, for much needed rest, during
which time I was carrying as much as possible of his work. His family
and friends were anxious over his health. I am optimistic and have had
plenty of opportunity to display that characteristic in our own numerous
family worries and illnesses, in many years, cultivating even in childhood
a persistent optimism, often very earnestly assuring mother “ When I grow
up I’m not going to worry. That’s one sure thing!” And I don't.

31. A better reference to my life than anyone knows, Mother herself,
when living, would not have been in a position to make so accurate a reference.

32. Aunt E. could refer to either of two of my deceased Aunts. See
later reference, as to which is meant. One was Mother's own sister, the
other not related except through marriage into Father’s family.
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(All right; good!)

We often wish you could see us when you want to and when you
are in need of advice There are two Marys who come [33]

(Good!)
to you and each one has some great interest in life near you
[Indian]

(Good!) [34]

Sar

(Yes.)

ah

(Good!)

you know [35]

(I know. Thank you.)

I must not go until I tell you something which [pause]

(Please tell.)

is on my mind G dear [36]

(Good!)

[Indian] you are worried some

(Yes.)

The old home

(Yes.)

is a question of concern

(Yes.)

To keep or to let [P. F. R.] The house and furniture [37]
The house

(Yes.)
I lived in

33. “Two Mary's” refer to the two who actually communicated, Mary
B. and Mary H.

34, Perfectly correct, though Mary H. was not known to me in this life,
and the point of connecting interest is identical in the two cases.

35. “Sarah” my mother’s mother, and mother of one “Aunt E.”, to
whom reference is made in notes 32 and 42,

36. “G.” my correct first initial, not known to stenographer. Mother
often abbreviated proper names thus in letters.

37. Perfectly correct. So few left in the family, the expense seemed
disproportionate to the necessity. The reference to “furniture” separately
is good, as it is, in the main, not the furniture mother used. We thought
of renting furnished and of selling unfurnished as possibilities for next year.
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(Yes, right.)
and loved [38] I am glad you do not try to do it now

(Are you?)
Yes for it was hard you know [39] [N. R.] know some day it will
be better [P. F. R.]

(What—the house?) [40]

the life [41]

(Good!)

Am I writing so you can understand

(Yes, indeed, very well, Mother; may I ask a question ?)

Yes

(Which Aunt E did you mean is with you?)

Aunt Elis

(Yes.)

ab ,

(Yes; take it easy.)

[P. F. R.] who lived there so long

(Yes.) [42]

Mother is [moaned] also with me my mother

(Good!)
and she looks on at this work with a question as to how Christian
it is

38. Correct. The last home, owned, gift of a beloved child, after years
of moving and trouble. .

39. Correct. I am not living in it now, my work being too remote, but
I am surprised that she is “glad”, tho it would be too hard to stay there
under the circumstances.

40. Asked, to see if reference would be made to our recenly frustrated
plan to improve the house.

41, At present, very little of my life can be spent in the home. It is
necessary for me to live much of the time alone.

42. Aunt “Elisab” known by a pet name and not by her full name, had
lived in the home [Note 38] for the last ten years of her life and the
last two years of mother’s life, and had died only nine and a half months
previous to this communication. I had been very fond of her full name,
and used to tell her I marvelled at her not using it. Even in business matters
she did not use it, preferring her nickname. Scarcely anyone knows her
proper name, even among her close friends. Mrs. Chenoweth could not
possibly know it. I have received * Elizabeth” through Mrs. Salter several
times. Up to May 23, 1919, the nickname had never come through, but did
come that day through Mrs. Salter.
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(I suppose so.)
but she says she is fast losing her predjudices [sic]

(Good! I thought I saw evidence of her presence before.) [43]
yes and do you know M [pause] ari

(Yes.)

an [moaned]

Mari Marian [44]

(Yes, I know Marian.)
and L, [moaned; Indian] L [45]

(L; that is right. Take it easy.)

I Iove to be here writing [46] [read “ today " and not corrected]

(Good! 1 love to have you.)

Papa says tell little girl that he has had to do most of his care
taking from this side but he has helped in some of the studies and
that his love is a power '

(Yes, I am sure.)
for good to you [47] who says you ought to be married and have a
home of your own Aunt Aunt does [N. R.] Auntie does [48]
[pause] Grandfather T [N. R.]

(S, L, or T?) [Pause.] (Print it, Mother.) T [promptly
{3 pl’inted ’,]

43. “Sarah”, my grandmother [Note 35], an orthodox religious woman,
wife of a Baptist minister, very liable to hold such prejudices as are here
indicated. I never knew her, so can only conjecture. She died before I
was born. The “my mother” was written after I had framed the mental
inquiry, * which mother?” as mother had called her mother-in-law “ Mother”
in life, and had called her own mother by another name.

44, “Marian”, then ill and in hospital, and later coming during con-
valescence to the home above referred to. Mother’s grandchild.

45, “L”, the initial of Aunt Elizabeth’s nickname and the first syllable
of my sister’'s name, in sound.

46. This aside seemed to have the effect of relieving the tension due to
getting so many names and initials through.

47. My father, whom I usually called “ Papa”, died while I was a high
school student. Was always much interested in my progress in school.
His characteristics seem more evident than my mother’s in me, and more
evident in me than in his other children, as far as I know and can judge.
At the time of the sitting, he had been “ dead ” half of my lifetime.

48. Very apt. “Aunties do” would have made the statement even
better. This was a most familiar phrase on their lips during my girlhood
and young womanhood when they were much in our home.
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(T; good, I recognize him.)
very set very proud [read “kind ”]

(Good!) '

proud [49]

(Good. What was it on the last page—have a home of your
« own?)

Aunty says

(Yes, all right.)

[Indian.] [Pencil fell.]

[ Subliminal.]

I can’t breathe. Take Dr. Hyslop away from here.

(The stenographer: what is he doing?)

Oh, I see him everywhere. [50]

(The stepographer: isn’t he all right?)

He has not gone, has he?

(The sitter: No.)

Why do I see him everywhere? He will come back again.
(Stenographer: Yes.)

He is a good man.

(Stenographer: Yes.)

They won’t let him come over to this side yet.
(Stenographer: No; he has got some work to do here, I suppose.)
Yes, and he wants to do it too.

[Sitter leaves room.]
He is having a great time.

49. Father's father: an excellent description in my mother’s own life-
time terminology and in a terse way characteristic of her. I never knew
him, hence the excellence of her choice of description. Had she described
his coloring, appearance, and the like, I should have been at some difficulty
to verify. “Set” was a favorite term of hers to denote strong will or
obstinacy. I have often heard her give such a description of Grandfather
T. Her quandary and surprise at my not recognizing my own grandfather’s
initial were oddly reflected in the pencil which paused undecidedly in the air
over the paper as tho the writer could not think what to say in reply to
my question and the stenographer’s, “S, L, or T?” But the promptitude
with which the “T” was printed at my suggestion to print the reply was as
curious and amazing as the puzzled expression in the hand and pencil had
been just previously.
50. Pertinent. Sitter was Dr. Hyslop’s private secretary.
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(Is he; what is he doing?)

Walking an awful lot. Every time I see him I see him walking,
walking, walking. 4

(That will do him good, won’t it?)

Yes, if he walks out doors. It will not if he walks in the house.

(Isn’t he out doors?)

He seems to be. Good bye. [51]

(Good bye.)

Shall T come again tomorrow ?

(Yes, I hope so.)

You know I see a bunch of something all done up in white
paper; lot of something folded up that seems to belong to someone
who is over in spirit land that was all soft white tissue paper and
it looks like something that was—they planned to put it on a dead
person and then didn’t do it, you know, put it away for some reason;
it was not used, but it is all—it is there just the same only it was
not used. I don’t know what it is, but it seems something either
for the neck—I think it is for a woman, you know, because it
seems to be something that was planned to put around them and
they used something they had instead, because it seemed more like
that, and there it is, nobody can quite bear to use it. You find out
won’t you, about it?

(Yes; you don’t know whom it is for?)

I suppose it comes for the sitter.

(I will ask her.)’ [52]

All right. Good bye.

(Good bye.)

She has gone?

(You mean the sitter?)

Yes, she has gone, hasn’t she?

(She has gone out of the room.)

Yes. .

[Pause and Mrs. C. awakened.]

51. Dr. Hyslop was in the country to rest, and did a good bit of walking
out-doors as described, at this time.

52. This refers to preparations for the burial of Mary B, the com-
municator yesterday, for whom a shroud was ordered in case it should be
needed, but “they used something they had instead.”
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Mrs. C. Miss Charles. Wednesday, March 25, 1914. 9 A. M,,
[Subliminal.]
[Sitter admitted.]

Isn’t it lovely?

(Yes; what is it that is lovely?)

The country, the scenery. [53a] Aren’t we moving fast?

(Are you?)

Yes, swiftly, swiftly; if I could anly stop I could tell you what
I see. ‘

(I suppose you have to go right on, don’t you?)

I suppose I am started towards some place. [Pause.] There
is a young man here,

(Stenographer: Yes?)

I don’t know who he is. He is entirely new to me—fair, blue
eyes, brown hair. [Moaned.] Oh, such distress he was in when
he died [Moaned]. [Pause.] I think his name begins with A—
sounds like Albert, Alfred, more like Albert than Alfred,—Albert.
[33b] You know anyone named Winifred?

(The sitter: Yes, I do.)

What is the matter with her—anything?

(Not that I know of ; do you know?)

She seems a little nervous to me.

(Can we help her?)

Yes. Nobody seems to understand her véry well, do they?

(Well, I don’t know.)

She has got so much in her head. [54] She is all right, but
somebody in the spirit draws us near to her to—why, I know who
that is.

(Who?)

'Em! [M]

53a. The reference to country, and to scenery at the opening of my
father’s sitting is very apt, as he was especially fond of “country” and
“scenery”, being an artist.

53b. Not recognized. Possibly refers to the “ Winifred” family, but
they are unable to verify it.
. 54. Winifred H,, living and closely associated with me. A member of
the same household part of the year. Seems well and happy. On my
inquiry, replies that this does not seem to apply to her.
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CEm!—who?)
Oh, you know who it is all right. [55]
(Well, I know two Winifreds, and if you tell me it would help.)

[Pause and hand reached for pencil.]
- [Automatic writing.]

R H. We do not want the light to see too clearly the surround-
ings from which you came The subliminal we mean but it was
the wife of H '

(Good!)
whom she came in contact with just [N. R.] then just We know
you and are happy to give assurance of our interest in your own
friends and also choose take this time to thank you for interest
and faithful service to one who is so important to our work I think
you understand R. H. [56]

(I do, indeed. Thank you.)

[Pause; Indian.]

[Change in control.]

My little grown up girl [57]
(Yes.)
I am here trying to connect the lines broken so long ago but kept
(But kept—)
fresh by my desire to help all the dear ones [Indian] I needed to
stay [58] but as it was [N. R.] it was best at last I could not stay
little girl I have tried to help you and I am still trying [59] It is
[pause] Gods work on this side of life just as it is on your side
(Yes.)

§5. “M. H.”—one of the “Marys” referred to in yesterday’s séance.
The mother of Winifred H. Psychic knows my connection with this family
in a business relation. My home is at present also in her home.

§6. My capacity as private secretary to J. H. H. rendered this reference
to service pertinent.

57. 1 took this to be my father owing to the phrase, “my little grown up
girl.” My father died just after I was eighteen, and I still seemed a “little
girl” to him, tho I have since “grown up.” I was no longer a little girl
at my mother’s passing.

58. He “needed to stay” as there was no breadwinner left, and no
estate at the time of his death, after many years of hardship.

59. He has communicated with me before, a number of times, but more
briefly, and less characteristically.
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I like to think that you are a part of a movement which brings
light to the world I am not as fearful about your losing your head
over it as Mama was but perhaps that is because I know more of it
from this side [60]
(Good!)

I was not [N. R.] not sorry to see some plans for money making
fall through for although it was a disappointment it gave you back
the better work [61] Money is not all there is in life dear and
while it is important in a measure it must always take second place
when once the real life is revealed It is so wonderful to be here
writing to you after all this time and to be telling you just the
things I wish most to have you know I had a home all ready for
Mama and she rested at once and it was so natural that she did not
mind the change at all [62] I want to see you go on with your
music yes dear I love that you know and yet perhaps you do not
know that I am so interested in it but I tell you about it that you
may know that nothing passes unheeded over here [63a]

60. I was not connected with the psychic research movement until after
the death of both mother and father, but I read upon the subject during
mother’s latter years. Father knows more of it from the other side of life
for two reasons: He died nine years before mother; and he has communicated
oftener than she through some psychic relatives. In one case he appears
to be one of the guides. He always spoke of my mother to me as “ Mama”
or “your mother.”

61. “Plans for money-making” probably refers to three years of com-
mercial and professional work which had intervened between my earlier
work for the A, S. P. R. and my present work for it. But the point of view
as to money is not new to me, having been my own always. He evidently
had not fully understood the motives of the other work. But the reference
to its failure to yield money is correct, and to the fact that from it I re-
turned to this work.

62, “Mama"” is the name by which we all called our mother in childhood.
I was adopting “mother” at the time of my father’'s death. As he died
nine years earlier, it would be natural that he should have “a home” all
ready for her. She was tired and needed to “rest at once” on passing over.
1 had feared she was frightened in dying, hence this expression—* so natural
she did not mind the change at all” was really an answer to a long unspoken
question of my own.

63a. On the Sunday three days previous to this sitting, and on my way
to Mrs. C's home city, I had stopped to arrange definitely for my first
instrumental music lesson since before my father’s death—in fact, since
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(Good!)
It is good to have you here I have often been to other places trying
to get some word to you and now and then succeeding

(Yes.)
and yet this seems more complete and like my own work to me [59]
I have been interested to hear about some of the people [moaned]

(Take it easy.)
who have been described as being about you and many of them
have been and are at times in your atmosphere

(Yes.) '
for one reason or another [63b] Sometimes I feel like calling
you [N. R.] calling you my little Indian maid

(Do you?)
You like out of doors so well and like a young Indian want freedom
of limb and no cover for head or hand. Yes climbing the hills and
lying on the ground listening to the insects in the grass and watch-
ing the clouds and even loving the even loving the rain on your face
It feel[s] good and you laugh like a veritable [N. R.] gypsy
veritable I know [64] I have been there and I know how hard it
is sometimes to go into the house to the old machine [N. R.]
machine and work away till your head is weary and your eyes ache
yes dear we understand [N. R.] understand [65] and we have plans

eighteen years ago. The new lesson plan was known only to two members
of my household and to my teacher, at this time, and they were nearly 200
miles away. My father was very fond of certain kinds of music in his
lifetime. In his youth he had taken violin lessons for a short time, to my
knowledge, and had bought a violin for us children when I was under ten
years old.

63b. Other communicators and all those referred to at this series of
sittings were all strangers to father in his earth life, with the exception of
mother and the relatives.

64. References to my fondness for freedom and outdoors and my way of
enjoying it are entirely correct, propensities developed largely since his
death and not often shared by him with me in his lifetime. Mrs. C. knows
nothing whatever of all this—knows me in my work, not in my play. His
own distaste for mechanical work and confinement make it all the more
natural that he should express this sympathy. I always think of him when
I am enjoying a sunset or a fine tree or view or bit of scenery and often
speak of how much he would enjoy it.

65. Reference to my work correct, but not evidential, as Mrs. C. knows
I work at a “machine” and could imagine the reluctance and fatigue. I
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for a different life by and by when you shall see more of the great
big world in which you live [66]

(I am glad to do my work.)

It is the finest thing in the world to work and

(Yes.)
I would have no part in giving you the idle life

(No, oh, no.)
that leads to decay of [N. R.] decay of all that is of any value. [67]

I had thought to give some thing of the past that might be
knock down evidential value but I find the thing that is nearest
to my heart is just what I have written after all. I did want
[N. R.] want to write about the little cemetery where our bodies
are '

(Yes.) .
The sweetest place in the world for such a service to the worn out
body [68] I know you wish for something more [moaned] some-
time to be done there You have your own ideas about it but we
are quite content dear

(All right.)
You know to what I refer

(Not exactly.)

The fixing [N. R.] up fix [x crossed] of the lot

(Yes.)

dislike it—a fact she does not know. I had done no machine-work, however,
in my father’s lifetime, nor until six years after his death. At the time of
this sitting, and for five years previous, I had been working in the country
on my own typing machine “in the house”, not an office, much of the time
with frequent tramps to the woods. )

66. An interesting point throughout is my father’s addressing me as
tho I were still a little girl, in all his more personal remarks, as I was his
youngest child, and still a young girl at the time of his death, and often feel
an unspoken need of the “fathering” no one living can give me.

67. Reference to work and its value entirely characteristic of my father
and his own activity in his lifetime. It is noteworthy that he changes manner
of speaking as soon as work is mentioned, dropping the “little gitl” tone,
and referring immediately to my present work, in this connection, also. Of
course, Mrs. C. knows that my work is in the field of psychic research, so
the point is non-evidential.

68. Evidential. Not known to Mrs. C. that my father was buried in a
cemetery he loved well in life, as a beauty-spot often visited. It is a small
and unusually pretty spot.
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not especial monuments but
(Yes.) .
a walk [N. R.] walk walk and beds no—bushes something your
mother liked
(What was it that mother liked?) o
small flower
(Yes.)
lily of valley
(Yes.)
—you know
(Yes, I know.) [69]
We are not there
(No.)
but with [N. R.] the children with and the [Indian] babies! Old
grandpeople now grand parents Grandpa and Grandma now
(Yes.) :
[Indian] F F r

69. Not until more than four years after this sitting did I learn that my
sister remembers that some lilies of the valley, which mother loved, were once
planted in our burial plot but did not thrive well. As I had nothing to do
with the planting, I had forgotten it. Also, I discovered, at the same time
that my brother had for some time past (how long is uncertain) made ar-
rangements with the caretakers at the cemetery to keep the plot in good
order for an annual fee. This would naturally include the trimming of
paths and shrubbery and cutting of grass. No attempt has been made at
anything in the way of monuments, merely the “fixing up of the lot”—and
this by my brother who had done it entirely independently and who knows
no more of these communications than any total stranger to me does. My
brother may have mentioned his arrangements about the plot at some time,
but I have not the slightest recollection of the fact and had not at the time
of this sitting. He and I were together in the cemetery nine and a half
months prior to the sitting and it is possible he referred to the matter then,
to me or to others.

I have had no plans in mind for the plot in the cemetery, tho I
should be more interested in the planting than in monuments of any kind.
It is true that my mother liked lilies-of-the-valley. She had large beds of
them in her garden. On January 18, 1920, on reading final proof of this
record to my sister, I learn that “bushes something your mother liked” is
most pertinent, mother having tried twice after father's death to get some
hardy bushes to grow in the cemetery plot, as the family decreased in numbers
and permanent planting became more desirable. I either did not know or
had entirely forgotten this up to this moment, and did not recognize its
meaning at the time of the sitting.
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(Yes.)

Fre no

(All right.)

Fr

(Go ahead, that is all right.)
e

(No.)

Fra

(Yes.)

nk

(Good, good!)

Frank [Indian)

(Yes, I recognize.) [70]
Ger Gertie

(Yes, all right, good.)
You know Ger

(Yes.)

70. The name Frank is that of a brother of mine whom I never saw, as
he died a very young baby, years before my birth. I was the next child and
also the last. In recognizing this name as it came, bit by bit, I was actuated
by the following considerations:

The spontaneous “Fr” after mentioning “old grand-people now” was
a surprise, as Frank was an own child; and at the same time was good
because he was a child of my parents’ older years, the first to die, and so very
young. Also, it interested me because in a sitting given my sister last year in
another city, and by a psychic to whom both my sister and all our family and
Mrs. Chenoweth are strangers, my brother Frank had been the very first one
of our family described by that psychic, and there it had been a thorough
surprise as he was not in mind at all. This appears to be a possible attempt
at cross-reference, he being the first of our family mentioned by my father
here, except mother. The spontaneous correction of “no” after the “e” was
written, followed by an automatic reproduction of the same error. led me to
second my father’s “no” sooner than J. H. H. would have done had he
been present. It, however, appeared to me that it was as scientific to recognize
the correctness of the correction as to recognize any other correct in-
formation. The psychic was in rapport with us both, assuming my father to
be present, and paused after the second “e” as tho waiting for confirmation
or denial. The “nk” followed promptly and without difficulty. The reader
will bear in mind that “ncis” or “nces” or “nce” or “mingham” or any
number of other terminations might just as easily have been given on any
theory of guess-work or chance.




Three Evidential Chenoweth Sittings. 33

tie [71]

(Yes; yes. What is another name for Gertie?)
Yes I know. G. [Scrawls, effort.] [72]
(Your name for Gertie. Take it easy.)
My pet name [Indian]

(Yes.)

you mean

(Yes.)

[Pause ; made marks on paper; moaned; P. F. R.]
(Take your time; there is no hurry.)

B

(Good.)

u [md 13 a ’!]

(Yes, all right; go ahead.)

be [read “ Babe”]

(Ha! ha! try it again; that is pretty good.)
B

(Yes.)

u [read “a”)

(Yes.)

b

(Yes.)

y

(Yes.) Buby [Read “ Baby ]
There is one more

(That is right. Give it.)

But Baby was one

71. In writing “Gertie”, the hand worked unevenly, the first syllable
being lighter in the first instance than the second syllable. In the second
instance the “ie” was lighter. There were evidently two controls at work
on it, someone trying to help my father, very likely. The “ie” was entirely
unnatural to him and to me. We disliked it exceedingly. It was not used in
the family. But it is a very natural ending to append to “ Gert”, of course,
in most minds. I was very careful not to indicate by word or tone that this
referred to my own name. The stenographer did not know my name, tho
of course the subliminal of Mrs. Chenoweth did, having known me per-
sonally for years, in a business relation. She has never met any of my
family or known anything whatever of them or their pet names for me.

72. Possibly by “Yes, I know G.” my father meant to indicate that he
knew he wished to write “ Gertrude”.
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(True; very true.) [73]

[Moaned ; Indian; P. F. R.]

(Take your time; it is all right.)

[Made marks on paper] H

(Yes.) [74]

[Indian.]

Dont think can

(Al right.)

PPP isone

(Yes.)

e e [Pause.] [75]

(Is Gertie in the cemetery, father?)

You mean sister in cemetery

(No, I asked if Gertie is in the cemetery. From what you
said it looks on the paper as though she is.) [76] '

No no no

(Al right.)

73. “B”, which was correct, came at once. The “u” which followed
it I would not read either time, as I found stenographer reading it “a”,
but it is a clear “u”, and correctly so for the unusual pet name I had in
mind. The “b” which follows it is also correct; after a pause the final “e”
or “y” was tacked on, but neither was correct for the answer to my
question. The repetition in the form of “ Baby” after the stenographer had
read “ Babe” is natural on the subliminal basis, and “ Baby” was a familiar
pet name for me until I was old enough to rebel, as [ was the last of the
family. The name I asked for had been used by my father only, and I did
not quite get it. Only the last letter is missing, and I believe one reading of
a letter given in the first attempt is the correct letter made in a somewhat
careless fashion as it often is in automatic writing with Mrs. C.

"74. “H?” refers to no pet name of mine that I recall. “Yes” was merely
a response indicating that we had the initial clearly.

75. Possibly an attempt at “ Pet”, tho this is not the distinctive name
requested, it was one of several in use in the family for me. “P is one”
is therefore pertinent.

76. “Sister” is “in cemetery "—more than one, in fact. The question
was asked very impartially, in order to have the matter cleared up “on
paper ”. No inflection of tone was permitted to indicate what answer might
be expected. And it is to be noted that being “with the children and the
babies ” as “old grandpeople” would necessarily apply to the living * chil-
dren” as my parents’ only grandchildren are living and their parents are,
also. The mistake in interpretation was mine, and my father’s evident
surprise is entirely natural,
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I thought you understood that Gertie is my little girl

(I do.)

alive and [Indian] you

(Yes.)

You are my baby

(Good.)

Gertrude

(Good, good.) [77]

[Moaned] I will always stay near you while you live and dear
little daughter do not think that this will end my attentions or effort
I know how good you were to mother and she is with me

(Yes.)

now

(Good.)

as I write and she wishes to tell you that she is so happy and
so glad to be where she can do something for you [78]

(Yes; thank her for me.)

She hears you. Do you know anything about [N. R.] about a
river with some falls

(Ha, ha, yes.)

A river which is familiar to you [79]

(Yes, I know several. Do you know this one?)

[Moaned] Yes.

(All right.)

with falls and rather [N. R.] wild rather and pretty about it.

(Yes, I do.)

One you do not see as much as you used to

(Yes, I know. Did you ever see it?)

With you

(Ah, ha))

77. A pause, dramatically, after the word “you”, preceded the new
statement that I, the sitter, was the person intended. It is noteworthy that
“ Gertrude ” came through in full here, when no concentrated effort to give
the name itself was being made.

78. Mother had always wished to do more for her family than she was
able to in any way, except in loving us.

79. A river I knew at once occurred to me, which he had known about
and seen pictures of, but had never seen.
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and think it so picturesque [80]

(Yes, good.)

Orange

(Yes.)

You know not fruit

(Ah, ha.)

but place

(Yes, yes.) mountains

[read by Miss Crawford “ Montclair ”” and not corrected] ns [81]
(Good. Is this river in all those places?)

Yes

(Is that yes or no—is the river in all those places?) [82]
Yes

(I know.)

mountains

(Surely, surely.) [83]

[Indian] I love the place

(So do 1L.)

we all do

(Why did you say it was picturesque?) [84]

[Pause and change in control.]

GP
(Good.)
You have good reason to know me

80. This reference to the “picturesque” is characteristic, as my father
was an artist in his lifetime,

81. Miss Crawford’s misreading of “mountains” as “ Montclair” was
odd as it was the scene of my parents’ last home, and it is likely for this
reason that he did not at once correct our reading of “mountains”. Orange
is the adjoining town, whither he went weekly, usually on foot, being es-
pecially fond of nature and of walking. He often passed the picturesque
spot on these walks, and we must have passed it many times together. It
has long been a favorite spot with our family.

82. The “river” is a small stream that flows from Montclair on through
Orange. It is only a brook but has been used to run several mills; one
dilapidated water-wheel we always thought most. picturesque.

&3. The Orange Mountains, on which this stream takes its rise. Father
was especially fond of mountains and streams.

84. Evidently the question was too late to bring out a point I was after.
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(Yes, sir!) [85]

and I would not feel justified [N. R.] justified in having you
go away without some word from me

(Good.)

It is with joy that we greet you and give you a first hand
exhibition [N. R.] exhibition [x crossed] of what you so well know

(Yes.)

and we are not at all anxious [x crossed] to have the identity
revealed here now

(Oh, is that so?)

I do not know that it would make much difference except to
the subliminal which we have used all sorts of anasthetics [N. R.]
anaesthetics on to deaden the knowledge of your identity that we
might give your father a free chance to write

(Good.)

with out [N. R.] any interfering thought and he may try again
sometime with J. H. H.

(Oh, I see; all right.)

It is all in the interests of science as well

(Surely) .

as a personal evidential affair for you [86] I look for some good
work the rest of this season

(Good.)

Everybody is worried about J.H. H.

(Yes.)

except us

(I am not.) [87]

85. Emphatically spoken, expressing my pleasure at the appearance of one
whose work I have long known and witnessed often, but who never before
communicated directly to me personally.

86. I had purposed to remain until the sitting ended and disclose my
identity. But Mrs. Chenoweth herself had no notion of my plan or that
the sitter was personally known to her. The housekeeper was the only
one who knew, and she had pledged absolute secrecy, which she is accustomed
to in these matters. She is entirely honest and reliable. The appeal to my
interest in science, subordinating the *“personal evidential affair”, shows
correct understanding of my personal attitude toward the work. Of course
the subliminal would have brought up S. P. R. associations had my identity
been recognized, thus likely crowding or confusing my personal com-
municators.

87. Said partly to reassure the subliminal, and partly on principle.
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He is all right

(Yes.)

and there is no fear if he does not insist on doing every thing
himself. [88]

(If he doesn’t.)

He must be trained [N. R.] trained

(Yes sir, I try to.)

to train [N. R.] some train a helper for he is the head not the
whole body

(Right you are.)

Let some one else he hands

(Right.)
and he can [N. R.] he can still be head [89] We look to you to
help us and we have confidence that your faithful service on one
end and someone to help on this end will give him a chance to
breathe

(Right.)
It is all [N. R.] all in the breathing [moaned] [90]

(Yes, sir.)
There will be more funds [N. R.] funds

(Yes, good, we need them.)
and he will have more energy to make a decent appeal for them if
he is not made a mechanical slave [91] as

(Yes.) '

w well as a thinking machine [92] We do not want him here

(All right; we do.)
not yet

(We want him here, G. P.)
He belongs just where he is He has had too many burdens and he

88. A most pertinent suggestion, as anyone attempting to assist J. H. H.
can testify.

89. Developments within three or four months began to take this trend.

90. Breathing plenty of piney or mountain air has always restored
J. H. H. when depleted. Mrs. C. probably knows this. At present he was
resting in a place where he could breathe piney air, and Mrs. C. did not
know that fact.

91. J. H. H’s activity well described thus in too many of its aspects.

92. J. H. H.'s precision of thought and accuracy of logic and acumen in
criticism properly indicated thus, '
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has had some serious drawbacks through untrue [N. R.] untrue
untrue through untrue and incompetent

(Incompetent ?)

Yes help in the past [93]

(Yes.)
but the weeding [N. R.] weeding out process has come and all
looks better

(Good.)
A rest will prove the making of him G. P. [moaned.]

(Thanks, G. P.)

[Sitter left the room.]

[Subliminal.]

It is lovely, isn’t it?

(Yes, it is a lovely day here.)

She has gone, hasn’t she?

(Yes. Do you want to see her again?)

No; I guess she doesn’t want to see me. You couldn’t get
her, could you?

(Yes; do you want her?)

Oh, no, but you couldn’t, could you?

(Yes.)

I don’t want her.

(All right.)

Do you like her?

(Yes; don’t you?)

Yes, she is all right. She seems awfully familiar to me;
doesn’t she to you?

(I never saw her before, I think.)

She makes me think of somebody.

(Whom?)

Something in Miss Allen?

(Something in Miss Allen?)

You don’t know Miss Allen, do you?

(I know who she is; I have heard about her.) .

93. In several instances known to the sitter, but not to the public, this
is true. Two further instances have come to light in the course of less than
three years subsequent to this message.
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Is she a stenographer, do you know?

(She didn’t tell me she was. You are asking me a lot of
questions.)

Yes, I think she is. She is probably Miss Tubby. [94]

(What is her name?)

She probably is:—probably got smart.

(Perhaps so. [laughed])

What are laughing at; are you laughing at me?

(Oh, no, I wouldn't laugh at you—not to make fun.)

Not to make fun of me. Is she going to wait for you? [95]

(I don’t know.)

They get in a nice mess, don’t they?

(Shall T put that down?)

I don’t care. [Pause.] I suppose I better forget it, don’t you?

(Perhaps so; perhaps they want you to.)

Well, I try to do what they want me to, but some things you
can’t help knowing—just bring all the instruments around and
leave them and then wonder how you know it is a dentist’s office.

(Yes.)

Good bye. .

(Good bye.)

We will get along all right.

(Yes.)

We will be scientific all right, won’t we?

(Yes.)

I like Dr. Hyslop too.

(Oh, yes.)

I suppose they have got some ideas. [96]

(Yes, I guess she got some good things.)

I hope so. [Pause.] I know Miss Tubby.

[Pause and Mrs. C. awakened.]

94. Miss Allen once held a position then filled by the sitter, as Dr,
Hyslop's secretary. Sitter’s name correctly given.

95. The sitter was waiting, out of sight of the house, for the stenog-
rapher to appear, that they might travel to town together.

96. Evidently Starlight was trying to justify to herself the secrecy that
had been maintained in regard to my presence, as she was well acquainted
with me through earlier work for others and a little for myself as well.
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PREDICTIONS FULFILLED.
By H. A. DaLLas.

[From “Light ”’, vol. xxx, p. 203, and 215-216 April 30th, and
May 7th, 1910.]

In his recent work, “ The Survival of Man”, Sir Oliver
Lodge relates a striking case of verified prediction. The incident
is the more remarkable because it refers to a fact which is en-
tirely insignificant ‘in itself, but by no means insignificant in
relation to the purpose which may underlie it, or the deductions
which may be drawn from it. The fact is briefly as follows:

On December 11th, 1901, Mrs. Verrall’'s hand wrote auto-
matically the following sentences :—

Nothing too mean—the trivial helps, gives confidence. Hence
this, frost and a candle in the dim light. Marmontel, he was read-
ing on a sofa or bed—there was only a candle’s light. She will
surely remember this. This book was lent, not his own—he talked
about it.

This was subscribed by what looked like the name “ Sidg-
wick 7. Later she was told in the same fashion that the book
was French, and the words “ Passy ” and “ Fleury ” were given
as connected with it.

All this was unintelligible to Mrs. Verrall at the time, but
she subsequently learned that the communication apparently had
reference to a future event, in which it found its explanation.
The circumstances to which these enigmatical sentences referred
occurred on February 20th and 21st, 1902, more than two
months after the script had been written. Almost every detail
was extraordinarily correct, so much so as to point unmistakably
to a prediction.

A friend of Mrs. Verrall’s, on those dates, read Marmontel
in a volume borrowed from the London Library. He was lying
down and reading by the light of one candle, and the names
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“ Passy ” and “ Fleury ” occurred in the chapter he was reading.
What possible significance can be attached to so strange an
experience ?

This question must be answered in the light of the fact that,
during the lifetime of Professor Sidgwick, he and Sir Oliver
Lodge and Mr. Myers had frequently discussed what sort of
evidence would be best calculated to establish the intervention
of Supernormal intelligence, and they had agreed “ That predic-
tion of future events of an insignificant kind .. . would be con-
clusive if obtained in quantity sufficient to eliminate chance ”
(p. 161). For this reason, Sir Oliver Lodge tells us he considers
that it ‘“would be eminently characteristic of an intelligence
purporting to be associated in any way” with either of these
two men, that attempts of this kind should be made. He further
indicates a hypothesis which may conceivably account, to some
extent, for the facts. He does this with his usual daring and
caution. Those who are familiar with his writings will know
that both these adjectives are warranted.

The hypothesis which Sir Oliver Lodge suggests is that the
intelligence who was responsible for the record may possibly
have been the agent who brought about the fulfilment of the
prediction, and may have set to work to secure someone who
could be impressed to bring about the conditions foretold, and
who was also sufficiently within the radius of Mrs. Verrall’s
acquaintance to make it reasonable to hope that the occurrences
by which the prediction was fulfilled would become known to
her. This seems, at first sight, a rather strained explanation;
but the predictions are themselves so strange that one can hardly
expect to find that the explanation is simple. In any case all
sorts of hypotheses should be taken into consideration.

By way of testing this new suggestion, I naturally turn to
the records of such experiences as I have had of verified predic-
tions, and try to apply it to them. Although the incidents are
trifling, they may interest students of the subject, since “the triv-
ial helps ”. T must apologize for the personal character of these
incidents. I would have preferred that they should be less so,
but I have no alternative between telling them as they stand, or
not telling them at all. Several experiences are of too private
a nature to record here: but I may say that the three of this
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kind which I have specially in mind all included notes of time.
One of these predictions preceded its fulfilment by about two
months, another by ten years, and I was given the period at
which I might expect the fulfilment approximately correctly.

I will now give with some detail experiences of a less private
nature.

On May 4th, 1899, I was told by a medium that she saw
pages and pages of paper about me, and that I should write five
books. When she came out of the trance state I told her what
she had said, with some incredulity. I had no such intention in
mind, and I saw no prospect of such a prediction being fulfilled.
I had written a few things for journals occasionally, but nothing
further. She replied that she had found that predictions of
this sort which she had made to others had been fulfilled. I
was not very believing or encouraging, I am afraid. My fifth
book, however, was published last January.

How far the phophecy influenced me I cannot say; it may
possibly have encouraged me to persevere when I had started on
this work, but I need hardly say that the vera causa of each book
was not the prophecy. It is conceivable, of course, that Sir
Oliver Lodge’s hypothesis may be applicable to this case. It
may be that the intention which seemed to originate in my own
mind was really suggested to me by some other intelligences who
had prophetically impressed the medium.

There is an interesting case given in Dr. Milne Bramwell’s
book on “ Hypnotism ", which has some bearing on this point.
I quote from memory, but I think I remember it correctly.

In the hypnotic sleep his patient had planned something which
she had to do when in her normal state; this thing was duly
performed. When she had again been hypnotized she referred
to it, and said that when she had thought (in her‘waking state)
of doing the pre-arranged thing, she imagined that the idea had
come to her spontaneously, and had not any recollection of the
fact that it had been pre-determined in the hypnotic state. It is
not improbable that many of our apparently spontaneous actions
are really not so but are, in fact, the execution of some decision
which has either been suggested to us in sleep, or in some sub-
conscous way, or something which we have ourselves determined
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upon doing at some moment of fuller consciousness than that
with which we are familiar in our (so-called) waking state.

Sir Oliver Lodge’s theory that the unseen agent of the pre-
diction is also the agent who brings about its fulfilment may thus
be applicable to this case.

In August, 1903, I was present at a circle at which each person
was asked to write a question on a piece of paper and to hand it
to the medium, who held the folded slip, unopened, in his hand.
My question referred to a manuscript which I had just sent to a
publisher. I asked whether he would undertake to publish it. The
reply I received was: ‘ Will not. Do you understand?’ I said:
‘Yes; unfortunately, I do.” The medium then continued: ‘ You
will have a disappointment with this, for I feel as if I went down.
It will come all right, but not as you expect. It will be in October;
you will be able to put it off your mind. It will be all right. There
will be a meeting for you in about a month, of importance with
regard to your writing. It will be good for you. You will be going
out of town, but you must put off for a day or two on this account.
You must accept it when it comes.’

I supposed that all these utterances referred to the same matter,
i. e., to something to be published, and that the meeting might be
an interview with a publisher. I did not see any other significance
which I could attach to the words; I made a note of what had been
said, but did not think much of it. As a matter of fact, two quite
distinct incidents seem to have been here predicted.

The first was in relation to the manuscript which I had sent to
a publisher. Shortly afterwards I received from him a reply, which
disappointed me, for I concluded from it that he did not intend to
accept my manuscript, although he did not definitely decline it.
Subsequently, however, we came to a satisfactory arrangement, and
the matter was ‘ off my mind’ by October.

The second prediction, ‘ There will be a meeting for you in
about a month,’” had nothing to do with a publisher, as I had sup-
posed. It was connected with something I had published previously,
but its ‘importance’ was not of the kind which I had imagined,
and it was not a business matter at all. It offers a good illustration
of the misconstructions which may easily be put upon mediumistic
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utterances, and the consequent risk of serious misadventure if these
half-understood prophecies are taken as guides for action.

On September 13th, very nearly a month after my visit to the
medium, I was able to make an entry in my notebook, at the close
of the note which I had previously made concerning the prediction,
showing how it had been fulfilled. This entry was as follows:—

I have only today noted the fulfilment of a statement made to
me on this occasion. A few days ago I had a note from a stranger
who had read my book [named], saying he hoped to call and see
me in October. I replied, by letter, that I had been intending to
leave London on the 6th, but had not fixed the day, and would
postpone until the 9th in order to give an opportunity for our
meeting. Today I received his reply, thanking me for this. . .
Only then did I recall what had been said. . . This meeting is
being arranged just a month after this was said, but it is not to
take place for a few weeks.

I have given the words as written because they show that at
the time that I postponed my departure from London I was un-
conscious that I was carrying out the prediction which had been
made to me, and only recalled this when the postponement had been
arranged.

The meeting was of no particular importance with regard to
my literary work, although, as it was the result of that work, it so
far fulfilled what, no doubt, the medium had sensed: namely, that
it was intimately connected with something I had written. The
importance of the meeting lay in another direction. My visitor
proved to have been an.old friend of my grandfather, and for this
and other reasons I was very glad to meet him. Had I not done so
on this occasion, I should not have met him at all, as he was leaving
the country.

How far may the hypothesis suggested by Sir Oliver Lodge be
applied to this case? I think that it is not unlikely that the Intelli-
gence who predicted the meeting, through the medium, was aware
that the gentleman in question had already, unknown to me, con-
templated proposing a visit, and perhaps an attempt was thus made
to prevent my absence from town. But in that case one must
attribute to this Intelligence real insight into my future; for I had
not made my plans when I received the prediction that I should be
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‘going out of town. I remember particularly that I left them
vague, having a nebulous feeling that I had better not settle defi-
nitely when and where I should go until circumstances might give
me a lead. T think that some such insight into the future must also
be recognized in the prediction previously related.

If we have to admit this knowledge of, as yet, unplanned events
on the part of the Intelligence responsible for predictions, it seems
superfluous to apply the hypothesis suggested by Sir Oliver Lodge,
viz., that the agent first makes the prophecy and then sets about to
accomplish it. If this could account for the facts there would be no
need to conclude that the future was actually foreseen; but even
the few cases in my own very limited experience seem to render
something beyond this hypothesis necessary. It may well be, how-
ever, that some cases which appear to be predictions are not actually

so in the sense that they involve foreknowledge. These cases may:

be explicable solely by the hypothesis suggested by Sir Oliver Lodge.
It is never safe to suppose that we are always justified in interpret-
ing events, which at first sight seem similar, by the same hypothesis.
Some predictions are of a nature that would render it impossible to
suppose that the agent of the warning prediction was the agent of
its fulfilment. Doubtless Sir Oliver Lodge did not intend to offer
his suggestion as applicable to all cases of predictions, but only as
one way in which these perplexing experiences may sometimes be
accounted for.

The following case of prediction* was not made to myself but
to a member of my family residing in the same house. .

We were wishing to change our residence, but our lease had
another year to run, so we hoped to sub-let. - A medium stated that
we should either let the house in the approaching September, or,
she added, ‘ Your hand will be forced in March.” This expression
seemed to imply that some external circumstances would be brought
to bear on us, which would make us quit.

In September someone came to see the house and seemed to
be on the verge of taking it, but finally decided otherwise. In
March our landlord died, and the residuary legatee asked us if
we would mind quitting before the lease had quite expired, to oblige
her. The prediction was thus fulfilled about eight months after
it had been made.

Of the first two predictions ‘referred to in these papers notes

— a. = =3 =
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were made almost immediately, and previous to their fulfilment.
This was not the case with the following. The only note of this
which I can find was made when the prediction was fulfilled. I
did not recognize that the matter was a prediction until this hap-
pened. From this note, then made, I give the following :—

Two ladies were living together, one of whom I had seen and
known for some time, the other I knew only indirectly. One day
I was calling on my friend and I then met this lady for the first
time. She told me that she had mentioned to our mutual friend
that I was going to call, for she had seen me in a dream. She said
that I resembled the person she had seen in her dream, and that
she saw with me two men (young men, I think she said), one
fairer and shorter than the other, and that I was in a room with
glass doors. I add in my note: ‘ Today I met her again, in the
Empress Rooms, Kensington, and I spoke to her; for a moment
she did not seem to know who I was. I reminded her of the ‘dream,
and she recalled it and said: “ And this was the room!” Then
she showed me the glass doors. I told her that Mr. W,, a fair
man [he was remarkably fair for a man, and rather short], had
introduced me that afternoon to a Hindu gentleman’ [the Hindu
was a good height and looked tall beside the other].

.This introduction might have been expected to lead to some
event of importance, since it appears to have been foreseen months
before. This was not the case, however. The fair man remained
a friendly acquaintance until he died; the other I have not seen
since. :

These are not the only small predictions that I have had made
to me in the course of my life, but they are those most suitable
for quotation and sufficiently marked to be difficult to attribute
entirely to chance coincidence. If so many can be found within
one person’s experience during a few years, it seems probable that
verified prophecies are not as rare as some suppose.

There are those who strongly object to the idea that the future
can be foreseen. Facts are facts, however, and must be faced.
Perhaps the main reason why persons dislike the notion is that they
think it is incompatible with the liberty of choice which we believe
that we possess. But is this so? I am not rash enough to attempt
to enter upon a discussion of the problem of the reconciliation of
Determinism and Free Will, but I venture to think that a capacity
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for reading the future is not altogether incompatible with a con-
siderable power of choice.

The foreknowledge which makes it possible for higher intelli-
gences to predict the future may be an extension of the faculty
which enables some intuitive minds even here to forsee the issue
of present events, an issue which may not always be absolutely
assured, but may be capable of being modified by human action.
And even if we assume that certain events are absolutely pre-
ordained, this does not prove that all events are equally so. It is
conceivable that there is in the main a definite destiny for every
man and all races of men, and yet that there may be abundant
opportunity (within certain limits) for the exercise of liberty of
choice, for the development of individual character, for hindering
or helping the great purpose of the universe.

If our belief in predeterminism with regard to some things is
based ‘'on experience, so also is our conviction as to our own respon-
sibility, our profound assurance that we can each say ‘Yes’ or
‘No,” and that there are times when nothing can exonerate us from
making this choice. There is something very inspiring in Professor
James’s words: ‘ Who knows whether the faithfulness of indi-
viduals here below to their own poor over-beliefs may not actually
help God, in turn, to be more effectively faithful to His own greater
tasks?’

In any case we must beware of surrendering one conviction
based on experience, for another conviction, even though that, too,
be based on experience. It is experience which leads us to believe
that we can decide some matters, can say ‘ Yes’ or ‘ No’ to good
and evil. It were surely a great folly to abandon that conviction
because, in a less degree, other experiences give us grounds for
believing that many events in our lives are foreseen and some are
definitely predetermined.

Personally, the fulfilment of small predictions has made on me
an impression which strengthens confidence and quiets fear, re-
moving anxiety concerning future events, and inducing a sense of
repose in the assurance that we are not the victims of chance, but
that even apparently untoward events are an ordered part of our
spiritual education.
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INCIDENTS.

The Society assumes no responsibility for anything published under
this head and no endorsement is implied, except that it is furnished by
an apparently trustworthy contributor whose name is given unless with-
held by his own request.

A VISION OF A SUBMARINE BATTLE.

From my youth I have been sceptical about everything connected
with the occult. I have defied ghosts by midnight visits alone to
supposedly haunted houses. I have frequently complied with all the
conditions said to be necessary in order to see apparitions. The
absolute failure of all of these efforts served to confirm my natural
scepticism. On several occasions I went with others who had seen’
ghosts; but with a strange perversity the spectral visitants always
failed to arrive while I was an observer.

I may say further that I have received degrees from two univer-
sities and one theological seminary. I have also traveled extensively
in Africa, Asia, Europe and America. I have dined with ambas-
sadors and looked on the faces of kings. I have served on reception
committees to welcome successful candidates for the Presidency of
the United States. I mention these facts as illustrating the kind of
training and education that form the background of my thinking.

I have five children, three daughters and two sons. With my
youngest son, who is now in his twenty-fourth year, I have always
had the closest psychic relations. So far nothing vitally affecting
him has ever taken place that I have not received notice of it hours
in advance. This has usually been made known to me through a
dream. Once while he was a student in High School he had been
in training for the two-mile race. The night before I saw him
fall; when they picked him up his face was bleeding from a cut on
his forehead which had struck a sharp stone. In the race the
next day, he left all contestants behind and was nearing the goal,
when a fellow classman overjoyed at the prospect, ran alongside
of my son encouraging him to keep up to the end. In his excitement
he came too near and tripped the runner throwing him forward
on his face inflicting exactly the kind of a wound I had seen in my
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dream the previous night. This is only one of many similar in-
cidents disclosing in advance coming events in connection with the
life of this lad.

Last July my son, now an officer in the Signal Corps of the
U. S. Army, sailed for Europe. Twelve days after he left an
Atlantic port, and we felt satisfied that he had landed safely, I was
in my study. when, suddenly, in the midst of my work, I was com-
pelled to stop. I became greatly agitated ; at first I was at a loss to
account for this interlse mental excitement, I leaned back in my
chair and closed my eyes for a few moments in order to regain my
composure. Instantly a sea scene was before me; I saw clearly a
large convoy of ships. In the midst of them I saw the dark form
of a submarine come up out of the water and prepare to launch a
torpedo. It was so close to the one transport that I saw most
clearly that our gunners could not fire on it. From somewhere
beyond the range of my vision came a shell sinking the submarine.
The sinking was the only thing that was perfectly clear. I was so
impressed by this vision that I put down the date and the hour and
minute; I went downstairs immediately and told the family that
our son had been in danger and that the submarine had been sunk
without doing any damage.

Six weeks later we received the following letter from my son
Corporal Clement S. Fox, acting Sergeant A. E. F.

“ We were quite well protected as we left the American coast,
for a short time; then most of our convov left us and returned, as
there is small danger on the high seas. We numbered better than
twenty ships, transports and freighters. It certainly made a beauti-
ful array with all those ships pushing quietly through the water.

“ We were required to wear our life preservers at all times. In
addition to this, we had boat drill twice a day. I was put in
charge of a raft and seventeen men. In case of disaster we were
to wait with the raft until the deck was almost awash, then throw
it into the sea, and jump after it into the sea. This would have
been quite an exciting experience in an icy sea, such as that in
which the Tuscania was torpedoed. - :

“ About two days before reaching port, we were met by a large
number of destroyers, and submarine chasers. How our boys did
cheer the Stars and Stripes! The little chasers ride very low in
the water, and have a very high speed. They dart back and forth
four or five times as fast as the big transports, and give one a
feeling of considerable safety.
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“ About three o’clock one afternoon, when the sea was com-
paratively smooth, I was standing on deck watching the waves,
when suddenly the destroyers far to the starboard side turned
quickly and sped away. Soon they began dropping depth bombs
at the rate of three or four a minute; we saw the water spout up
fifty feet into the air and heard the deep boom which shook the ships
hundred of yards away.

“ All of the ships veered quickly in their course at a signal
from the battleships. Suddenly the transport on our starboard,
which was about four hundred yards distant, fired two shells which
struck the water just ahead of us. By that time we began to
realize that something was really happening. Immediately we got
our signals from the steamer’s whistle that a sub had been sighted
on our port. In about ninety seconds, every man on board was at
his boat or raft station. We had just reached our stations when
I saw the ship on our starboard fire again this time at a spot in the
water about one hundred yards from us; the shell struck the water
and was followed by a great explosion. The water was thrown
up in a great, long, high wedge; with it came an enormous cloud
of black smoke. I knew at once that there was one less U-Boat
to Germany’s Navy!

“ Officers and men began to shout and cry out, * We got that one!
we got that one! we got it!’ '

* Suddenly the Major appeared on the scene; he 'guieted every-
thing by commanding, ‘ You men are at attention!’ The effect was
instantaneous.

“ We learned later that the numerous shots from other ships
which followed this little incident had also proved effective. The
total bag was three submarines for one afternoon.

“The one which got so close to us was too near for action. We
almost rammed it and brought it suddenly on our starboard, again
too close for it to send a torpedo. This gave the other transport a
good target.

“The submarine excitement was a good tonic for the men; they
stood it well, like good soldiers which they are; there was no hint
or suggestion of panic; had a torpedo really struck the ship, I'm
sure the whole force would have gone through the ordeal without
a hitch; that is saying a good deal, I think, for men who had never
been under fire before.”

Some will say that my vision is explained by telepathy. I had
thought of that myself, but that explanation must be ruled out by
the fact that a comparision of the dates shows that my vision of
the battle occurred twenty-four hours before the real battle.

Frank Hampron Fox.
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THE CONGREGATIONAI CHURCH
Comer Church and Eldorado Street
DEcATUR, ILLINOIS

Frank HampronN Fox, D.D.
MINISTER
436 W. Eldorado St. June 2, 1919.

MR. Jamis H. HysLop,
DEAR SIRr:

The undersigned members of the family of Frank Hampton
Fox remember distinctly that he came downstairs from his study
on the afternoon of July 26, 1918, and described an encounter
with a submarine by the transport on which Clement S. Fox was
sailing to Europe. He said for us not to be alarmed for the sub-
marine was sunk without having a chance to damage the transport.

Detailed description of the submarine encounter received from
Clement S. Fox later proved the vision to have been true.

[Signed] Mgs. Frank Fox,
Miss Racuer, Hampron Fox.

AN INCIDENT.

The following incident must explain itself. It is from Miss
H. A. Dallas, author of several good books on psychic phenom-
ena and their meaning. The present instance must be classified
with communications with the dead. It is one of the many
deserving of record and those who know the author will not
question her competency to report carefully and accurately.

—Editor.

In my diary (1910) noted the following occurrence.

A friend (J. S.) with whom I had been associated in connection
with some work, died in his sleep on the 14th of October. When I
heard of this event I mentally appealed to a near relative of my
own, who had passed over, to assist him. (I will designate this
relative by the letter X.)

On the 17th day of the same month I visited a professional
N\
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psychic, thinking that I lmight give J. S. an opportunity to com-
municate. This psychic may have heard of the death of J. S,, but
it is unlikely that she knew that we were associated in work or
that his passing away would have more interest for me than that
,of a slight acquaintance.

The first person mentioned to me by the psychic was X., the
name was not mentioned but the relationship which X. bore to me
was made unmistakably clear. She told me that X. was present
and that she had brought a gentleman whose appearance she de-
scribed. The description corresponded with that of J. S., except
that no allusion was made to certain obvious physical defects; had
she remembered J. S. and wished to make me sure of his identity
her normal mind would have been likely to supply this detail. It
seemed to me that she did not recognize the person she was de-
scribing, and, of course, I gave no hint as to who it was. She
then told me that X. and J. S. were helping another spirit. This
remark was not without appropriate significance but I cannot go
further into this point. She added that J. S. was sleeping a great
deal. She said, “ You are fond of symbols?” Fearing that she
would become vague, and not wishing to encourage this, I an-
swered, “ Not particularly ”. J. S. was fond of symbols and it
would have been wiser for me to let matters take their course
without check. However, the psychic was not put off but proceeded
to say that she saw two symbols. The first was the sign of mercury,
the second a shamrock or clover leaf, within a circle. These sym-
bols had no meaning for me at the time in connection with my
friend.

After giving me several names that did not seem to me signifi-
cant and making a few remarks that I did not understand she
continued, “ You are troubled about some papers?” and added that
this matter would be settled on the 19th. J. S. had certain papers
connected with the work in which we had co-operated and I had
written to his brother to ask for these papers; his family were
quite unknown to me, and although I was not exactly “troubled ”
about them I was wishing to have them back in my own care.
The funeral of my friend was fixed for the 19th (to the best of my
recollection the date had not been communicated to me as early as
the 17th), and after the service was over his brother stepped up to
me and said that the papers would be sent to me by post.
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’
I wrote an account of my interview with the psychic to a friend
who knew J. S. more intimately than I did, and she then told me
that the sign of mercury was habitually used by him at the close
of his letters to her. Moreover, it was the sign of the most im-
portant planet in his horoscope and he was, as I knew, an ardent
believer in astrology. She also sent me some papers which he had
written which enabled me to understand why the other symbol had
special significance for him. A few other matters indicated by the
psychic I had no means of verifying. One further remark must
not be omitted, however. In the course of the interview she stated
that a friend of mine had “ recently ” passed over. In my opinion
these somewhat disconnected remarks point to the conclusion that
J. S. was trying to avail himself of the opportunity I had made
for him to communicate, but was probably not sufficiently “ awake ”
in his new conditions to give any clear message. I am not sure
that the fragments that were transmitted were not more convincing
to me than a more fluent message would have been.

* H. A. DALLAS.
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" The Quest for Dean Bridgman Conner. By ANTHONY J. PHILPOT.
John W. Luce and Company. Boston, 1915.

This book is a presentation of a celebrated, but not well known,
incident in the work of Dr. Hodgson and Mrs. Piper. It was ex-
ploited in the newspapers at the time and very much annoyed those
who had faith in the work of Mrs. Piper. The story is substan-
tially this.

Dean Bridgman Conner, who had lived in Burlington, Vermont,
joined a traveling circus as its electrical manager and took sick with
typhoid fever in Mexico City and was reported by the American
Consul as having died there. Some months afterward the
father, in Burlington, Vermont, had a dream of his son in which
he was represented as alive and captive in Mexico. The incident
came to Dr. Hodgson and resulted in some sittings with Mrs. Piper
by a Mr. Dodge who was a friend of the Conners. The story of
his captivity for ransom was repeated through Mrs. Piper ap-
parently without suggestion, if the present book is to be accepted,
and many incidents and localities in Mexico correctly stated, which
Mrs. Piper did not know. The existence of supernormal knowledge
on her part is not questioned by Mr. Philpot. The details were
such that the body of the man who was said to have died in the
hospital was exhumed and a photograph of his skull taken at the
grave, some of his teeth were removed for examination and some
of his hair, The physician of the family examined the hair and
pronounced that it was not that of Dean Bridgman Conner and the
dentist who filled his teeth some years before asserted, according
to Mr. Philpot, that those brought from Mexico were not the teeth
of Dean Bridgman Conner. Fgurther sittings were held and addi-
tional information was obtained, this time referring to Puebla and
finally to Orizaba, with details that were afterward verified in most
or all the facts except that Dean Bridgman Conner lived. Then
Mr. Philpot undertook an investigation in Mexico under the
direction and support of General Charles H. Taylor, of the
Boston Globe, “ a real newspaper man ”, so the dedication tells us.
Mr. Philpot went over the ground again in Mexico, verified many
incidents and localities mentioned by the trance personalities in
the Piper case, and accidentally discovered that a Miss Smith had
left the American Hospital in Mexico City about the time Dean
Bridgman Conner died, under the stigma of murder. This increased
suspicion that the story about the young man was true. But meeting
a Judge of the Courts there he learned that she was found finally
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to be innocent, gnd armed with a note from the Judge, he sought
the woman and found her, and learned from her that she was the
nurse who had charge of Dean Bridgman Conner and saw him die.
He returned home and saw the family physician and the dentist
and discredited their testimony. There could be no doubt from the .
facts that Conner was dead and that the whole story of the controls,
including George Pelham, was an apparent concoction on the part
of these controls or the subconscious of Mrs. Piper.

All the while that the search had been made by Mr. Dodge, pre-
ceding Mr. Philpot, Dr. Hodgson had sittings and sent directions
to them about the places where the search was to be made and all
parties are represented as confident that the story of the controls
would turn out true and be the most decisive evidence hitherto
obtained for the existence of spirits. There can be no doubt from
the spirit of the statement of G. P. and others, as quoted by Mr.
Philpot, that the boy was asserted to be alive and held captive for
a ransom. There was no deviating from this assurance. The book
and the incidents must be read to realize the situation fully and
the spirit in which Mr. Philpot writes it.

There can be no gainsaying the fiasco of that experiment by Dr.
Hodgson, at least in regard to the main point: namely, the recovery
of the boy and the assurance that he was alive and not dead. There
was no evidence whatever that he was alive. On the contrary, all
the cvidence obtainable was that he was dead and there was no
good ground to impeach that evidence. It is clear that the spirit-
istic theory has no defence in this instance and the author has
availed himself of every advantage in that matter. There is no
effective reply in any attempt to vindicate that view from the in-
cidents as told in this book and if readers wish to have a lesson in
doubt they may well read the book. Spiritualists would do well
to read it and the newspaper type of man would revel in its facts
and argument, tho perhaps not many of them would accept Mr.
Philpot’s exposition of telepathy in it. Certainly no scientific man
would attach any value to his attempted explanation of the coinci-
dences which he thinks are not due to chance or guessing.

For popular reading the book is well written and has no scien-
tific color about it. The author takes the opportunity to sneer at
the “ experts ” including all the scientific men who have had any-
thing to do with Mrs. Piper, with special antipathy to Dr. Hodgson.
He ridicules the claims of spiritualism or “ spiritism ”, as these men
prefer to call it, and gloats over their discomfiture in the case.
There can' be no denying the points he makes about this special
case, but he is grossly ignorant of the grounds on which these men
based their advocacy of the spiritistic hypothesis. He studies the
incidents and argues as if spiritism stood or fell with the case of
Dean Bridgman Conner. This is a silly illusion worthy only of a
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newspaper reporter who has his chance to air his pseudo-knowl-
edge with the advantage of a special case on his side.

Unfortunately Dr. Hodgson is not here to reply to Mr. Philpot’s
assertions and the detailed records are not given us by this author.
So we are left largely to his own word for the real or supposéed
truth of his statements. He gives no testimony on the other side.
But it happens that we have one reference and statement in the
book which reveals the author’s worthlessness as a witness. In
the last chapter when summing up the “ evidence ” for his telepathic
explanation of the facts, he quotes the alleged interview with Mrs.
Piper, published in the New York Herald about 1901. In this she
is made to “confess” that she “had never heard anything being
said by myself in a trance state which might not have been latent
in the minds ” of living people. Now I happen to know the facts
in this instance. Mrs. Piper never said anything of the kind. She
had no such interview with the person who published that article
in the Herald. The interview which she did have was not pub-
lished by the Herald or any other paper. The published interview
was fabricated out of whole cloth. The evidence of this was filed
in the Society’s archives, and I had it direct from the mouth of
Dr. Hodgson and published it in the Indianapolis News. Mr. Phil-
pot should have been careful here to get the facts. What he pub-
lishes is a straight falsehood. He says that Dr. Hodgson told him
“that Mrs. Piper didn’t know what she was talking about when she
gave the New York Herald interview.” I do not believe that Dr.
Hodgon told Mr. Philpot anything of the kind. I know what Dr.
Hodgson knew about the facts and they were very different from
what is implied by Mr. Philpot’s statements and Dr. Hodgson told
me a very different thing. He could not say what is alleged when
Mrs. Piper had no such interview.

These facts tend to show that Mr. Philpot, like all newspaper
reporters that I ever knew who did not take stenographic reports,
cannot tell the truth. He is careless of evidence and the fact
throws doubt upon all his statements about the case. His un-
supported word is not worth anything, not because he would
wilfully lie about anything, but because a newspaper reporter is
rarely capable of telling the truth. He must embellish the story
to make it readable, and throughout the book Mr. Philpot intro-
duces description and incidents in his travels that have nothing to
do with his subject but enhance its literary interest. One cannot
but think that he has taken the same liberties with the facts in other
respects. Perhaps he has not falsified the important incidents and
I have no reason to suppose that he has done so, but the fragmentary
character of his report of records and the animus against scientific
men, as well as the total misrepresentation of them and the basis of
their conclusions, make one wonder whether he can trust any state-
ment of fact in the book.
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In quoting the Miles-Ramsden experiments he is so ignorant as
not to see their total irrelevancy to his problem. Their telepathic
experiments related more especially to present mental states of the
agent and percipient. Those in his own problem did not have this
characteristic, no matter how you explain them.

The account of Dr. Hodgson is a total misrepresentation of the
man. He is accredited with a superstitious and credulous belief in
what was said by Mrs. Piper’s controls in the case. I talked person-
ally with Dr. Hodgson about this very case and he had no such
attitude of mind about it. He fully recognizes the damning nature
of the facts and only objected to newspaper exploitation of facts
which a scientific man had the first right to discuss where the
whole record could be given. Any intelligent man who had read
Dr. Hodgson’s two Reports would see that he had no such tenden-
cies as this author represents, and it only makes intelligent people
sceptical about Mr. Philpot’s whole case to find so unintelligent an
attack on Dr. Hodgson and other scientific men.

Mr. Philpot wholly mistakes the grounds on which these men
based their advocacy of the spiritistic hypothesis. It may interest
him to know that they, including Dr. Hodgson most emphatically,
would not for one moment have considered the recovery of Dean
Bridgman Conner as evidence for spirits. Mr. Philpot gives his
own ignorance away completely in admitting that the truth of the
facts would have been the best evidence the Society ever obtained.
They would not have so regarded it at all. They would have valued
it as good proof of the supernormal, but not as the best evidence
for the existence of spirits. I was intimate with Dr. Hodgson for
sixteen years and he would scoff at any such assumption. The facts
might be good evidence after the existence of spirits had once
been proved, but they would not be evidence in the first degree.
Their truth would not be beyond the large telepathy which the
author and the public believes without scientific evidence, so that
the spiritistic theory is not especially concerned with them until
it has been proved.

If Mr. Philpot had omitted his animadversions and animosities
against scientific men and had published the detailed records with
a fair-minded discussion of the facts, he might have been of some
service to science. As it is he has only stimulated the contempt of
those who want to know what all the facts were. The ground on
which these scientific men based their hypothesis of spirits was
the articulate and collective unity of supernormal information re-
lated* to the personal identity of the dead. That would stand in
spite of all the fiascos connected with the search for living people.
The existence of supernormal information in such searches, ex-
plicable by telepathy, would not affect the question of spirits in
other cases. All that such fiascos establish is a perplexity in the
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problem of the supernormal in general, especially where real or
alleged discarnate spirits had previously proved their veracity.
They may discredit the spiritistic hypothesis in the special cases,
but not in those where the phenomena require it. Mr. Philpot’s
method is like that of all ignorant men. They regard every in-
dividual failure as a disproof of a large theory. They are always
demanding that you explain every individual incident that comes
to your attention. This no scientific man would do, until he had
first established the general hypothesis which may cover individual
facts. The scientific man can explain a thousand facts better than
he can explain single ones. In the Piper case it was the sustained
consistency of years of phenomena bearing on the personal identity
of the dead, and no confusion with the living, that produced the
hypothesis defended. If such things as the Dean Bridgman Conner
phenomena had been common there would have been some reason
for scepticism. But this case was the only one of the kind and it
should remain a mere perplexity until we had investigated such
cases on a large scale. Only a man totally ignorant of scientific
methods would talk about it as does Mr. Philpot. Dr. Hodgson was
no such man as he represents him. He was brusque and pugnacious
for his cause at times, but he knew what was evidence and what
was not. He was so sure of his case that he always felt that he
could give the sceptic all he desired and yet conquer him. He did
not depend on psychic phenomena for his belief in a future life.
He had so much confidence “in the goodness of things”, as he
once told me personally, that he felt sure of survival, but he wanted
scientific evidence for it, and was extremely critical of himself in
the acceptance of it always. He regarded the Dean Bridgman Con-
ner case as a failure and I do not believe for one moment that he
took any such attitude on it as Mr. Philpot asserts. I should want
documentary evidence of this. Mr. Philpot’s statements are based
probably upon a newspaper reporter’s inferences and are like all
the illusions which I have uniformly found in that class of writers
whose editors would not publish their statements unless they were
sensational or pure lying. I know a case of a young man who
started out as a reporter and resolved to tell the exact facts in the
interviews he was sent to have. He reported the facts and the
editor threw them into the waste basket. The young man was
greatly disappointed and his friend, knowing the fact, asked to see
his paper. The young man fished it out of the waste basket and
gave it to his friend who wrote up a highly imaginative article, a
mass of pure lies, and the editor published it!

All this is said in spite of the fact that the case was a failure
and any sceptic has the right to emphasize it as such, especially
because the Piper controls were so cock-sure of their statements
and insisted on them apparently after they were disproved. There
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is no blinking the nature of the case. But I rely for this conviction
much more on Dr. Hodgson’s account of the facts to me than I
do on that of Mr. Philpot, tho I accept his testimony as to the
facts of his personal investigations. But he would have made a
stronger book if he had refrained from misrepresenting both the
subject and the scientific men whom he ridicules for methods they
never pursued. It would be perfectly easy to explain the whole
fiasco on the spiritistic theory, but I should have no evidence for
the explanation, and I prefer to admit the liabilities of telepathy in
the case, tho I do not think that we have satisfactory evidence for
that view, or not to explain the facts at all until we have more in-
formation. If we had been given the whole detailed record we
might find an explanation even much simpler than telepathy or
spirits, and I suspect that most men of hard sense would prefer
a simpler one. Perhaps they could not get it, but we cannot get
explanations at all by isolating or selecting our facts as do writers
like Mr. Philpot.

I know a similar case in my own experience. A man disappeared
from home and resort was had to a psychic to find whether he was
dead or alive. The control said he was alive and would return in
warm weather. The psychic knew of the man’s disappearance, but
did not know that the sitter was present to obtain information on
the matter and no direct questions were asked. The whole message
was spontaneous. The particularly interesting fact was that the
psychic knew that the man had disappeared and belicved he was
dead. She did not believe anything else for a moment. But the
control said the man was alive. In about two months afterward the
body was found in a pond where it had been ever since his dis-
appearance. As soon as the ice melted the body came to the
surface. :

I challenged the control to explain the failure and the control
actually knew that it had been a failure, but explained it by saying
that it was due to the difficulty of distinguishing between the
physical and spiritual world and between living and dead people.
This can be interpreted as “ crawling ” or subterfuge and no other
interpretation would be allowable, but for the fact that there are
several well accredited positions which render such a view quite
possible. (1) We have strong evidence that many discarnate spirits
do not know that they are themselves dead. (2) In subliminal stages
of mediumship that is not well developed mistakes between appari-
tions of the dead and of the living are frequent, and less frequent
in the deeper trance. (3) In the pictographic or mental picture
process there is no apparent distinction between apparitions or
phantasms of either the living or the dead, or between animate and
inanimate objects. The reality of them has to be determined by
certain marks. (4) It has always been the contention of com-
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municators that the spiritual world had little distinction between
itself and the physical at their point of contact. (5) We ourselves
cannot always tell whether a person is living or dead. All these
points are a priori possibilites and are rendered more or less prob-
able by evidence independent of the special cases at hand. When
you have so much evidence for the supernormal, and especially for
the personal identity of the dead in instances wholly unlike the
case of Dean Bridgman Conner—and Mr. Philpot admits many
things in the Piper phenomena not explicable by telepathy—we have
to treat such failures as he discusses as an additional problem, not
as an objection to spiritistic agencies. The case which came into my
experimental experience was asserted to be one of spiritistic mis-
interpretation of the facts, and it happened to be Dr. Hodgson who
gave the explanation, and he referred to the Mexican case in com-
parison, mentioning some important details about it, none of which
the psychic knew. In fact she had never even heard of the Mexican
case. Dr. Hodgson alluded to the newspaper accounts of it as hav-
ing made experimental study and further explanation of the fiasco
impossible and referred to the failure to prove the case by the
exhumation of the bones. The evidence for the supernormal in
the reference was excellent, and it was asserted to have been a
case of spiritistic misinterpretation of the mental pictures which
came to the control. I have known such misinterpretations to take
place frequently and then be corrected either almost immediately
or a day or so later, spontaneously. This principle has to be reck-
oned with in all failures. Mistakes are incomplete messages or
the misunderstanding of complete ones. If a spirit is “ earthbound ”
he might be in a condition in which it would be impossible to
determine whether he was dead or alive. If the real condition has
to be determined by access to- his mental states, the earthbound
condition would give no mental states belonging to the spiritual
world that might be used as criteria for the real situation. It is
quite possible that spirits generally, outside the earthbound con-
dition, do not know anything about the physical world except as
inferentially indicated by access to its etherial correlate which they
contend exists. Hence it is quite conceivable that mistakes in some
cases might occur in the effort to distinguish whether a given
person was dead or alive, or between the dead and the living. I
have had it indicated that it was a matter of inference, not of
direct observation in some cases.

Mr. Philpot and laymen generally start with the assumption that
we know what the spiritual world is like and that spirits ought
to be able to tell when other people are dead and do it at once.
But that assumption has no ground whatever for itself. We our-
selves often fail to determine whether a man is living or dead. We
can see the apparently lifeless body and often infer from the real
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or apparent absence of heart action that a person is dead. He
recovers and we are mistaken in our inferences. Neither Mr. Phil-
pot nor any one else can predetermine what the conditions of a
spiritual world are that would preclude mistaken inferences, re-’
garding the condition of the soul, especially in an intermediate
condition, as catalepsy and paralysis with the living are. Mr.
Philpot and others may as well exercise a little humility in such
matters. This is far from the case in Mr. Philpot’s book. He
deals with the case much as an Indian goes into war with a whoop
of contempt for scientific men, tho he has not the slightest con-
ception of their position and methods. It is always hard to deal
with the public on such matters because it is not prepared to sus-
pend judgment on certain assumptions about the problem. Its
mental pictures of spirits are based on the ideas of newspaper il-
lustrations and the alleged phenomena of the unscientific spiritual-
ists, and in dealing with the facts where the emphasis has to be
laid upon the conditions of obtaining them and upon the super-
normal character of them, we cannot first dispel the illusions of in-
terpretation which the layman tends to give them. But for the
scientific man who believes in spirits the only conception of them
is that they are streams of consciousness, not necessarily spatial
in character at all, until he obtains evidence that these streams of
consciousness have a basis or are functions of something etherial
occupying space, if that should ever turn out true at all. Mr.
Philpot in his shouts of triumph does not reckon with such views.
Had he shown some humility in his discussion and had he shown
the slightest conception of what the spiritistic hypothesis really is,
he might have published a useful book. As it is we must demand
the detailed record. That is, we must have the facts, not a news-
paper reporter’s garbled story to- suit special pleading. Often
a single statement that has been omitted serves as the key to all
the difficulties of a case. No intelligent person would pay the
slightest dttention to a book of this kind in this stage of the in-
vestigation. We want all the facts and these have not been given
to us.
James H. Hysrop.
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SURVEY AND COMMENT.

Dr. W. McDougall, F. R. S., Reader in Mental Philosophy
in the University of Oxford, has been elected President of the
[British] Society for Psychical Research, in succession to the
late Lord Rayleigh. The American Society is glad to learn of
the election of Dr. McDougall.

The Unknown Shore.

The New York Times of January 11th, 1920, prints the fol-
lowing editorial @ propos the lectures of Maeterlinck and the
disaster which seems to have occurred to the course he intended
to give. It is not often that a newspaper editorial deserves any
attention but the present one offers a very good target for
comment.

THE UNKNOWN SHORE.

The mishap that has befallen MauriCE MAETERLINCK’S lecture
tour is especially to be regretted because the message he bears for
the public is distinct, and probably unique. For almost three-
quarters of a century the newer order of psychic phenomena has
interested the public exclusively as giving evidence of the immortal-
ity of the human spirit and the presence about us of the souls of
the departed. A world in which the old faiths have been modified,



66  Journal of the American Society for Psychical Research.

the old convictions weakened, grasps eagerly at every proffered evi-
dence of the dignity and permanence of the individual life. To
MAETERLINCK as to the rest of us that is the most engrossing, the
most significant problem. But, poet and mystic philosopher though
he is, he stands alone among popular exponents of the new knowl-
edge in preserving an attitude fundamentally scientific.

The popular instinct is to explain the vague and the mysterious
in terms of the still more marvelous. The true scientist proceeds
solidly, step by step, from the known toward the unknown. In
this matter of the future life the Belgian poet is much more a
skeptic than the great English physicist. The evidence which has
convinced Sir OLIVER LopGE that he holds communication with the
spirit of his son leaves MAETERLINCK doubting. Those in charge
of his tour entitle his lecture “ New Proofs of Immortality.” His
own title, which was printed on his first program, is “ The Unknown
Shore.” His mind is open, his imagination is enkindled, his desire
for the ultimate truth is vivid and impassioned; but his point of
view and his method are as soberly scientific as when he wrote
“The Life of the Bee.” We catch many suggestions—stray
glimpses, perhaps—of the great beyond; but the shore remains
unknown.*

In his lecture at Carnegie Hall, M. MAETERLINCK confined him-
self to the more concrete and determinable phenomena. Table
tapping, table tipping, and “levitation,” once the marvel of the
commercial “ medium,” have been subjected in Paris, in Naples, and
in Vienna to rigidly controlled research. We have been told that
they are caused by the “odic effluvia ”—an emanation from the
body which generally appears as a radiant aura, but which at times
transforms itself into a sort of limb, capable of exerting at great
distances forces that are both dexterous and powerful. With equal
facility it opens a watch or makes a grand piano dance. As to this
the testimony from scientists of the first rank is overwhelming—in
spite of the fact that the experiments take place by means of
mediums who are generally hysterics, who produce their phenomena
from a state of trance, and who almost without exception have been
caught sooner or later in trickery and fraud. Especially significant,
in M. MAETERLINCK’S opinion, are experiments reported [1851]

*This point of view as to “ The Life of the Bee” is not that of scientists.
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from Austria. REICHENBACH professes to have separated portions
of the odic effilyvia and lodged then in inanimate substances. A jar
thus impregnated has been subjected to extremes of cold and of
fire and has still retained the odic properties. In some obscure
manner the effluvium is said to retain a relationship to the body
from which it is detached. A pitcherful of impregnated water was
thrown into the street in winter and the young woman from whom
the effluvium was taken caught cold. Whether these results justify
us in regarding the odic substance as soul or spirit M. MAETERLINCK
does not say.

He is equally reticent as to its relationship to the so-called sub-
conscious or co-conscious mind. This is the most difficult field of
research—also, in all probability, the most fruitful. The results
stated by psychologists are well known. Thus in his *“ Multiple
Personality ” Boris Sipis records the case of a minister who, as
the result of a blow, developed a wholly new personality as ignorant
and helpless as a new-born child. In “The Dissociation of a Per-
sonality ’ MorTON PRINCE records the case of a young woman who
developed four distinct and sharply contrasted personalities, which
contended bitterly for control of her body, each gaining the victory
only to be dethroned by another. Hundreds of analogous cases have
been recorded throughout the world. In many instances these
“ co-conscious ”’ personalities are said to possess extraordinary men-
tal powers—absolute memory, lightning” calculation, telepathy,
mind reading, and sometimes, though rarely, prophecy. To the
scientific mind they are closely analogous to, and possibly identical
with, the phenomenon of the so-called “spirit control.” In one
respect the similarity is highly significant. Both subconscious per-
sonality and “ spirit ” control are as a rule quite destitute of moral
responsibility ; they are given to clever tricks and impostures, and
are vainglorious in the exploitation of their often brilliant powers.
There is probably no feat of the “spirit” control that cannot be
duplicated in the records of the merely psychologic researcher. M.
MAETERLINCK’S reticence as to this phase of his subject is probably
temperamental ; the babble of “ medium ” and ouija board has little
appeal for the truly imaginative. He did remark in passing that
the Psychical Research Society has apparently authentic record of
some hundreds of apparitions ; but he did not discuss the crucial ques-
tion—whether these “ ghosts ” are to be regarded as manifestations
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of the odic effluvia of some person still living or as guests from the
unknown shore.

We are face to face, obviously, with a region of phenomena of
the utmost interest; but as yet we are very far from being justified
in taking them as “ new proofs ” of a personal immortality. Scien-
tific research is bound, so far as may be, to relate and identify them
with the powers of mind and body which, as far as we know, are
mortal. Yet it would be equally unscientific to conclude that, be-
cause the new phenomena relate themselves to powers of the mind
already ascertained, the hypothesis of an unknown shore is excluded.
The ultimate test of the scientific mind is that it is open to all
conviction. Meantime, M. MAETERLINCK lays chief emphasis upon
the marvels of the mind forces that inspire us, and upon their
apparent identity with those cosmic forces, also forces of mind,
that so tenderly paint the butterfly’s wing and merrantly whirl the
stars in their courses.

The first remark to be made in regard to this editorial is
that the writer seems to suppose that M. Maeterlinck is a scien-
tific man because of his belief, and not because of his work. M.
Maeterlinck has done very little, if any, investigating. He has
read and written on the work of other people, mainly. If it is
to be decided whether a man is scientific or not by his opinions,
you would probably not find enough scientific men in the world
to be considered at all.

A man is not called an hlstorlan because he has opinions
about Iustory

A man is not called a geologist because he believes in the
Darwinian evolution, but because he has done work in geology.

The author of the editorial refers to table-tapping, table-
tipping, levitation and other phenomena. He mentions also that .
some medium was subjected to investigation in Vienna, Naples
and Paris, and that the authors explained the phenomena by
“odic effluvia”. The same writer seems to endorse that point
of view.

The only person I know of that was investigated in Paris and
Naples was Eusapia Palladino, but our writer is evidently care-
ful not to mention her because the New York Times once exposed
her as a fraud.
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Apparently the writer accepts also the statement that some
sort of limb or arm was ejected from the organism of the
medium, and that is interpreted as adequate to explain some
phenomena that really accompany certain forms of intelligence
apparently. The significance of table-tipping and table-tapping
has not been primarily the physical phenomena, but the intelligent
messages spelled out thereby. '

Are these messages effluvia, or are they expressed by effluvia?
Could the author tell us the difference between effluvia and a
spirit? ‘The ancients thought that fire was spirit. And I would
be quite as ready to suppose that “ odic” effluvia or any other
type of effluvia could just as well be spirit as matter, if it mani-
fested intelligence of any kind. All that is meant by ‘ spirit”
is something that manifests intelligence. You may call it what
else you please. It might be a chemical force, an atom, an ion,
or an aggregate of ions or electro-magnetic energy. The only
question is, whether it displays intelligence. If a brain can
think, as the materialist supposes, why isn’t it possible for some-
thing else to think, too? Is it not merely a question of evidence?

I wonder if the author really believes the incident about a
pitcher full of impregnated water being thrown into the street
and the young woman from whom the ‘ effluvium ” was taken
catching cold in consequence! I don’t think spiritualists ought
to be blamed as the only people in the world who are credulous!

The reference to secondary personality shows not the slight-
est knowledge of what secondary personality is. It is a descrip-
tive, not an explanatory term. But people have been so accus-
tomed to using the word as excluding the evidence of spirits that
they make it synonymous with excluding the existence of spirits.
There is no scientific ground for any such position. The writer
is very careful to mention Dr. Boris Sidis and Dr. Morton Prince
on secondary personality. He ought to know how the judgment
on their cases has been very greatly altered by the Doris Fischer
Case. '

But there is no use to argue with Editors of the newspapers
on matters of this sort; for their knowledge of the whole subject
is too superficial to take them as seriously as perhaps I have
taken them here. But they offer the opportunity for criticising
their intelligence, and the bias is so manifest in the matter that
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one cannot help thinking that the Philistine is on his last legs,
in such comments. . It is not necessary to defend the existence of
spirit in any such cases, but it is worth while reminding our
Philistines that credulity is not all on the side of spirits, for
there are many minds who will believe the most astounding
miracles if you will only use the physical word for them instead
of using some other.

All that we have to do is to mamfest patience, and Time will
laugh them out of court.

Contributions to the Endowment Fund have been received,
in response to the circular recently sent out, as shown below. It
will be noticed that Miss Irene Putnam has added very liberally
to the funds that she had already contributed from time to time
in the past. We noted in the Journal of June, 1919, what she
had contributed up to that date. She has now added to that sum
as noted in the following list, which renders her a Founder of
the Institute. The list is in order of receipt.

Frank W. Vedder.................. $200.00
EllaCory ....covvviiiiinninnnn.. 200.00
Frederick J. Tourtellotte ............ 200.00
Louis Gottschall ................... 106.50
G. W. Thompson .................. 10.00
Oscar Herrman .................... 100.00
Josephine L. Richardson ............ 5.00
Nellie M. Smith ................... 100.00
Carlos Bartels ..................... 5.00
Augusta A. Morris ................. 200.00
Mary C. Kinney ................... 5.00
Almira B. Millard .................. 100.00
Hattie B. Speed ................... 200.00
Helena R. Pouch .................. 20.00
Irene Puthnam ..................... 5,000.00
Emmie B. Butler .................. 100.00
Evans Browne .................... 100.00
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Pledged in addition to the above:

G. W. Thompson ..............c.... $40.00
Francis E. Hyslop ................. 5.00
Mary M. Hyslop ..........ccov.... 5.00
Helena R. Pouch .................. 80.00
George Herron .................... 200.00
Total pledged ............... $330.00

Total pledged and in hand........... $6,981.50
/
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INCIPIENT MEDIUMSHIP.*
By JamEes H. HysLop.

I have had experiments with a number of persons claiming
to be mediums who were regarded by many laymen and would
be regarded by all conjurers as frauds or fakes. Even better
developed cases with whom the phenomena appeared to contra-
dict the expectations or a priori ideas of the sitter had to come
under the ban of this verdict. In some cases, being familiar with
the pictograph process, I was able to free myself from presump-
tions of the ordinary investigator and not being primarily in-
terested in having the supernormal all the time, I was willing to
let things take their course and to be a mere spectator and
recorder of the facts. I have often found myself well repaid
for this patient and tolerant procedure. It led to a better under-
standing of the situation and to some enlightenment on the
process involved in incipient mediumship.

The claim that any message comes from spirits, especially
if the messages are characteristic and evidential, easily creates
the impression that we have a very simple situation to deal with.
It is conceived after the analogy of the telephone or telegraph.
The wire is construed as a mere medium for the transmission of
data which are in no way instigated or originated by the wire.
We interpret the message as coming from the sender without the
intervention of the wire to produce it. In mediumship we make
the medium a wire, a passive transmitter and not an originator
of the communication. It may be so in some cases, and may be
partly so in all instances. But there are enough data on hand to
modify the ordinary judgment in such matters. The case is
not so simple as the average man supposes, even in instances

*The present case was published in the Proceedings, Vol. XIII, under
the title “A Case of Pictographic Phenomena”, and it may be so regarded
here, tho I regard it as described above. While I do not publish the details
here, I have thought that readers of the Journal might be entitled to some
conception of the case because it involves such an important hint of the
processes that may go on in the development of mediumship.
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where the messages are supposed to be pure and unmixed with
influences connected with the transmitter. We do not have to
choose, as some persons imagine or insist, between spirits and
medium for the explanation of the facts. We may have an
interfusion of both and when this is once assumed or granted
there is a wide field of imagination or proof for the degree of
intermixture involved. “ Either spirits or fraud” is a simple
alternative and may appeal to the unthinking many who are
unwilling to believe or admit that the problem is much more
complicated. But it is not the alternative of the scientific man
who has had the chance to study the phenomena in private cases
where the motive is not impeachable in the production of the
facts. And when once we have discovered this vast region of
intermixture of foreign and domestic influences, we may learn
a little charity for professional mediums who may have suffered
from the hasty judgment of untrained minds.

The genuine phenomena have been imitated so often that it
will require the expert psychologist in many instances to discover
when the facts are bogus. Conjuring has simulated much and
can do more, and does it so cleverly that it has been necessary to
eliminate professional mediumship from the evidential problem
until we were put into a position to study professionals with
another standard, that of psychology alone, and especially ab-
normal psychology. Moreover, the tendency of many minds to
make up their beliefs at a single venture, instead of pursuing
their investigations at length, has handicapped the scientific stu-
dent because even the amateur will always suppose that the
standards of trained observers are not as good as their own eyes.
In an age in which every mountebank in the community, es-
pecially if he is noisy and sets himself up as an expert, can parade
as a judge, the impression created on many minds by his assur-
ance, is not easily removed even by a real expert. Hence, we
have been obliged in psychic research to avoid proper investiga-
tion of many professional cases which might have yielded rich
results for psychology whether normal or supernormal. But we
have reached a point where we may call a halt on the hasty and
dogmatic assumption of ordinary fraud and draw a line between
the flagrant abuses of mediumship and those undeveloped cases
which have to bear unjustly the odium of fraud and fakery.
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Besides there has been too much of a disposition to make the
criterion of fraud or of its liability the receipt of pay for the
work, as if the business man who goes direct from his office or
shop where he practises wholesale cheating could pass judgment
as a righteous man on the poor and innocent wanderings of an
untrained medium, because she does not deliver to him all he
wants or expects in clear language.

All these things must be taken into account in the presentation
of acts for intelligent readers of records. We must expose our-
selves to the accusation that we are credulous when explaining
phenomena that do not superficially meet the requirements of
the layman or the conjurer, both of whom are wholly unfitted
for the study of the problem, but have undue authority in the
verdicts so often passed upon the phenomena. The receipt of
pay offers a motive for dubious performances and is often the
basis of them. That will not be disputed. But no one can be a
good medium without devoting an amount of time to it which
is inconsistent with breadwinning. That has been proved in
private cases where the breadwinning was secured. We have
been able in such instances to watch the development so as to
form some conception of what we have to do in fairly and
properly estimating the claims of professionals.

Thanks to the long study of certain cases like those of Mrs.
Verrall, Mrs. Holland, Mrs. Piper, Mrs. Chenoweth and Mrs.
Smead, as well as many others whose work is less well known,
we are able to use a criterion for the study of professionals and
incipient mediumship alike. It is the peculiar symbolic method
often employed by them in the delivery of real or alleged mes-
sages. It enables us to push the line of distinction farther down
the scale between the wholly private psychic and the type that
will not bear the least scrutiny. This standard once obtained and
applied also throws light upon the vast territory between pure
messages from outside minds and those alleged facts which are
not such messages at all, a field in which most people had sup-
posed there was no intermundian territory at all. The sharp
and clear distinction between genuine and false was drawn in
such a way as to allow for no interfusion of different sources and
the reader or student was compelled to make a choice which is
as ignorant as it is forced. It ought to have been apparent to
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the merest tyro, where the undoubtedly supernormal existed, that
the phenomena were not pure representatives of foreign minds.
But in the necessity of admitting that foreign influences were at
work the impurity of the messages was ignored, while this very
impurity was made the pretext by the conjurer and layman for
wholly discrediting any claims to inexplicable facts. The in-
nocent and naive student was at the mercy of the man who
assumed that, if spirit messages came at all, they would be free
from the touch of living minds, and what was evidence of gen-
uiness was mistaken as evidence for spurious phenomena.

We are past that stage of the investigation, however, and
have reached a point by patient inquiry where we may dispassion-
ately pursue our work along psychological lines and by methods
that have proved to be fruitful in the discovery of crime. There
the investigator proceeds upon the knowledge that the human
mind acts upon certain well-known laws and will betray its
honesty or dishonesty by inevitable marks in unconscious action.
A sufficiently large mass of facts in any case will reveal whether
that mind is pursuing either an intentional effort to deceive or
merely producing automatisms that may or may not involve evi-
dence of transcendental influences. While a few incidents will
not suffice to settle such a question, a collective mass of them on
a large scale may do so, and it is only the patience of the scien-
tific inquirer that will open the way to a discovery and limit
the arrogance which allows of no standard of truth except the
most superficial one.

Now incipient mediumship offers us the best field for study-
ing the process connected with the production of the supernormal.
Where the psychic is well developed, the subliminal contributions
to the results are apparently so slight, except to the expert, that
we have no opportunity to discover what went on in the devel-
opment. Fragmentary as the messages often are, they are most
easily interpreted as transmitted without subliminal coloring.
But in the early stages of mediumistic development you will often
find such a mass of irrelevant and confused material that the
temptation is to reject the whole mass of stuff and not to reckon
with the psychic’s mind as red glass, so to speak, which gives its
own color to the landscape seen through it. It is just as true
that, in some instances of incipient mediumship the messages,
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real or alleged, seem to have no superficial indication of domestic
color, except the fact that the data are known to the subject.
That fact is sufficient to protect the psychologist against hasty
acceptance of its foreign origin. But most people, finding that
the material is not produced with the consciousness that deter-
mines ordinary letter or literary writing, assume that it is un-
adulterated spirit messages. Yet when carefully studied all such
cases develop a stage in which evidential messages do not come
with the facility of data known to the psychic, and this suggests
the possibility- that subconscious memories, represent the first
stage of all mediumship and that only in some instances does it
escape the symbolic appearance of the facts. We must compare
a large number of instances between the two extremes in order
to bridge the chasm between pure and mixed communications.
For the purposes of studying this aspect of the problem I
wish to reprint two records of experiments with a private person
which have been published in the Proceedings, Vol. XIII pp.
151-167 and 172-177. 1t is a peculiarly important case because
of two facts: (1) The private character of the mediumship and
(2) the peculiar type of pictographic or mental picture phenom-
ena involved. The nature of the facts will appear when the
record is read. I can here only emphasize the fact that it is a
pictographic case in which the memories of ‘the subject were in-
voked or elicited to interpret the messages which came to him
and this will be true regardless of the question whether they are
spiritistic or telepathic. I quote the two records below.

BosToN, Mass., Ocr. 131H, 1917.

Some weeks ago Mr. Moriarty of Lynn, Mass., wrote me, send-
ing a clipping from the paper of that city, telling me of his
experiences with several people. The experience would be class-
ified by most people as telepathy. There was no clear indication
in the article which the reporter had published of what was really
going on, but it was evident that certain events were occurring of
a coincidental character, no matter whether they had a normal
explanation or not.

Inquiry of the gentleman brought us together and he came to
see me here in Boston to talk his experiences over and if possible to
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give me some evidence of their genuineness and interest. Mr.
Moriarty is a real estate man and runs an employment bureau. He
is a Catholic by religious profession and hesitated long to pay any
attention to what now and then invaded him. He told me in his
conversation that he had noticed the phenomena for many years
in his experience, but paid no attention to them until very recently
and then found relief of mind by heeding them and began to realize
that they were important and might be helpful to the world.

I soon learned from my conversation with him that the mode of
their occurrence was peculiar. When certain people came into his
office he would have an hallucination, either of vision or hearing,
the latter a voice, which, by inquiry, he found to be pertinent to
that person. It might signify his business, his hobby, or some im-
portant interest in his life, or his disposition. Trying this out in
a number of cases, he resolved to experiment with it more fre-
quently and interrogate the person present as to its meaning, or
himself seek the interpretation through the voice. He found him-
self and the symbol so often correct, and the impressions that he
received so apparently coming from outside intelligence, that he
came to believe in the existence of spirits and their power to impress
him. It was at this stage of his experiences that a lady, to whom
he mentioned the facts, sent him to me and our conversation was
the result. I then made arrangements to have some experiments
which I conducted this evening.

He had present two friends, father and son, whom I shall call
.Miller, to conceal their identity. He had impressed them with his
phenomena and he seems to have been especially successful with
the young man. When he did not have spontaneous hallucinations,
he would have the person with whom he experimented write down
some name, that of a friend whose habits of life the person knew,
conceal the name, and Mr. Moriarty would proceed to let these
symbolic hallucinations occur and he would interpret them, either
through the voice or through his own inferences and associations.
I took up this method this evening to see what would occur under
his own conditions, using the young man first as the person to write
down the names. He wrote them down on a small pad, usually
when Mr. Moriarty was out of sight in another room or with his
back turned, there being no mirrors in the office. As soon as the
name was written, the paper was turned upside down on the desk
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or held upside down in the hand. There was no doubt in each case
that Mr. Moriarty did not see the writing done and could not see
the pencil move. Usually he received a symbol before the writing
began, but while the young man was thinking of the name, and
proceeded to hunt for an interpretation of it. The name was never
mentioned or shown to him until after Mr. Moriarty had finished
with his impressions. We all remained silent, except to answer
questions which he often asked to know if his impression had any
meaning. Nothing was told him in these answers that would do
more than to make him feel he was going in the right direction. He
always got his impression before he asked a question and so before
any help was given, and that help was nothing more than en-
couragement, unless the record may show that he might have had
the basis for inference and guessing in the character of the reply to
queries. The following is what occurred.

While the young man was writing a name Mr. Moriarty was
at the other end of the room with his back turned and himself
uttered the name Whalen. He then asked the young man if he was
not thinking of a girl and he admitted he was. In a few moments
Mr. Moriarty uttered the word pocketbook and the relevance of
this was admitted, when he went on to say that the young man
carried this pocketbook which belongs to the girl. This also the
young man admitted.

The meaning of the name Whalen was not apparent in this, as
it was not the name of the girl thought of by the young man, the
agent. So I asked Mr. Moriarty what it meant, and he explained
that he knew a man by the name of Whalen some year or two ago
whose pocketbook was stolen by a woman whom he also knew. He
futher explained that the voice had said to him this incident was
the same as the Whalen incident, except the theft, which had not
been committed by the young man.

The interesting feature of this incident, assuming that it is not
explained by previous collusion between the parties, is the circum-
stance that the percipient’s memory, Mr. Moriarty’s, was jogged
to get the message through. The idea, it seems, could not be directly
transmitted, but was embodied in terms of the percipient’s memory
of a similar incident.

We proceeded to the second experiment. Before the name was
written down but while the agent was thinking of it, Mr. Moriarty,
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the percipient, saw a barrel hoop. The agent admitted it was rel-
evant and then admitted that he was thinking of a woman. Her
husband was a shipper and his occupation was that of putting
barrel hoops on barrels shipped by the company.

Before the next name was written the percipient uttered flat
iron. It did not seem to have any meaning to the agent, who had
written the name of a man, tho this was not revealed until the end
of the experiment. Then the percipient got the word wax with
flat iron. This was a natural association or inference from the
words flat iron, but still it conveyed no meaning to the agent. The
percipient then felt that things were mixed or confused, and went
on for further hints in the way of symbols and got the words
pickles or cucumbers. The relevance of this was at once admitted.
The man whose name was written is a grocer and deals in all sorts of
vegetables, including pickles and cucumbers. The meaning of the flat
iron was still to be determined. Mr. Miller remarked that the grocer’s
wife had been a very hard worker and devoted to the children, and
that she was dead. [1]

Before the agent was able to write the next name, the percipient
remarked that the person had no relation to the agent either in
blood or business, which was admitted to be true. Then he saw a
barrel of flour, and then a square, not a carpenter’s square. But
the meaning was not discoverable by the agent. Then the percipient
remarked that the person was not a member of the family, which
was true. He then saw the word fire or heard it, and added that
the person was not a blacksmith, tho he saw an old forge or fire-
place with bricks around it, and the agent remarked that the person
was middle aged, in response to the question of the percipient
whether he was young.

The percipient then proceeded to translate the allusion to the
barrel of flour, as its meaning was not discoverable by the agent.

1. It is possible that the words “flat iron” were a relic of a mental
picture representing the woman hard at work with household labor. This,
of course is pure conjecture, but it fits with the general method and the
frequent ignorance or silence of Mr. Moriarty regarding either attendant
phantasms or various interpretations floating through his mind. Tt is pos-
sible that many of his phantasms are the same. For instance, the “pickles”
and “cucumbers” may be a part of the picture of the grocery and its contents,
the remainder of it being inhibited in the subconscious.
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He got the successive voices: “ It makes bread, bread rises, they
raise Hell. They are a rough house crowd.” This was decidedly
admitted by the agent and his father. Then the percipient got the
words “ Can’t elope.”

The agent had written the name Newhall. He is a married man.
The percipient had not seen or known of the writing. [2]

Again before the agent could write a name, the percipient being
at the other end of the room and I between him and the agent,
he saw a silver shoe, and then remarked at once that it was not
what he wanted to get at, and saw a fur cap. He asked if it was
fur or felt, but no reply was made. He then added that he thought
this person either likes fur or is an expert in fur. No answer was
made to the statement. It was evidently his own mind trying to
interpret the symbol from the suggestions of previous experiences.
He then asked if the person worked for the city and the answer was
in the negative. Then he asked if he was in the family and the
answer was, Yes. Asked if the agent knew about the hat the answer
was, Yes; but No, to the further question if it was fur.

The percipient paused to remark that he had known a man a
few years before who lived on another street who constantly wore
a fur cap in cold weather, and went on to add that the fur cap
might mean cold weather or an outdoor person.

Then came another symbol, a big icicle, and then he asked if the
person was himself, the agent, and the answer was, No. Then he
went on to ask if nature called the person outside, and no reply was
made. He then repeated the symbols of the fur cap and icicle, and
added that the person should be out of doors and needed an outdoor
life, and also that the person was a little crabbed. This was admitted
by the man himself who knew what the son had written. Then the

2. It is not easy to trace the connection between the idea of a “rough
house crowd ” and the two pictures obtained in this instance. The fire and
the forge might be a reminiscence of some old representation of “Hell”,
as it has sometimes been depicted, and is more likely to have been seen in
Catholic books than in recent Protestant ones. If we can put that meaning
on it the allusion to flour becomes intelligible as a means of getting the
word “raise” through. But the analogies are very remote and but for their
exact fitness with the situation, taken in connection with the roundabout
way of saying the man Newhall was a married man, it would not be in-
telligible. So far as I can see the point de repere of the whole thing is the
notion of “Hell” and the word “raise.”
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percipient said “ They say he is a star ” and he saw a star when he
heard it. He at once remarked that it referred to Mr. Miller, which
was correct, and he added that the word star described him exactly
as a friend. The man admitted he liked outdoor life and needed
it. [3]

From the time that the percipient discovered that the person
whose name was written was in the family there were traces of
guessing and the last symbol might be due to this discovery.

The next experiment began with an apparition of a rake and
there was a long pause to find its meaning. Again the vision came
before the name was written. Then came a rubber boot, a long
legged rubber boot, and the agent was asked if he knew the person
well. He replied that he did. Then came a coal shovel, an
angel, and the percipient added he might want to change angel to
a crucifix or a statue. Then he saw rubber hose. The agent was
then asked if he could connect the rake with the person and he gave
the answer that he could. Referring to the rubber boots the per-
cipient asked if he dug clams. The answer was that the person
digs. Asked if he was a coal heaver the answer was, No, and added
that he was a‘reckless sort of a fellow, and loafs much. Then came
the word religious at once and apparently without any meaning
and certainly without any apparent relevance to the symbol of the
rake and boot. The young man, the agent, at once remarked that
the fellow had just gone back to the church and was quite an
angel of a fellow for the last week. Asked how long he had been
out of the church the reply was for some four or five years. Then
the agent was asked if the person had used a shovel or rake in the
dumps and the reply was that he had done so all summer. [4]

The first thing seen in the next experiment was a music box or

3. Again the symbols for an out door life are remote and but for the
percipient’s discovery of its meaning it could never have been conjectured,
tho its relation to cold weather, then existing, would be noticeable enough.
There was some confusion in the effort, but all the symbols pointed to the
same thing when once discovered.

4. There are more definite traces of the direct mental picture in the
reference to a “rake” in this case. The shovel, and the rubber boots
are a part of such a soene as working in the refuse dumps. Perhaps also
the phantasm of an angel is nearly direct, tho it involves a pun in the inter-
pretation of it, which had to be made clear by the auditory automatism
“ religious.”
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piano, the latter being the correction of the first. The name had
been written before this came, but the percipient had not seen the
writing done. Asked if he knew the person, the agent replied in
the affirmative and then came the further question by the percipient,
if the person was in the family and the answer was, Yes. The
percipient then saw a knife, and after a pause remarked that he did
not like the looks of the knife. Asked if it was Frank the reply
was, No. The percipient then added that he could only say that he
did not like the knife and thought it a warning and added that he
did not often get this sort of thing. After a pause he said it was a
dirk. Then a pause again and he asked, “ The person has never
been attacked befote, has he?” Upon the answer No, he then saw
an apple. Then he discovered that the dirk was possibly a golden
cross and remarked that it turned to something pleasant, but he did
not know its meaning, and it remained equally enigmatical to the
agent and the rest of us. The agent was asked if the person was
not a female and said she was. Then the percipient said it was his
mother, a good guess from what had gone before.

The agent and his father then said the mother was a very re-
ligious nature and has a statue of the Savior with the cross on her
bureau, which the percipient had not seen. He then interpreted
the word apple as meaning the apple of the husband’s eye. [5]

I was then shown the name that had been written and it was
“ Mrs. Miller, Cath. (Catholic). The rest interprets itself. Mr.
Moriarty then drew what the knife had appeared like to him and
what had suggested a dirk, and it was a cross, which the dirk is.

I then took the place of the young man as agent and did the
writing of the names. While the percipient, Mr. Moriarty, had his
back turned I wrote the name Hodgson on the pad, holding it under
the table so that the young man could not see me write it. I then
turned it upside down and put it on the table, holding my left hand
on it all the time. The percipient walked the floor as he did in the
other experiments, sometimes being in the other room and some-
times pacing the office back and forth.

The first thing that came to him, and this was just after I had

S. The symbols in this case are explained in the record, but it should
be noticed that the confusion about the cross and the dirk is due to mis-
interpretation by Mr. Moriarty’s mind, or the picture was not clear at first. .
The vision of the apple was not interpreted and has no discoverable meaning.
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written the name, was spring and then he saw rocks and spoke of
them as referring to a place. I thought of Nantasket Beach which

Dr. Hodgson frequented in the summer, where there were rocks .

projecting from the water at places. The percipient asked if he
was trying to get me. I replied, No, and he asked if the place was
New York or here. I replied Here. He asked me if I had two
names in mind and I replied that I had not. He struggled further
to get an interpretation, but could not succeed. He then asked me
to let him try it over with another sheet of paper. I discarded the
one I was using.

At once he got an hallucination of a Pig or Hog, and wanted to
know if this meant anything to me. I saw that the word Hog
consisted of three letters of the name I had written, as I have had
it now and then through Mrs. Chenoweth, and simply told him to go
ahead, without admitting anything. He then asked me if he could
ask one question and I said, Yes. He asked me if I liked or disliked
the person, and I answered that I liked him. Then he asked if the
person was stout or slim and I replied that he was fairly stout,
being more so than the percipient and a larger man. Then I was
asked if I knew anything of his eating habits and my reply was
that 1 did somewhat know them. He enquired if he was fond of
pork and I replied that I did not know, tho I did know he was
‘forbidden by Imperator to eat it, but. the reference to it was a
natural suggestion of the apparition. I was further asked if he was
an overeater and I replied that he was not. Then he remarked that
he did not see good things about the person, later developments
showing that this also was a suggestion of the word Hog. There
was then a long pause and he saw a broom, and asked me if it was
myself and I said, No. He repeated the previous idea by saying he
saw the poorest surroundings around this person. He then said he
got a name about Pig or Hog and added the question whether I
.knew such a person. I said, No, and he asked if he dealt in any
business connected with Hogs or Pigs. I said, No, and he asked if it
represented in any way his disposition and I said, No. He further
asked if T had chosen this as a special fellow for the occasion and
I said, No, again. Then he wanted to know if I knew him in his
youth and, No, was the answer, and he wanted to know if the
person dealt in hogs when young and, No, was the answer. Asked
if I was his associate I said, Yes.
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But the struggle was given up, the percipient bordering on
nervousness. He had evidently tried to interpret the symbol natur-
ally and did not suspect what might have been going on; namely an
attempt to give the name in pictures, and the interpreter had got only
the three letters and thus diverted the mind from the real facts.
He had been so accustomed to guess at the meaning of the symbols
that he resorted to it here when he should have been passive. I
have several times got the name Hogson through Mrs. Chenoweth
and, if I remember rightly, in one or two other instances, one I
am rather certain of. [6]

We proceeded to a new experiment and before I had written
down the name he got the picture or the word wireless. 1 wrote
the name of my wife, Mary Hyslop, as I had written and concealed
the name Hodgson. He then asked if there was a D in it, after
getting the letter D. I said No (but it was possibly the omitted
D in the name Hodgson). On my saying, No, he asked if it was an
H or an A and I replied Neither, thinking of my wife’s name and not
of Hodgson at all. Then he wrote the word Down automatically
on the pad, and said he seemed to see writing. “ Down” had no
meaning to me, tho it might be a confusion of the effort to add the
D to Hog and to finish the name. But we cannot be sure of this.

He then said he saw a factory and added that it was a wooden
factory and was not high, only three stories. He then asked if
there was anything of a hit in the reference to a factory and I had
to reply that there was not so far as I knew. Then he saw a pair
of horses and immediately asked if a pair of horses took her away.
I answered, Yes, and he at once added “ or him whoever the person
was.” I noted the her and underscore it because I had given no hint
that the name was of a woman. But his deviation from it at once
deprived his hit of some value, as he did not take up the automatism

6. The confusion of meaning regarding the mental picture of a “hog”
is most interesting. It shows that he had not at all caught the significance
of what had come to his mind We may suspect that it came in the form
of a subliminal auditory phantasm and was converted into the visual by
a process like that of colored audition, and then his normal mind set
to work to find a meaning. It is probable that the letter “D” which soon
after came was an effort to correct his illusion and to complete the first
syllable of the name “ Hodgson.”
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which gave the her. He then asked if this person was dead and
1 said, Yes. He then saw a hearse and the two horses again and I
admitted that it was correct, and he asked me if I had mentally
asked them to prove it here. I admitted it pertinent, but that was
all. [7]

He then saw and drew a bottle on the pad. It resembled a water
bottle, and asked me if it was a laboratory man. I said, No, and
he asked if he had passed on and I replied, Yes. The allusion to
a bottle and a laboratory might have a meaning for me in connection
with my wife, but there is not enough evidence that my surmise is
correct.

There was a long pause and the percipient asked if I had a
code with him, having definitely abandoned the idea that it was a
woman and indeed apparently not having been affected by the
original automatism her. I concealed the situation by saying, No,
which would apply to the one in my mind and an indefinite
number of other persons. The percipient explained what he meant
by the reference to a code, showing that, instead of telling me at
first what he saw, he asked me about a code, when he should have
told me what he saw. He said he saw white lights floating about
and thought them some kind of -signals, and wanted to know if I
could translate them. I said, No, and there was a long pause.

The percipient then saw a figure which he drew as a horse hoof,
and wanted to know if the person rode horseback or was a jockey.
I said, No, and he then asked if he had been in business and I
said, Yes. He continued this idea by asking: “ He didn’t have a
business, did he ”? My answer was that at one time he did, and
he replied that he thought he was a business man. I had conjectured
by this time that he had in mind my father-in-law and the sequel
soon showed that I was correct. [8]

He then picked up the pad and quickly wrote the capital letter
G and asked if that fitted. I replied that it did and he further asked

7. It did not occur to me at the time that there was a factory not far
from the home of my wife whose name I had written here, but it was
not “wooden.” Moreover, the symbolism is so indirect we can hardly sup-
pose that the reference has this meaning. It is wholly irrelevant, however,
unless it has this meaning, so far as I can tell.

8. None of these symbols had any recognizable meaning and no attempt
was made to interpret them further.
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if it was his own G. I said, Yes, and he understood me to mean
that it was his own handwriting which I said it was not so far as
I knew. The percipient replied that he himself never made a G
in that way. He then said he thought of a bird trying to do some-
thing. Then came the following:

Shall I try to get the name?

(Yes.)

Capital L. Is that it?

(No.)

Is D right?

(No.)

[Pause.] Some one said cocoanut. There is a Ge [pause.]
Is that right?

* (Yes.) »
There are lots of Georges. Is there a change in the next letter?
(No.)

Geo ... [pause.] Is that right?

(Yes.)

Do you want the last name?

(Yes.)

[Long pause.] The first letter is hard to get. It looks like
Hell. It looks like H. Did I write it?

(No.)

Is the name Hare? Ham. Is that right?

(No.)

He has a hammer here. Ha ... b Is that right?
(No.)

[Pause.] Ham. They tell me only to say M and show me a
money sign. You said L didn’t fit.

(Capital.)

Halc ... Lobster. Then took pencil and wrote two capital
L’s on the pad. Then he said the young man had it and soon
uttered Hall which was what the young man was thinking of, hav-
ing caught what the name was.

Toward the last guessing will easily account for the success,
but it is not so easy to account for the “ Geo” and “ Ha” and the
letters L in this way. The young man could easily have guessed it
after I admitted certain things and so could Mr. Moriarty. He
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thought at first the name was Halpin, but without saying this at
the time.

The first series of experiments and results could be accounted
for by previous collusion between the parties, but not by any
jugglery on the occasion. This was impossible, but we might
assume that the affair was planned out beforehand. But the parties
were too transparently honest to entertain this supposition without
evidence. They were all Catholics and naive people. Any one
who knows them would recognize their honesty and exemption
from suspicion for trickery of any kind. A little contact with them
would prove this, tho it might require more and different experi-
ments to establish the fact beyond cavil.

But collusion would not account for the coincidences in my ex-
periments, whatever other theory, chance or supernormal, be sup-
posed. We might suppose that the man had primed himself before-
hand with data from my published reports and had given the partial
name of Hodgson from a guess and the whole name George Hall
from reading. But we should have still to account for the difficulty
in getting that of Dr. Hodgson in the form he did and yet did
not know what it meant when he got it, and also the coincidence
of the name George Hall with what I had written on the pad and
he had not seen. It will require further evidence to establish the
case beyond doubt.

It should be remarked that Mr. Moriarty told me that he had
not read anything on this subject, and any one acquainted with him
would be disposed to accept his statement without question. He
appeared transparently honest and his naiveté is such that you could
not suspect anything else. It was the same with the two persons
present. They were all perfectly unsophisticated people. There is
no reason to suspect the records on the ground of previous knowl-
edge or reading.

BosToN, Mass., Dec. 19th, 1917.

I had another experiment with Mr. Moriarty this evening. I
was alone. I conducted the experiment in the same manner as
before. The first name that I wrote on a slip of paper was that of
an old schoolmate and roommate at College. I wrote it out of Mr.
Moriarty’s sight and turned it upside down under my pad.
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Mr. Moriarty waited sometime, and got no picture or impression.
Then he got the picture of an umbrella and I remarked that it had
no meaning. He asked me if it had anything to do with the person
whose name I wrote and I replied, No. He then asked about rain,
if T had thought of it. I had not consciously done so at the time,
but thought of it just before starting and wondered a moment
whether I had better take an umbrella. Besides this it was raining
hard when I left Lynn the previous time. He then drew a series of
ciphers and thought they might signify a million dollars. This had
no meaning in reference to the name, unless by contrary, as the boy
was very poor. Then he asked me if I had thought of the previous
night when I was there and I replied, No. Again he thought of a
hack, evidently repeating from memory the image of the two
previous occasions. This was without meaning. Then he got lights
and said they were like those he saw when my friend came two
months ago. He thought it meant a certain amount of power
around the person. There was no meaning in this. Then he saw a
picture of periwinkles, but this was without meaning. Then he saw
a book as large as the telephone book. If this had been developed
symbolically it might have been made relevant. He then saw gold
letters in the book which were fancy letters, but he could not read
the words. The top of the book “ looked like a prayer ” and he tried
to spell a name, but the letters were jumping about. If this could
be taken as symbolizing a religious work it would be pertinent
as my roommate was a theological student. He then saw or heard
something about Fan and was not sure whether it was an elec-
tric fan or a name. It had no meaning.

The whole experiment was without any clear hits and on the
spiritistic theory I might expect such a result, as the man died
about 37 years ago and has never appeared in my work. Telepathy
should have gotten hundreds of incidents.

I then changed the experiment and wrote another name, putting
aside the first one. This time I wrote that of my stepmother who
died a little over two years ago. The first thing Mr. Moriarty saw
was the capital letter W and wrote it on the margin of the telephone
book. It had no meaning to me in connection with the name written.
‘Then he saw a brook or stream and asked if it was relevant. I
replied that it was not so far as I knew. Then he immediately got
me on a farm, as he saw a plow and the brook. I then recognized
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the relevance of the brook, as there was one in which we were
much interested and especially my stepmother. He then asked me
if he was too far back and I said, No. Then he saw a fountain, as
if in a flower garden and on being told it was not relevant, said:
“No, I think I can correct that now. I judge when they said
‘ fountain’ it is a cemetery: for they show me a cannon and take
me to Pine Grove Cemetery where there are cannon. This is used
to signify that the person is in the cemetery. Is this true?”’ I
replied it was. Here, Pine Grove Cemetery is a burial place which
he knows well and there are cannon in it. Now Pine Grove was
the name of the place in the West where my stepmother lived
before her marriage to my father.

There was then a flash like a sharp in music, but just one instead
of two or several. Then he said I see this person in a brown
casket. Is this correct? 1 replied it was, and he said he was trying
to look down into it. Then he was taken back to the brook and
thought of Phillips Brooks and asked if there was such a person
and I replied there was. He soon showed that he knew of the
statue of Phillips Brooks in Boston. But he changed the picture
of the sharp now to K, and I said it was not relevant. Then came
in fancy writing a picture of bronze letters dancing about. Then
he said that what he thought was a sharp was the letter S and then
he saw K. It was not the writing of a pen, but bronze. No
meaning to this. Then he was taken from the casket to a monument
with a metal statue on it, and referred to the statue of Phillips
Brooks in Boston. When I said I knew of it he said spontaneously
that they were mixing him up in this. Then he saw a lady’s statue
facing him. He said: “I thought it was a man, but I see a lady
facing me, with large wings. I suppose they are the symbol of an
angel.” He asked if he was near what I had in mind. I merely
asked him what he meant and he asked me if it was a man. I
replied, No. He then explained what he thought the angel with
wings meant and referred to a large white cross and said: “ This
is a mother sure, for I see her holding an infant in her arms.”
Then he referred to the Catholic images for a mother, which showed
that his memory had been tapped again for symbolic indications
of the relationship, and saw a beautiful blue aura. He thought it
my own mother because of the relationship indicated, but in this
he was mistaken. Then he seemed to get the impression that the
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mother was trying to get the infant to talk. There was no recog-
nizable meaning in this. After a pause he asked if I was born in
the country. 1 said I was, and asked if we had the conveniences of
a city and I said we had not. He then saw the picture of an out-
house which he defined correctly and said it was red. This was
not correct, tho the outhouse was an incident of my boyhood life.
Then he got the picture of a buck-saw lying up against the
house, and asked if this was familiar to me. I said it was, for I
used to use a buck-saw for cutting waod for my stepmother. Then
he said: “ They show me what seems to be a cedar tree.” I asked
where and he said it was connected with the surroundings. I
asked him to locate it more exactly, if he could. He replied that
it seemed to be off from the corner of the house and that it must
be seen at the left hand side corner. He referred to the peculiar
color of the house, and on being asked what the color was said it
was not red. I thought this wrong but did not say so, because I
was thinking of the living house which was red. He drew a picture
of what he meant and where the cedar tree was. He placed the
tree at the left side of the end of the house but at the wrong corner.
But it soon flashed into my mind that it was the milk-house that
was in mind or that exactly fitted the case, and this was not red.
The cedar tree was at the left hand corner of this. He then wandered
for a moment to the stairway in the living house and spoke of it
as a new stair and the old one as having been taken out. This was
true enough, but no special significance attached to it. Then I
asked him to locate the cedar tree more definitely. He asked if
it was in the way. I said it was not correct, but that I wanted him
to stick to it. I saw that, if he meant by “ way ” the path, it was
nearly correct, but did not give any hints. He then remarked that
there was something odd about the location. I remained silent and
he said they take me to a house on Ann Street where there is a
tree at the corner of the house.” I told him to go further with it
and he said: “ They show me a narrow or angular thing and a fence
by the road.” He then seemed to be taken up stairs and made an
allusion to a wheel chair. I said it was not relevant and he asked
if there was any one by the name of Wheeler connected with it
and I said, No. I asked him to explain the angular shaped thing
and he compared it to a tent which it resembled in the drawing.
He asked me if it had anything to do with it and I replied that
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it did symbolically and he referred to a soldier, a manifest interpreta-
tion by his own mind. I told him he was off the track, and asked
him to find out what the angular figure meant. He saw the picture
of a fireman’s axe and drew a picture of it. This had no meaning
to me. 1 then asked him what else was beside the house as well as
the cedar tree. He saw something like a horse shoe and thought
it betokened a blacksmith shop. I denied it. He wanted to know
if the person believed in luck. I said, No. Then he saw a pigeon or
rooster on a pole and thought it was a weather vane and saw this
up in the air. He thought it was too large for a pigeon and too
small for a Bantam rooster. There was a weather vane with an
arrow on it not far off, on the barn. Then he saw a flat runged
chair and asked if there was such. I said there might be, but I did
not know. I think there was such a rocking chair in the house.
I pressed him for what other thing was near the cedar tree. He
saw some staging and drew a figure of a sort of scaffolding about
the house. This was pertinent to that period when the old house
was rebuilt. Then he saw a hammock and drew the figure of one.
I remained silent and he saw a black cat and a grape vine. I
remember nothing of such a cat, but remember the grape vine. It
was not near the cedar tree. He then suddenly picked up the
telephone book and, pointing to the capital W which he had written
at the beginning of the experiment, asked if that symbolized what
was near the cedar tree. I said it did. He said “I don’t want
the house,” and asked me if I knew any one by the name of Wells
and I said I did not. He said he got it by recalling the name of the
sheriff of Lynn who was named Wells. He then asked me if it was
a well. This was correct.

The facts were these. There was a small cedar bush planted in
a tent shaped or pyramidal shaped pile of stones and it grew up to
quite a large tree. It was at the left hand corner of the milk-house
and there was a fence by the road not far “rom it. The well was
very close to it.

I then brought him back to the brook and he correctly drew
a picture of its running under the road, but he got no nearer its
meaning. I tried to get its name, but he referred to Winding Brook,
which was wrong and then he wanted a pebble, and asked if this
was relevant and I said, No. He tried Window Pane brook which
was wrong. But “Pebble” and “Pane” had the letter “P”
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which was the first letter in its name. He then saw clouds and a
storm and then saw an Indian for a moment. He spoke of a
messenger trying to get the name, and said this was the first time
he had seen an Indian. He then saw the picture of a kettle on its
side and thought it represented the letter O. Then he saw the
Indian stoop or fall and asked it it was Rainbow. I said it was not.
Then he saw a goat then a big load of empty barrels. Neither had
any meaning. I pressed for more than the letter O and he got I,
which I admitted and then he got S which was not what I had in
mind. The allusion to the Indian stooping or falling and the letter
O had reminded me of a story by which my father said some one
had explained the name Ohio which I thought he might be trying
to give. But the effort did not succeed in getting any evidence. The
experiment then came to an end.

After it was over Mr. Moriarty said he felt much as if he had
been going into a trance at times. This I would expect after a
number of sittings with myself. The interesting symbolism is very
noticeable here, especially in the use of the man’s memory to get
symbolic imagery.

COMMENTS.

Mr. Moriarty kept a real estate office, insurance agency and
employment bureau, and these phenomena had existed a long
time, but he suppressed them. Iie was sensitive to public opinion
about them and would not allow them either to manifest or to
be known, until their insistency forced him to try their perti-
nence a few times and his success emboldened him to try it
more frequently with the result that my attention was called to
the phenomena through the advice of Dr. Morton Prince to Mr.
Moriarty. The consequence was the above experiments. The
freedom from professional interests and the transparent sincer-
ity of the man made it important to examine into the facts and
I soon found that they were a rare phenomenon in respect of
the form which they took. It is apparent to any reader that
they represent some form of mental pictures, whether regarded
as genuine or simulative, while the coincidence with facts un-
known to Mr. Moriarty insured a meaning that placed them
beyond suspicion for pretension. The conditions of the experi-
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ment excluded normal knowledge from the facts around which
the mental pictures played and the circumstance that chance
could hardly explain them removed them from a merely casual
interest.

In a melée of apparent guessing like this we have to be careful
to see either that the guessing is legitimate or that it is beyond
chance coincidence. I was helped in determining the choice be-
tween these alternatives by the fact that the pertinent coinci-
dences were too frequent, and too apt, to be considered as due
to chance and, that once decided, the erroneous phenomena had to
be referred to attempts to interpret stimuli from without, what-
ever they were. This fact threw light upon the procedure of
many psychics who seem only to be guessing wildly or to be the
victims of subliminal fancies.

In the first experiment the Whalen incident gave the clue
to what was going on. Taken alone, of course, it would not
suffice to determine this, but it was supported by exactly similar
instances later and they showed that the man’s own memories
were elicited to interpret influences which did not appear on the
surface. There was a gap or chasm between what had been con-
veyed to Mr. Moriarty’s mind and what was evoked to give it
meaning. The thing conveyed was so like his knowledge of the
Whalen incident that his mind either could not get it or his
normal sensory memories had to be aroused to ascertain its
meaning, and whether subliminal association was employed or
some other process not recognized by ordinary psychology we
do not know, tho it is probable that association subliminally was
a factor in the result. In any case processes were supressed
between the sending of the stimulus and the interpretation of it.
Both subconscious and normal processes were invoked to find the
meaning and the memory of some actual incident in his ex-
perience was elicited to enable the normal mind to guess or infer
the facts in the mind of the agent or sitter.

Not all the incidents are like this, or at least they do not
clearly exhibit elicitation of memories of specific incidents. They
are general, tho they illustrate the same process. Sometimes the
picture is evidently of the orthodox type in the pictographic
process and represents the appearance on the surface of an
image that is transferred and caught exactly. In such cases they
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are sometimes self-interpretative, as in the pictographic work of
Mrs. Chenoweth, but they are often the symbolic image from the
memory of Mr. Moriarty which he has learned to use as in some
way representing what is in the mind of the communicant,
whether living or dead.

Here we have a situation in which guessing is perfectly legit-
imate. It is an attempt to interpret stimuli coming from the
outside. What the stimuli are or what form they take we either
do not know or they are mental pictures which do not seem
intelligible to Mr. Moriarty or any other subject affected by
similar phenomena. But in some way they instigate something
in the psychic’s mind which makes the phenomenon appear to be
guessing, and often it is guessing, but perfectly legitimate guess-
ing when we understand what is going on. It is an honest
attempt to interpret what is coming to the medium’s mind, and
perhaps what comes is not a discoverable or introspectively rec-
ognized picture at all, but some subliminal phenomena which
can only arouse normal memories that are either mistaken for
spirit messages or used to guess from or interpret something of
interest to the sitter. :

There is evidence in Mr. Moriarty’s experiences that he
sometimes gets what I may call the direct picture, the exact dupli-
cate of what is transmitted to him. In one instance not connected
with the records in this article: namely, in the case of a Mr. X,
Mr. Moriarty got a remarkably clear picture of some little
chickens. The sitter’s mother, whose name was written down
out of Mr. Moriarty’s sight, was very fond of raising chickens.
This device was employed to prove her identity. The picture
was not a special incident in the life of Mr. Moriarty, but one in
the life of another. But the Pine Grove Cemetery incident in the
above records is such a specific incident in the life of the psychic
and at least apparently was invoked to interpret what my step-
mother was trying to convey to him. I could hardly give this
interpretation to the fact were it not that it occurred so often
that it is probable that I have the correct view of the incident.
The recall of the name of Mayor Wells and the quick guessing
at the well which was in my mind is a clear instance of the
phenomenon and renders it probable that the recall of Pine Grove



Incipient Mediumship. © 95

Cemetery was pertinent and purposive, tho its apparently capri-
cious character makes it difficult to interpret it as proved.

The cedar tree incident is a mixed one, tho the connection
with the reference to Mayor Wells implicates it in the peculiar
method of Mr. Moriarty. The picture of the cedar tree was a
direct one and not necessarily an elicited memory of Mr. Mor-
iarty. So also was the pyramidal figure drawn and the line for
“ the fence near the road.” Here we have the direct rather than
the symbolic picture. But before it is completed it becomes
associated with symbolic pictures. It is probable that the refer-
ence to a fountain is an attempt to interpret a picture which was
either not clear or some general memory of Mr. Moriarty’s not
specified by him. I did not at the time or in my notes on it
recognize its possible relation to the pyramid of stones and cedar
tree. I thought it without meaning. But in a confused picture
the scene might well evoke the idea of a fountain, and the allu-
sion to it was so closely connected with the whole situation as
shown by my stepmother that it probably is a misinterpretation
of the stimulus presented. At any rate it is clear enough to
suspect that the subconscious or the normal mind of Mr. Mor-
iarty was trying to get at the meaning of something obscurely
conveyed to it.

I do not know of any better instance to illustrate the frag-
mentary nature of messages. Supposing that my stepmother
was trying to communicate to prove her identity, she might well
recall the fact of planting this cedar tree in a pyramid of stones
where it finally grew to quite a tree. But it took persistence to
succeed. The allusion to a fountain did not suggest it and the
allusion to Pine Grove Cemetery would seem to be irrelevant and
remote. Yet the very idea of Pine Grove Cemetery might well
be evoked by the mental picture of a cedar tree. But it was
later that the possible meaning of this was indicated, as it did
not appear till the cedar tree was mentioned after a number of
images suggestive of my stepmother had been mentioned. Ap-
parently a whole panorama of images was presented and the
mind of Mr. Moriarty had to pick out individual instances for
interpretation or mention. Some of the true images are remote
from others in the life of the communicant, but they represented
matters of interest to her and may have been diversions to insure
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that the main one about the cedar tree should evade the stress
of effort which tends to prevent transmission. However this
may be, and it is largely a matter of conjecture founded on more
experience than the present case, the group of coincidences seem
to exclude chance, especially as they center around the actual
name that I had written down.

The guessing is transparent, but the exclusion of chance co-
incidence justifies our serious treatment of the guessing as legit-
imate effort to interpret stimuli, and the one lesson it teaches is
some sort of charity for mediums or humility on our part in
passing judgment on them until we are sure that the processes
manifested are not morally legitimate. Incipient mediumship is
sure to present these features in many instances. The present
case proves that superficial indications are not conclusive, es-
pecially when untrained minds and conjurers set up for authority
on the matter. The secret of the phenomena lies too frequently
in those processes not accessible to any but the trained psycholo-
gist. The Freudian system shows this. The layman and the
conjurer would never suspect what is open to the man who under-
stands the human mind. Psychic research is as much a territory
for those experts as unfulfilled wishes in the life of hysterical and
other types of patients. Mediumistic claims must be submitted
to patient and intelligent minds before judgment is passed and
this whether the subject be professional or private. The solution
of the problem does not lie on the surface. The subconscious
process may simulate the spurious yet not be spurious at all.
Even the normal mind, we have seen, may legitimately guess,
if only we have evidence that foreign stimulus is at work, and
the presence of such influences can be detected by the patient in-
vestigator who has no personal and other bias to reckon with.
Undeveloped mediumship must be the subject of patient inquiry,
not necessarily for evidence of the supernormal, but for the evi-
dence for intermediary processes which throw light upon the
difficulties attending the transmission of genuine data. It is the
process involved that we now need to study more than the evi-
dence for the supernormal. That result does not always, if
ever, betray the nature of the process. It is the confusion and
the mistakes that reflect this characteristic far more than the
clear incidents. They indicate the intervening processes between
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the mind of the communicant and the delivery of the message.
It is in the study of these that we shall learn the difficulties at-
tending the investigation and the complications involved in the
receipt of the messages. So much depends on the dissociation of
the medium’s mental contents and those sent from the communi-
cating mind.

The subconscious is the vehicle through which the message
must come and the development of the medium depends on the
success with which the communicators or the cont™®s can elimi-
nate the influence of the subconscious memories from the mes-
sages. The functional action of the subconscious is necessary
for obtaining foreign impressions at all, but it must be trained
or must grow to dissociate the contents of its own ideas from
those which are delivered to it from beyond. We see in the
work of Mr. Moriarty the influence of both his subliminal and
‘normal processes on the impressions that come to. him. His
mediumship was in a transitional state from pure guessing at
foreign stimuli to the receipt of pictures that exactly represented
the memories of the foreign mind. And even this pictographic
process is an intermediary process between. interpreting stimulus
and delivering messages in their purity. But Mr. Moriarty’s
evocation of his memories is the first instance in which the in-
fluence of foreign impressions expressed themselves in specific
memories of the subject without betraying the intervening pro-
cesses, except in those instances where the pictographic process
took the form of exactly representing the transmitted picture.
In the eliciting of his memories it is probable that the intermedi-
ate process was suppressed in the subconscious and the instigation
of latent memories brought out pictures which were safe objects
for interpreting the meaning of what was intended, tho they had
to run the gauntlet of all sorts of error in this process. The
record shows what those errors were and but for the evidence
that chance coincidence does not explain the incidents as a whole,
the case would appear, at least superficially, to be either illegit-
imate guessing or pure illusions created by spontaneous asso-
ciation aroused like those of a chaotic dream life.

The cross reference experiment with the case confirmed all
this, as allusion was made to the man’s “ visions ” and * voices .
I cannot take space for the discussion of this. It is not necessary.
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Suffice it to say that cross reference yielded evidence that the
man was mediumistic, confirmed the incipient character of his
mediumship, and makes it necessary for us to reckon with the
possibility of such intervening influences in all cases studied. The,
layman’s judgment about fraud will have to be discarded, not
because it is wrong, but because it is not adequate to meet the
contingencies involved in the development of mediumistic phe-
nomena. Guessing and chance coincidence may be present, but
they may be accompaniments of a perfectly legitimate and sig-
nificant process in the course of incipient mediumship. Adequate
investigation of such cases may reveal far more genuine instances
than superficial judgments would allow us to assume. And be-
sides this they may be the only cases which will yield a proper
understanding of what goes on in developing mediums to the
point of complete dissociation between function and content of
subconscious action, in order to bring the psychic power to the
point of giving clear evidence as well as reliable non-evidential
messages. We can probably never completely eradicate subcon-
scious functions from the process, but we may eliminate the
contents of the medium’s mind from the messages, and that
seems to have been done to a greater extent in the mediumship
of Mrs. Piper and later in that of Mrs. Chenoweth than in most
instances which come to us from amateur investigators and un-
developed psychics. It is evident to patient inquirers that the
subconscious is in some way a factor in the results. The lan-
guage of the medium and often the very characteristic expressions
of the psychic are present—it is often evident in the work of
Mrs. Chenoweth—and the task is to work until we can dissociate
as much of this as possible from the results. In Mr. Moriarty
we find the influence of the medium’s mind at its maximum on
the data that come to it, often in some form not manifested to
the observer’s mind and perhaps kept buried in his own sub-
liminal, but betrayed as having come there by the discovered co-
incidence between his normal memories and the incident that a
communicant would tell to prove his identity. That almost
makes the case epoch-making. Whether it is this or not, it
widens the field deserving serious scientific consideration where
it has previously been dismissed as worthless. It is in fact here
that the secret of the perplexities in the problem will be dis-
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covered and explained. Some day these incipient cases of me-
diumship will be prized more than the well developed instances.
This will be especially true in marking the initial stages of de-
velopment in cases that reach the best farm of mediumship. We
can study the process in the making and form some definite
conception of the obstacles to communication.

There is a great chasm to be bridged between normal life in
which no impressions seem to be received and those in which the
message seems to be more or less unmixed. Mr. Moriarty’s case
helps to bridge this chasm in an unusual way, as it so clearly
betrays the process in his normal mind that borders on the use
of subliminal activities and in some cases is actually suppressed
in favor of the latter, and it would only require to develop him
to the point where the pictographic, as well as the interpretating
functions, were eliminated to see what is involved in the connec-
tion between a transcendental and a terrestrial world.
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EXPERIMENTS IN PSYCHOMETRY.
By Dr. WALTER F. PRINCE.

The term “ psychometry ”, like many others which we are
forced to employ, involves something of a petitio principii, which,
being interpreted, is a begging of the question. The definition
given in the Standard Dictionary reads:

“ An alleged occult power, said to be possessed by persons, of
divining, by means of physical contact, or sometimes by mere prox-
imity, the properties or character of a thing or of things with which
it has been associated, enabling them for instance, to diagnose
diseases by touch, read one’s character by touching his photograph,
or tell the history of a fossil or an antiquity by handling it.”

If at one point we insert the word apparently, making that
part of the sentence read “ apparently by means of physical con-
tact ’, we shall not impair the definition, and shall avoid the
petitio principii.

The distinguished conductor of the all too brief series of
experiments which we are to present was Dr. Frederic Henry
Gerrish, of Portland, Maine, whose record in Who's Who
(1918-1919) in part follows:

“ Lecturer therapeutics, materia medica and physiology, 1873-4,
prof. 1874-5, U. of Mich.; prof. materia medica and therapeutics,
1873-82, anatomy, 1882-04, surgery, 1904-11, medical ethics, 1911-15,
emeritus prof. surgery, 1911—, Bowdoin Coll.; Pres. Me. State Bd.
of Health, 1885-9; Shattuck lecturer, Mass. Med. Soc., 1910; con-
sulting surgeon and dir. Me. Gen. Hosp.; Fellow Am. Surg. Assn.,
Am. Acad. Medicine (pres. 1887-8), Am. Coll. Surgeons; mem.
Am. Therapeutic Soc. (pres. 1908-9), Société Internationale de
Chirurgie, Me. Med. Assn. (pres. 1901-2), N. E. Surg. Soc.; pres.
Alpha of Me. Phi Beta Kappa; advisory council Simplified Spelling
Bd.; gov. State of Me Soc. Colonial Wars, 1916—. Author: Pre-
scription Writing, 1878 ; Sex Hygiene, 1917. Translator and editor:



Experiments in Psychometry. 101

Championniére’s Antiseptic Surgery, 1881. Editor: Text-Book of
Anatomy, by American Authors, 1899.”

'Dr Hodgson wrote to Dr. Gerrish, requesting a report of
the experiments with a Mrs. Chapman, and received the response
which we now present.

PorTLAND, 24 Oct., 1891.
DEeArR MR. Hopeson,

Your letter, requesting an account of my observations in the
case of Mrs. C., has remained unanswered until now, owing to a
press of professional work ; but I fancy that the delay is unimportant.

It is but fair to Mrs. C. to state that she told me to begin with
that it was years since she had tried any such experiments, and
that she was distrustful of her ability to give a satisfactory test;
but, finding me interested in such investigations, she offered to make
the attempt.

I. She took a letter, enclosed in a large, official-looking en-
velope, from a little pile of letters, which had been received that
morning, and placed unopened and face down upon my table. I
had no knowledge of the source of any one of them; but I had a
suspicion that the one which she chose came from the secretary of
the Congress of American Physicians and Surgeons, and contained
some announcement relative to the then approaching meeting in
Washington. She closed her eyes, and applied the envelope to
various parts of her body. After a little she began to express her
impressions, and I took notes of all that she said. The substance of
these memoranda I give.

“This is from a doctor—a man. It comes from a wet place.
The letter may have a social guise, but there is an ax to grind be-
hind it. A very selfish atmosphere connected with it. There is
nothing in it relating to any particular patient.” (She held it
against the upper abdomen ; said that she couldn’t get it below that
region.) “I want to put it to the base of the brain, but a stronger
influence holds it at the abdomen.”

As she could get no more definite impression from it, I opened
the letter and found it to be from the directors of the Maine
General Hospital, accepting my resignation of the surgeoncy, and
expressing appreciation of my services, and regret at my withdrawal.
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II. Mrs. C. then took a rather small letter, and treated it as
she did the first. She almost immediately began to cough, and
continued hacking for several minutes. She said, “ This comes from
a woman, a patient. This cough means something. I think that she
has pulmonary disease.” In a few minutes she said that she felt
exhausted, and would make no more trials that day.

The letter proved to be from a lady patient, on whom I was
soon to perform a slight surgical operation. Subsequent inquiry
proved that she had no cough at the time of writing the letter, or
near that date, and nobody about her was troubled in that way.

ITII. The next morning after these two experiments, Mrs. C.
kindly gave me another test. From four letters, the contents of which
I knew, and which I took from my file, she selected one, using it
as in the preceding cases. It was not enclosed in an envelope,
but she could not read it. She reported as follows:

“This is from a gentleman.” (After a little delay spent in
manipulation of the letter, she stood up.) “ Now I feel easier, for
I speak like the writer of this letter. He has the habit of speaking
in public. He is much amused at your investigating hypnotism,
and also surprised. He is doubtful if it is the wise thing for you
to do, but he says, Go ahead. This is a man with whom you are
intimate. I feel an inclination to pat you on the shoulder affection-
ately. He is very pleasant. I like his influence, but yet I have a
queer sensation. He has great confidence in you: whatever you do
is right.” (I asked how old he seemed to be.) “ He seems older;
but I judge from the attitude of his mind,—the impression does not
come to me physically. He is a man of sterling worth. He is not
attractive to most persons. He has a strong character; he would
attract me, I know. He would be a splendid subject for hypnotism.
He is not a highly cultivated man—not a professional man. What
can he be, when he stands up and talks.” (She then balanced the
letter in her fingers and between her hands. Then she put her
fingers on her lips.) *“ These things mean something, but I cannot
tell just what.”

This letter was from a most intimate and valued friend, with
whom I have been on very close terms for more than twenty-five
years. Mrs. C. was not right in thinking that he deprecates my
psychical investigations, or in saying that he is not attractive to
most persons, or in considering him not a cultivated man. He is
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universally liked, and his influence is charming. He is a college
professor, learned and polished, and gives a great deal of his .in-
struction by lectures. She was strikingly correct in speaking of
his confidence in me, of his sterling worth, and his strong character.
He is a few months my junior; but I have always recognized his
earlier development, his far greater maturity in every way. Her
discrimination of this point strikes me as peculiarly interesting. If
she had read the letter, she could not have extracted any such idea.
Knowing the man’s judicial cast of mind and his discretion in
speech, I was much impressed with the dumb show of balancing
the letter and the placing of the finger on the lips.

IV. 1 next gave Mrs. C. the letter on which she had made the
second experiment of the day before. She almost immediately be-
gan to report her impressions. “ Oh, this is a delightful influence.
This letter comes from a very spiritual-minded person. She prays
a great deal, and tries to live the highest, purest, sweetest life. She
lives in close communion with God—or thinks that she does. She
has some peculiar attitude towards you. She has the greatest, the
highest respect for you, with a sweet and tender affection. I feel
no impulse to touch you, as I did when I held the other letter,—
no liberty to touch you. This woman is in frail health.”

This test was the most satisfactory of all in its results; for, if
I understand the writer of the letter, (and I ought to, after an
intimate acquaintance of many years) there was no mistake in
the description. She is a frequent and always most ‘welcome guest
at my house, and I am perfectly at home in hers, as she is the wife
of the writer of the letter with which the third test was made—my
most intimate friend.

I have written these pages in the midst of the distraction of
practice, but I think that I have given the essential facts. If I
have any other experiences, I will let you know.

I am interested to observe that Mrs. C’s capacity for receiving
impressions seemed to increase with practice. The first and second
attempts were total failures, or appeared to me to be so; the third
was largely a success; the fourth was brilliantly accurate.

With kind regards, I remain
Very sincerely yours,
FrepEric H. GERRISH.
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In order to give Dr. Gerrish an opportunity, if he saw fit to
do so, to add supplementary remarks, a copy of the original
document was sent him. He responded, under date of Dec. 13,
1918: '

“1 see no reason for making any change in the report that I
gave Dr. Hodgson twenty-seven years ago, and I am perfectly
willing that it should be published as it is, with my name appended.

I have no subsequent knowledge of the lady who gave the tests,
and have no additional experience to report.

Thereupon several questions were sent to Dr. Gerrish, and
he replied promptly, on Dec. 17th:

DEear Dr. HysLop:

So long a time has passed since my observations, which interest
you, that I have forgotten a number of the details; but I will answer
all of your questions that I can.

Mrs. C. knew that I was a doctor of medicine.

The cover of the first letter may have had printed on it an offi-
cial indication of its source, but, if Mrs. C. had read it, she would
have derived nothing that would have suggested the thoughts that
she expressed about the writer. I am confident that she did not
turn the letter over. She kept her eyes closed during all of the tests.

I had for some time been using hypnotic suggestion in my prac-
tice, and was enthusiastic at the results that I was getting in cases
where such treatment was properly applicable.

“ The percentage of correspondence between the statements and
the facts was” not “likely to have come about by chance coupled
with such inferences as she could draw from ” my “ being a doctor ”
(I am using, as far as possible the phraseology of your question.)

I am quite willing to trust you to use anything that I have said
in the premises. I use the word “quite” in its proper sense, and
not, as is frequently done, as meaning “ not quite ”.

Very sincerely yours,
F. H. GErrisH.

Members of the medical profession are usually the most
cautious of men in relation to ““ psychical ” phenomena, even to
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the point of being unwilling to report facts which have come
under their notice and for which they are not responsible, except
as mere observers. But Dr. Gerrish belongs to the sturdy class
who are not afraid of facts, or to.make a calm and conservative
estimate of facts.

The incident is now before the reader, who may make his
own deductions and form his own conclusions.
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INCIDENTS.

The Society assumes no responsibility for anything published under
this head and no endorsement is implied, except that it is furnished by
an apparently trustworthy contributor whose name is given unless with-

held by his own request.

A GROUP OF PREMONITORY AND OTHER DREAMS.

The following incidents came from the collection of Dr.
Hodgson. The same gentleman communicated with me about
other experiences after the death of Dr. Hodgson and these
must receive separate notice. It should be noticed that most of
the present series is well corroborated. The man who reports
them is not well educated, but he shows his appreciation of
what evidence is by his care in regard to dates and corroboration.

The following is the testimony of Dr. Hodgson himself in
regard to the man as a witness.—Editor.

December 29, 1904.

Geo. H. Taft called this morning and I had a talk with him for
about an hour. He is a clear-headed, absolutely sincere witness.
His profession he said was a Wax Maker, and he has turned his
attention to improvements and inventions in various minor matters.
He read over some of the fresh accounts of his experiences and
promises to make written memoranda at the time in future.

R. Hobcson.

Monday, Sept. 26, 1904. 8 o’clock in the morning.

I dreamed last night of seeing two blue letters (blue envelopes),
one thick letter and one thin, a white envelope between the two blue
ones and what seems strange, Mabel [a daughter] dreamed of two
blue letters, but no white one the same night. If two blue letters
are brought I shall ask the one that brings them to open this and
read it and write the date and time of day, and sign name before
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witness, as it seems doubtful to me, but still it was a very plain and

peculiar dream.

[GeorGE H. TAaFT.]

The above was simply a memorandum made by Mr. Taft.
On December 12th, Mr. Taft wrote an account of its corrobora-
tion with signatures, but he does not give the date of the receipt
of the letters. It was evidently some time between September
26th and December 12th. The following is the confirmatory
statement : .

The dream of last September was one of many dreams that I
have about everyday matters, but the one peculiar thing was that
my daughter, Miss Mabel, dreamed the same thing the same night,
only she dreamed who delivered the letters (I did not). I dreamed
that some one handed me three letters, two blue ones and one white
one. The white one was between the blue ones. One of the blue
letters was a thick one and one of the blue letters was a thin one.
I thought there was a check in the thin one. We had no reason to
expect two blue letters or a check in a blue letter. We received
the three letters as I dreamed and also a check which I have in the
thin one. In the thick one was an extra envelope containing a
dollar bill and 50 cents in silver, making a thick one. I wrote down
the dream, gave it to Mrs. Herrick. Please find same enclosed.

The enclosed Mr. G. H. Taft gave me, letter, for keeping.
Sept. 1904.

Mrs. GERTRUDE HERRICK.
Mgrs. Geo. TaFr.
A. E. Tarr.

The following is the letter which evidently called for the
account of which the above story is one. The incidents can now
be given in the order in which the writer gave them:

West Upron, Nov. 29th, 1904.
Dr. HopesoN,

DEAR Sir: In the Sunday Herald T saw a piece about telepathy
etc. I have been a dreamer for a great many years. A good many
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of these dreams I can prove by witnesses outside of my family.
Some dreams I can not, but the dreams I can prove ought (and I
think they would) be a satisfactory proof for reasonable minds of
_the other. I will cite only one dream of a great many.

I had a very vivid plain dream of a railway wreck in view of
the house. After the dream I could not sleep. I felt greatly
troubled. As soon as daylight [came] I went over where I dreamed
the wreck was and found as I expected that both clasps that make
the continuous rail broken clear off at the joint making practically
a broken rail.

I notified the G. and N. R. R. Co. and they put on new clasps,
without doubt, by so doing, escaping a disaster.

This is only one of a great many. My dreams have been those
mostly that can only be accounted for by admitting that they must
come from a spirit source.

Anything I can do to aid you in your work will be done. These
visions that we get are only broken threads from the other world.

In haste,
GeorGeE H. TAFT.

This letter evidently elicited a request from Dr. Hodgson and
on December 11th, Mr. Taft wrote a postal card telling of illness
and giving a promise that he would give an account of his
dreams with independent testimony regarding them. On the
next day he began the narrative which is as follows, omitting in
its order the one already quoted above. The first is a corrobora-
tive statement about the broken clasps on the railway.

But before writing the postal card announcing what he in-
tended to do, Mr. Taft had written some short accounts of
dreams on the date of December 5th, 1904. The first contains
more details about the dream regarding the broken clasps.

WEesT UproN, Dec. 5th, 1904.
MRr. Hobcson, i

DeAr Sir: About the R. R, clasps referred to in your letter
of December 2nd, 1904. My wife knew that I had had a dream
that troubled me before I went and found the broken clasps. When
I returned I went directly to a Mr. Fay (one of my neighbors),
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hired his team, went two and a half miles and notified the R. R.
Section Boss who had new clasps put on before the first train as
I wrote you. Mr. and Mrs. Fay both remember about it and would
give a sworn statement if required. This happened about sixteen
years ago. Of course the R. R. hands have all been changed.

) WEesT UpronN, Dec. 12th, 1904.
I sent you the dream about the broken clasps etc., so will not
repeat it.
Statement from Mr. and Mrs. Fay in regard to the same.

GRAFTON, Mass., Dec. 1904,

We both remember distinctly about Mr. Geo. H. Taft [coming]
for our horse (as claimed in his letter to you) and that it was to
notify the R. R. Co. about the broken clasps.

Eriza A. Fay. ~
Oris C. Fav.

MaBeL L. Tarr.
ANNIE B. TaFT.

DREAM ABOUT MARTHA GIBSON.
(Now dead.)

I dreamed of going into her sleeping room and seeing a form
covered entirely with a sheet, and as I looked the bosom rose and
fell as if breathing but the form remained entirely covered. This
was before she was taken sick, I think about ten weeks before.

I told this dream to Mr. Amos Smith, a neighbor, before she
was sick, with this remark: I want you to remember the dream and
also that I say that I think she is to be very sick and live or more
likely very sick and die, (as I read the dream). She died.

GRAFTON, Mass., Dec., 1904.

The above facts will swear to at any time.
AMos SMITH.
J. B. Tarr.
) MaseL L. TaFr.
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DREAM ABOUT PAUL ROGERS.
(Now dead.)

Dreamed about three weeks before his death. His parents were
Christian Scientist and every statement from them was that he was
improving.

I saw an open grave and beside the grave was a pair of boy’s
shoes. The impression came with the dream that they were Paul’s.
There was a mound covered with a canvas covering. This I could
not account for at the time of the dream, but at the grave the day
he was buried I saw the mound of dirt from the grave covered as
I dreamed.

GrAFTON, Mass., Dec.,, 1904.
The above are the particulars exactly as he told them to me.
AMos SMITH.
MaBEL TAFT.

7/

DREAM ABOUT MRS. ROBBINS.

I dreamed a dream about my wife’s mother (Mrs. Lucy Rob-
bins) about three weeks before she died, but the dream is too long
to be given here in detail. I told the parties whose names are signed
below of the dream and that she had only a little while to live.
One peculiar thing about the dream was a childish voice. I left
here about three minutes before she died going for the car to meet
my daughter, (it was at night.) and I heard the childish voice of
my wife’s sister’s little girl (Gladys Freeman) of Dorchester, Mass.
calling for me. She overtook me and wanted me to get the doctor
at once. When he came she [Mrs. Robbins] was dead.

The above is true as told to us by Geo. H. Taft before Mrs.
Lucy Robbins died.

W. E. RoBBINS.
MagBeL Tarr.
LETTIE SHERMAN.
GE0. SHERMAN.

It is unfortunate that the detailed account of the dream was
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not given, as dreamed before the fulfillment. The above ac-
count seems to be about the incidents that occurred at the time
of the fulfillment, with the implication of the witnesses that they
were incidents in the dream also.

I dreamed of seeing a watch and as I looked at the hands as
they passed each other at 2.10 caught together bound up (or bent)
but the watch kept running. When I got up I told my family of
the dream. They said I had dreamed a dream at last that would
not come true. At about 2, I took out my watch. The hands passed
all right. (My watch was a full sized Waltham.) Then my
daughter showed her watch. The hands had caught at 2.10 and so
hard that she was obliged to take off the crystal and take the hands
apart. It never happened before and it never happened after.
What mind could have made this impression? This dream I can
only prove by my own family.

The dream was as was written by G. H. Taft.

MaseL L. Tarr.
JENNIE B. TaFr.
G. H. Tarr, Jr.

In the same letter Mr. Taft says: “ Now by two different
dreams I say to you that her [my wife’s] father will without
much doubt pass over before April 1st. If I am mistaken in this
it will be the second mistake I have made in reading my dreams.”

There is no record of the fulfillment of this dream, tho there
are letters on file extending up to May 6th, 1905.

DREAM ABOUT MY SISTER’S HUSBAND.
I dreamed the Saturday before he died. Mr. L. M. Cobb, of
Norwich, Conn., was at Norwich at his home when he died. I was
at my home in Grafton.

I saw an open coffin and as I looked I saw his face and breast.
One arm moved as I looked and I saw large drops of moisture on
his forehead and a very dark look [?] to lower part of face. He
died of apoplexy. The dark look [?] was there and the drops of
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moisture. (So my sister, Mrs. L. M. Cobb will prove if necessary.)
I dreamed Saturday night, received telegram Monday morning.
MaBEeL L. Tarr.
G. H. TaFr, Jr.
JEnNIE B. TaFr.

ANOTHER DREAM.

My son has had a number of hogs. At the time of the dream
they were kept in our barn. Under very peculiar conditions I
dreamed that I saw a peculiar cut on one hog resulting from an
injury from a nail. I saw this very plainly. I went out in the
morning and saw this precisely as dreamed.

The following dream, like the one above said to be too long and
too hard to explain for me to write it all out, is so conclusive from
the evidence outside my family, that I have concluded to write it.

I dreamed what was very close to me, that Mr. Furbas.h, a very
well-known business man of Grafton was to die about the time the
ground would freeze. This I dreamed about six months before he
died. (I think before he was taken sick.) This dream also told
of another death that came true. He, S. A. Furbash, died the
[week?] before Thanksgiving.

G. H. Taft told us that S. A. Furbash would die about the time
the ground would freeze as written\above.

Lewis A. STONE.
MARrY STONE.
S. F. LeoNArD (Selectman).

Dr. Hodgson died on December 20th, in 1905, and the
remainder of the correspondence was looked after by Miss Ed-
munds. On April 10th, 1906, among other irrelevant matters,
he wrote the following:

GraFTON, April 10th, 1906.
Miss EDMUNDs,

DEAR MapaMm: I will send a dream that my daughter Miss
Mabel L. Taft dreamed Friday, March 16th. She told me, George
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H. Taft, Sunday, March 18th, what the dream was, and her mother.
Her brother was well, except a cold, and working. He worked
March 21st, Wednesday, was taken sick March 22nd, Thursday. I
told Dr. Clapp of North Grafton, March 23rd when riding with
him to the Centre for medicine, of her dream and that he [my son]
probably would die. This he remembers and will give his testimony,
if you want. My son, G. H. Taft, Jr.,, died March 25th. The fol-
lowing is the dream:

She [my daughter] dreamed she went from our kitchen into our
sitting room, saw a coffin all covered with flowers, was greatly sur-
rised and when she looked into the coffin she saw her brother lying
dead, G. H. Taft, Jr.

[At the funeral] the coffin was covered with flowers as dreamed.
‘When he was laid out he was laid out precisely where she saw the
coffin in her dream.

The details of the fulfillment cannot have significance, as
their fulfillment might be explained by conscious or unconscious
effort to do what had been dreamed. Some one else should have
placed the flowers and the coffin than any of the family and who
knew nothing about the dream. It is possible that this was the
fact, but it is not stated. The following letter by Miss Taft to
Miss Edmunds explains her part in the facts and it is confirmed
by the friend named in it:

GrAFTON, May 3rd, 1906.
Miss Lucy EDMUNDs,

My DEArR Mapam: I did not keep the dates of my dream, but
my father did, which he sent you. Enclosed please find statement
of my friend Lettie Sherman. I presume you have received state-
ment from Dr. Clapp, N. Grafton, before this. Please excuse delay.

Very Respt.
Mager L. Tarr.

The following is the letter of the friend named. It is dated
three days later than Miss Taft’s and probably Miss Taft’s was
held until that of her friend came.
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GRrAFTON, Mass., May 6th, 1906.

DEar Sirs: I remember distinctly of Miss Mabel L. Taft telling
me of her dream about her brother Georgie before he died. She
told me about it March 24th. His death occurred March 25th.

Yours respectfully,
ErHEL L. SHERMAN.

No confirmation from Dr. Clapp was put on record.

Sometime after the death of Dr. Hodgson, Mr. Taft was
referred to me for report of his facts. Several letters were sent
to me, but they do not contain as detailed reports as his previous
accounts. But one incident may be recorded.

GraFTON, Sept. 18th, 1907.
MRr. Hysvrop,

Dear Sir: I send a dream of my daughter in place of my
dream. These dreams are of such common occurrence that we
generally keep no dates.

But the strangest thing of all is that she saw the letter before
C. F. Baker, and told what was in it. In a few days the letter came.
When I took it from the post-office a friend was with me. I let
him read the letter. When we got home the moment we saw her
I asked her to tell what was in the letter. She told the general idea
but not the words. Then I said to her, I want you to place your
fingers the distance apart and hold them there that the writing
would cover, and she placed them. I took out the letter. (This
was the first she knew that I had one,) and placed it on her fingers
and it was exact.

But the strangest thing of all is that she saw the letter before
it was written. We knew this by the date of the letter.

Yours in haste,
G. H. Tarr.

I sent for Mr. Baker’s letter and it bears the date of May
23rd, 1907. The envelope had not been kept and hence the post-
mark could not be obtained. I also asked for the date of the
dream and the reply of Mr. Taft, dated September 21st, 1907,
was as follows:
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“ As near as we can remember the dream must have been about
May 20th or 21st, as it was before he had written the letter (as I
wrote you). She did not get the exact words, but she got a feeling
that underlies the whole of it.”

The defect in the incident is the fact that the daughter’s
statement about the letter was not taken down before the letter
had been seen by her. The incident depends for its interest
wholly on the judgment of the informant and not upon the re-
corded facts.

Another incident reported by a friend related to the discovery
by the daughter of papers taken by rats and used for making
nests. If it had been properly reported it would have been an
excellent case of clairvoyance.
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SURVEY AND COMMENT.
Iliness of Professor Hyslop.

His associates are much distressed to be compelled to an-
nounce that the secretary-treasurer and managing director of
the American Society for Psychical Research, Professor James
H. Hyslop, who has not been in vigorous health for some time,
has suffered a severe relapse and is unable to give his personal
attention either to research or to the editorial management of the
publications. He is gradually improving and it is hoped that in
time he may be restored to vigor and health.

It is fortunate that in large part the material for the next
three or four numbers of the Journal had already been prepared
by Professor Hyslop before his illness set in. Miss Tubby, who
has long been his assistant in connection with this work will
remain actively in charge subject to the president of the Board of
Trustees of the Institute. She has also been elected assistant-
secretary [1918] and as such is performing Professor Hyslop’s
duties as secretary during his enforced absence. His duties as
treasurer devolve upon the assistant-treasurer and member of the
board of directors, Mr. Lawson Purdy.

The scientific work of the Society is proceeding under Dr.
Prince, who has long been associated with Professor Hyslop and
who, as a skilled and careful scientific investigator, is well-known
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to members of the Society. This work'is subject also to the
supervision of the president of the Board of Trustees, together
with the advice of members of the council composed of leading
scientists interested in this subject. -

The special investigations which Professor Hyslop had been
carrying on with Mrs. Chenoweth were brought to a close, both
for reasons stated in his communication in a recent number of
the Journal and also because of his failing strength. It is not
expected to renew them in the immediate future, but instead to
encourage other lines of investigation which were already open
and also the opening of new lines.
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CONSULTING SPIRITS.
By James H. HysLor.

Thousands of people consult fortune tellers and professional
mediums on the personal matters of their lives and are either
mulcted by them where they are frauds or follow advice which
is worthless where the information is honestly given. Perhaps
more people consult mediums for personal help in financial and
matrimonial matters than those who have an interest to know
whether they live after death. It has been this aspect of the
subject that has disgusted intelligent people and made it almost
impossible to give a correct idea of what the scientific problem is.
I wish in this brief paper to discuss a case which came under my
own experiments and which is an excellent one for delivering a
lesson on the consultation of mediums and following their advice
without the use of one’s own judgment. There is a prevalent
opinion that spirits are better qualified to give advice than living
people and it may be true that some of them are so, but there is
no such knowledge of them as justifies any general reliance on
their influence and advice such as people are inclined to give to
them. While there is evidence enough that spirits exist and can
communicate with the living under, perhaps, rare conditions, it
is at least true that our knowledge of their condition is too small
to make advice anything to be implicitly followed. There are
sporadic indications of their influence on the living in various
ways and we do not know the limits of it, but this influence is of
a kind in many cases to make intelligent people distrust implicit
obedience to suggestions made from that side. We require, as
in normal life, to verify their statements and advice and to test
it by our normal experience before giving it heed. Too many
people assume that the conditions for a spiritual life are the same
for all of those who have passed the gates of death. But there
is no evidence for this. On the contrary, such evidence as we
have shows that we are just the same after death as before and
no great change in knowledge and character takes place. No
extended illumination on the nature of the universe is occasioned
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by mere death. It is even possible that, in some cases at least,
greater limitations exist than when living. There is much evi-
dence to suggest or to show that many are in what has been called
an “ earth-bound ” condition. Exactly what this means we have
not yet been able to determine. But there is some evidence that
it involves lingering in our earthly memories and interests with
a dream like state in which our own mental states are taken for
realities, just as in ordinary hallucinations. This may be only a
temporary state and it may not long affect those who have led
a spiritual life. But while it does last it certainly disqualifies
the individual for giving advice on the basis of any increased
powers or knowledge immediately after death.

All this will come up for discussion later when I have given
the facts which will serve as a text for comments. It is the
first instance in which I have had any opportunity for studying
the matter at first hand. ‘The work that I have done has always
been for the proof of personal identity. I was never interested
personally in consulting spirits for the direction of my personal
affairs and usually sitters preferred to be convinced of survival
rather than consult the psychic for advice. But a few sitters
were desirous of making inquiries regarding personal affairs and
some interesting results came about. It is one of those cases that
is a most instructive one for our purpose. It involved the ques-
tion of matrimony.

A lady lost her husband and in her doubts about survival
sought my help to ascertain if her husband survived. I con-
ducted the experiments in the usual way with precautions that
shut out any possible knowledge of the sitter from Mrs. Cheno-
weth. The deceased husband gave most excellent evidence of
his identity. He told the exact manner of his death which was
very different from what would be supposed in the circum-
stances, gave the pet names of his children, the names of several
of his intimate friends, none of which did I know, and men-
tioned a number of important incidents in his life. One incident,
tho not evidence of his personal identity from memory, is one
of the best I ever received from a communicator. It canndt
be detailed here because it would lead to the discovery of his
identity here when the detailed record is published. But it is
not necessary to dwell on the matter of his identity and the
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evidence for it, as that is not concerned with our present problem.
Besides so many others have proved their identity and this evi-
dence is published, that it must suffice to state that the same
kind of evidence came in this instance.

In the course of the year the widow was pursued by suitors
for matrimony, and one in particular was the subject of con-
sideration by her. I did not know these facts. But she asked
me to have some sittings for her and to ask her husband, de-
ceased, if he had any advice for her. I held sittings for the
purpose of giving him an opportunity to communicate. I did
. not mention his name, because he had never succeeded in giving
all of it, and I make it a practice never to call for a person by
name until he has given it. There was some difficulty in getting
him. He did not appear on the first day intended for him, but
he did come the second day and there was much difficulty in con-
vincing me that the right person was present. This was partly
due to the fact that I did not know the relevance of some things
that were said. But before the two sittings were finished I
found who it was, tho the most pertinent things I did not know
at the time and had no means of understanding them.

Two months later I gave the same communicator a chance to
try again. After correct allusion to his wife’s sorrows he re-
ferred to “ a coming event ” which was not intelligible to me at
the time. But the communicator broke down and resumed the
thread of it a little later in the following:

You know there is a group of relatives who are watching her
every move and they are not confined to her side of the family
alone, for some of my folks are at the same time watching out for
the future for her. I do not mean business altogether but that is
in a measure a part of the care of course. But there is something
which she is troubled about aside from that and it is of great mo-
ment for her, but it will come out all right.

This does not explain itself or look like anything that is
evidential and it is not such. But the sequel shows that it
probably referred to the “ coming event ”’ mentioned above, and
immediately following was a reference to her “ health and bodily
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conditions ”’ which were an important obstacle to the fulfillment
of the “ coming event.”

On the next day, very soon after the automatic writing be-
‘gan the subject was resumed and the following came:

I must try and do some work which will help my wife to be
prepared for the new burdens which are to fall on her.

(What are they?) ’

Sweet burdens which would be no burden if I were in her home
to receive the great joy.

(Specify the nature of the burden, if you please.)

I am trying to get it down in words.

(All right.)

It is in my mind and I think in yours but I have no help from
these people because of its private and secret nature. Do you
understand my position ?

(Yes, perfectly.)

For I am able to see some good pictures of the future for her
and it, but I know the shock of death and all the incidents of the
horror and pain and sorrow and sleepless night are not the con-
ditions best for assurance in such a case. I have seen the many
gifts. Is that plain to you?

(Yes, perfectly.)’

Gifts that are meant to draw the mind from the past to a com-
ing event.

Then followed another communicator who lost his life in the
same way and at the same time, and he made direct reference
to “ offspring ”’ in the very first sentence after the above quoted
passage, showing what ‘“‘the coming event” implied. I had
conjectured what the phrase *“ coming event ” meant tho I knew
nothing about the facts till a month later. They referred to re-
marriage, and later communications showed that the whole affair
was worked up from the spiritual side. A later message showed
also what the “ sweet burdens” meant and the expression was
quite correct for the facts as told me. Subsequent incidents
show how it was all planned and influence exercised to bring
about the union.

On the next day the communications were resumed and the
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name of the lady given clearly. She was in Europe at the time
and the message advised her to return to this country. Her letter
to me had shown that she was in great distress of mind. After
advising her return there came the message:

I want you to have the realization of the companionship which
I love to have. Is X what you want. [The X was repeated several
times.]

Now marriage is clearly hinted at here and X is the initial
of the person whom he wanted to marry her and who had pre-
viously proposed. But the evidence does not become clear as yet
and the above passages are quoted only for the purpose of es-
tablishing the connections.

A month later the son came to have sittings. The mother
directed me to ask her husband for some advice on a matter
which she did not explain to me, as she wanted to see what
would be said in her absence, to exclude mind-reading from the
result. The son knew nothing about the facts. As there had
been so little evidence in the general communications and appar-
ently no promise of getting the message about the advice, I asked
that Imperator try to help the man get the message on the de-
sired point, about which I knew nothing whatever. On the
second day of the son’s series the following pertinent message
came with the help of one of the Imperator group.

The mother need not hesitate about taking the step which will
bring them all together once more. The plans include two groups
of people separated by the tragedy of the father’s death and to
serve both groups the change will be best.

This was a straight shot at the right point. Two groups of
people had been separated by the father’s death and it was one
man in the other group that had proposed marriage to the lady.
She rec¢ognized the pertinence of the meéssage at once and further
facts regarding the situation came later.

The next week the lady came for sittings herself and I
wished to have the subject of the advice made clearer. Her hus-
band began the communications, but besides mere general talk
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that was not evidential, he broke down and Jennie P. had to in-
tervene. In the course of her writing I brought the matter up
to her.

It is the same gentleman who has been here before and he has
made some plans about some future. Perhaps you do not know
who it is.

(No, I do not know and it makes no difference to me, but it
would be important to tell exactly what the plan is.)

Yes, you do not recall the gentleman who came last week.

(Yes, I do, and he referred to a message saying that there
should be no hesitation in taking the step. Now what step is that?)

Are you asking me or do you wish to wait until he returns? He
had in his plan something to say about a step which involves a
change for another, but there is another matter of which he has
today spoken.

This was not made any clearer and I showed a little impa-
tience at it and the result was a change of control and the follow-
. ing message: “ Cross and settle. Baby.” It was quite difficult
to get this through, but tho I did not understand it-at the time it
became perfectly clear when the facts were explained to me.
The man had no children and wished to have a child as an heir.
The lady would obtain additional financial help by the marriage
and so a “ cross settlement ”’ would follow such a union.

But the definite step was not yet defined and when the sub-
ject was spontaneously resumed later I undertook to clear it up.
It came in the following passage. The name Jack, which was
wrong, had been given for him, tho his name was John.

I have been trying and made some sign to you in another place.
I tried to speak to you, not write like this. There was an effort to
write, but it was for you. Have you not received the message?
Jack.

(We got the name Jack in connection with you, but your wife
said it was wrong, and apparently it had the effect of bringing
another person to spoil the message.)

That is just why I refer to it now to tell you that I was at that
time trying to write something especially good for you. That was



Consulting Spirits. 125

when you were away and I was trying by myself. Do you know
about a conversation with a man who had some of our business to
look after and who has been very punctilious about everything and
it is not fully settled yet, and it is a matter of some interest to me,
because of a future which may make better conditions for you
financially. I am not at all fearful about the final outcome and
settlement, and I know that the plans you are now making may be
carried out without any further delay or uncertainty on your part.
All the break and change had to come, but now thére will be clearer
sailing.

(I understand that the change refers to matrimony. Is that
right?) [I was impatient with the perpetual dodging of the
question.]

Yes.

(Well, is it perfectly safe for the wife to assume motherhood?)

It is best so and will bring the peace which is to be the crown
after sorrow. I am only for the best to come to all. It will in no
way. lessen my devotion. Do you understand ?

(Sitter: Yes, I do.)

The lady had had some intimations from two or three other
sources of the plan which her husband here mentions and an
indication that it had to be settled in this month. It was a plan,
that involved financial advantages to her. But I knew facts
which made it rather risky physically to assume motherhood and
they were both age and the consequences of a very dangerous
operation. Moreover I had every reason to believe that the
communicator was ““ earthbound ” and in no fit state either to
influence such an arrangement or to advise it. There were sev-
eral indications of this in the messages and more particularly the
personal experiences of the lady that were of a psychic nature.
I believed that the communicator was totally unfit to give advice
on the matter and so was desirous of seeing what the reaction
would be to my query. It was characteristic and true to the
knowledge which he had of her, and in a way which I cannot
here state, as the facts are too personal to mention. But it did
not end here. Later I took it up and more specific evidence
came that I was right. But the next day when I was alone and
Dr. Hodgson communicated I took the matter up again, because
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the lady began to fear the step and tho practically decided for it,
told me that she preferred to remain as she was.

As I had continued the sittings a day longer to settle up some
matters before I took a rest and as I had received a note from
her indicating her uncertainty about her husband’s wish, I
brought the subject up again.

(The lady here yesterday is not yet sure of what her husband
wants, and desires me to ascertain further, if I could, so as to make
it perfectly clear.)

You refer to her plan for a change in her life.

(Yes, she prefers things to stay as they are, but will unhesitat-
ingly do what she is sure he desires or planned for her, and she will
not do it unless he does desire it with all his heart.)

I will talk with him about it and report to you. I know that he
had a feeling that perhaps she would be better cared for if married
and gave to the children a father, but it was entirely for her own
peace and protection and perhaps if he understands that her prefer-
ence is to remain as she is, it will help him to state the exact feeling.

(I understand.) ’

It is hard for a man to insist that a woman remain without
what he considers a protecting .arm and he felt that perhaps she

‘would reach for just this sort of helpful companionship and it might

be too late to get it. Do you understand. For my part I would not
accept the association of a woman’s life, if her heart was with his
spirit. .

(I understand perfectly.)

It is rather hard to tell her exactly what to do and he tried to
escape, but it looks as if she had kept her hold on him and I will
get to the solution.

If T could tell all the circumstances the reader would see
reasons why the lady vacillated in her decision. On the one
hand, was desired financial advantage and on the other the dan-
gerous risks of motherhood, to say nothing of her feeling of
allegiance to her deceased husband. I regarded the step as
fraught with grave risks and I attached no value to her husband’s
advice, as I knew he was in no condition to give wise advice,
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while she was ready to follow without hesitation anything she
thought he wanted her to do. My judgment of the case turned
out later to be correct, but it is apparent in the situation as ex-
plained by Dr. Hodgson that the communicator had not made his
ideas clear. As stated they appear to be unqualified advice and
such it may be. But if he had been in a perfectly normal con-
dition he might have surrounded them with conditions and left
matters to her choice. But she did not wish to choose. She
wished to obey or to follow his counsel, a condition of mind
that I regard as dangerous to anyone in the investigation of these
phenomena. On this point I shall comment when I have com-
pleted the statement of facts. The evidence for the communi-
cator’s abnormal condition is not yet complete, but knowing or
“believing what I felt about the matter there was nothing to do
but to pursue the inquiry further. While I do not believe in con-
sulting spirits for advice, it is a part of the investigation to do
so for the information which we can obtain as to their attitude
of mind, knowledge of terrestrial things, and influence on the
conduct of the living. This last matter is a most important one,
whether the influence be for good or ill, and I desired to prose-
cute the inquiry to the end. It was clear that the whole plan was
worked up from the “ other side ” and there was evidence that
it had influenced two living people, one of them wholly uncon-
scious of the influence and the other conscious of it only from the
communications and not from personal consciousness of the in-
fluence. It was only her vacillation of character that prevented
the settlement of it at once and the communicator complained of
this fact in one of his messages. But taking Dr. Hodgson’s
statement that he would report I pursued the matter further
when I returned from my rest. He made a short report while
I was absent when she was counselled to remain as she was, and
when I returned I took it up again.

But during my absence I sent a question to be asked by the
stenographer who was to take the experiments. The following
came, showing a inodification of the advice, whatever explana-
tion you give it.

I am R. H. and I have a message which I should have given
yesterday, but did not feel that I was quite as safe to go into the
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matter until I was a little more accustomed to the new regime. It
is about the sitter of last week.

(You mean the lady Mrs. Z7?)

Yes, the one who desires a definite word concerning a possible
marriage. I have talked with the husband and he advises her to
let the matter rest for the present. That with her inclination to
stay as she is and the conditions of her life make it possible for her
to do so, he believes she will be happier to remain as she is at least
for a time. There may be a future change which he will advise
about when the time comes.

I

It will be observed that the communicator here reverses his
advice. It is possible to maintain that my query about the wife’s .
age and the risk involved acted as a suggestion to the subcon-
scious which had proceeded on the supposition that the lady
knew her own business and that there was no danger, and hence
had reversed the counsel accordingly. There is no way to remove
this hypothesis, and tho I do not think myself that it actually
applies, owing to my familiarity with the work of Mrs. Cheno-
weth, I do not care to refute the possibility. The point is less
whether it is a spiritistic message than whether the advice is to
be considered from any such source, whether spiritistic or sub-
liminal. Here the lady was disposed to treat the advice as com-
ing from a source that knew more than she did, but on any theory
it succumbed to suggestion from the earthly side the moment
that the actual situation was revealed.

When I returned from my vacation I resolved to have
my suspicions of the real condition of the man cleared up, as well
as the situation itself, and I called for him again, and brought
up the subject. He wavered somewhat in regard to his position,
tho he said some interesting things for the student of this prob-
lem. Almost the first thing said was the following.

I am possessed with the old love of life and a desire to be
actually a part of the life of my dear wife and children. It comes
over me this morning as I enter this room and the soft spring air
and the hush and stillness of the country is evident to me and to the
group who attend me. I did so enjoy the out of doors when I lived
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with them and the recollections of those happy days, a flood of
thoughts, such thoughts as make it hard for me to keep calm.

(I understand.)

and give the sane and sensible advice I am disposed to give.
I thought I had said all I needed to say to my ... [name mentioned,
the first part of it, that of his wife, omitted.]

The man was very fond of outdoor life, but the whole atti-
tude here is of one who prefers the material to the spiritual life
and later incidents tend to show why. It would not be suspected
by any reader of this passage that what I say of it is the fact,
but knowing the circumstances and incidents of the wife’s ex-
periences as I do, and also what occurs a little later, I can see
indications in this passage that the man has not yet overcome the
tendency to hallucinations and the reproduction in a dream-like
form of his earthly memories which constitute his life. Perhaps
he is aware of it, as later revelations intimate, but cannot over-
come them as yet, owing to the violent cause of his death.

After the above passage which I have quoted there was a
little explanation of the error in the name given and then I
began with a question to get things more explicit, because the
lady did not feel that the advice to remain as she was was final.
So I continued. '

(You said you thought you had said all you needed. The last
message on the matter simply said it should be dropped for the
present and she did not know whether you regarded it as final or
not.)

Can you understand how my whole attitude is somewhat uncer-
tain because of the relationship which is still so real and vivid to me.

(Yes, I understand and I suppose the best way to clear it would
be to simply say one way or the other whether it is to be left to
time and her judgment.)

Yes, that seems wise to me. She is not my sister nor my child
but my wife, and to think of the reestablishing of relationships that
are not at all necessary for her happiness, but may help her in the
responsibilities of the care of the children and affairs, that is what
bothers me. I cannot see quite far enough ahead to know whether
she will need the assistance.
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(You remember that you chose a certain person whom you
favored. Is that at an end? I refer to X. Y.)

No, not at an end and still favored by me. It is her own in-
decision that is quite hard for me to overcome. I do not think she
ought to be advised to do a thing like marrying unless the impulse
is definitely for it. I see its advantages.

(I imagine that the serious difficulty is the undertaking of moth-
erhood which X. Y. wants and it is rather a dangerous thing for
her at her age, is it not?)

Yes, and I think that when she once drops it out of her thoughts
she will be at peace. It is strange but the problem itself has helped
her, for it called for thought and it gave a less hopeless loneliness
to the life. It has served a good purpose in any event. I feel
strongly that at all hazards there is to be no affirmative answer
as yet.

(Do you know how the other members of the family feel
about it?)

You mean my family?

(Yes, your family.)

All right. There is no desire to change the present mode of life.
I am only concerned about the responsibilities which come either
way. But she is all right as she is with some more freedom than
she would have. I say No. Does that not settle it ?

(What do you mean by the short word “ No”?)

Negative to the possible plan.

(What plan?)

Marry.

(You mean that you would prefer her not to marry again.)

Not if she found love I would expect her to marry then.

(I understand. Go ahead.)

But this is not so much love as a possibility for a larger life in
some particular. I cannot make it quite plain to you.

This is a most interesting passage both for its total lack of
ethics and for the evidence of the supernormal. In the first
place the allusion to his own relation to her being “ still so real
and vivid ” is evidence of the “ earthbound ” condition. He is
not yet out of the material world in his ideas and memories and
the events that happened with her are indications of this. Then
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he wavers until it is apparent that my suggestion is working,
whether on him or the subliminal of the psychic, and then he
comes out flatly against the remarriage, tho he hesitates, or the
subliminal does, until he or it is safe in the decision to which the
circumstance which I mentioned about the risk of motherhood
had its effect. Apparently it was something he had not taken
into account. It should be noticed that the only thing that he
did take into account was “ the possibility of a larger life in
some particular,” and he implied that it was not a matter of love.
The facts were that it was not a matter of love on her part, and
this was one of the main factors to cause her indecision about it.
She knew perfectly well that love was the only safe motive, but
she also knew that she would get financial gain by it both to add
to the family support and to carry out a project which she had
formed. She frankly told me these facts and it is apparent that
the husband bad not gotten beyond the material view of the
whole bargain. It was not love which he had in mind, but finan-
cial advantages to her and the family.

A few further references were made to the advantages to her
and to the children from the union and the other project she
had in mind in a reference to “ service to others who need her
care, children,” and I began with the question.

(In what way would it better their lives?)

I am not sure that it would better them. I think she is perfectly
able to do what is necessary for them and she will not leave them.
She sometimes thinks of what would happen if she were to die,
but she will not die yet. I can see that far ahead.

See here. No man can be their father any more than a man can
be her husband. If we keep in contact spiritually I can advise and
help and be on guard and do for them from this side as much as
any two men.

(Good.)

I am not impotent and I find every day new power and new
opportunity. Jennie P. tells me to brace up and not let any non-
sensical ideas of chivalry keep me from the place where I belong
and I think she is right. I had a feeling that I was a sort of a dog
in the manger.

(No indeed.)
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But I see now that I underestimated my growing spiritual
power. Tell my darling to let the whole matrimonial question go
to the dogs. I will take care of her and the children and grow
stronger every day.

It is apparent here that Jennie P., seeing the situation, and
she is a character that would not tolerate financial motives in
such a situation, got hold of his mind and influenced the com-
munications, and he threw off all hesitation about the matter
and counselled remaining as she was without qualification. The
whole of the past advice is emphatically negatived. Leave the
question of its source out of account. Conceded that my sug-
gestions had operated on the subconscious, and that it was the
subconscious that had originated the original advice, after dis-
covering the desire for matrimony, yet we have a situation which
shows very clearly that advice from such sources cannot be ac-
cepted blindly. But the reader cannot maintain that the advice
originated subconsciously. It came before any hint from me
had been given and the sequel will show how it came, all with
honest and commendable motives on the part of the communi-
cator, in so far as a desire to help his wife out of distress was
concerned, tho he was not in a condition to measure the situation
rightly or to get beyond mercenary motives in the counsel offered.

As if this very influence of the subconscious had been preva-
lent in the present course of the communications, Father John
the next day took up the plan of reducing the subconscious to a
minimum in the work and outlined the course he wished to have
adopted and then the communicator again took up some evi-
dentral work in which he succeeded only partly, tho in some
points very well. On the day following that he again recurred
to family affairs and the subject of his wife’s matrimony.

I am so glad of the help you have given me, and after I went
from here I knew what I had said about the changes which are
possible for my beloved wife, and I felt gratitude to you that you
put the situation before me in such a way that I saw the wisdom of
the direct advice to remain as now. I had a feeling that I must not
demand any sacrifice because of sentiment, and I thought perhaps

. a companionship which would enlarge her sympathies and give her
new associations and create a new world might make the lessons of
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the past less evident to her, but I see that one may suffer more by
discarding a high and beautiful ideal for a present peace, and I am
glad to reassert my advice to remain as she is and to make as real
as possible my presence and attendance through her life. The
children will make association for her and the freedom of life
with expectancy about my ability to return in clear and sure way
will give her a joy.

I was amazed yesterday to find the sensation I had when I first
came here. That sense of being dead and not realizing what to be
dead meant. It was a strange repetition of the first sensations in
this life, but it was succeeded by a reality and vividness which was
impressive and which made me much clearer in mind as I came
today.

(I understand.)

It was probably produced for that purpose and I understand the
spirit who produced it has hypnotic power and desired to use it on
me to release me from the idea of the unreality of death and to
awaken me to activities as I wrote. Is that plain to you.

(Yes, it is.)

It seems like a good idea and if I can be helped it will reduce
the fear of mistakes which might throw my evidence out of count.

(Do you know what it is to be earthbound in any way?) [I saw
from the previous messages that this was what had been the matter
with him and saw my charce to ask a question without hinting my
idea.]

I think so. It is the state where one through intense desire to
be near some one still in the earth life hinders the spirit in its life
over here.

(Did you suffer any in that condition ?)

Yes, but was not aware of it, and certainly could not have
called it suffering, for it would have been pain to go away.

(I understand, and has this man’s hypnotic effort helped you in
that respect?)

I am certainly better and clearer today and feel an impetus and
stimulus to bring some spiritual light to my family. The whole of
life looks clearer. I see in perspective and retrospective as never
before, and I shall go forward with the treatment, if that is what
it may be called. Is it not glorious to feel this sense of peace. You
see the shock of the death, the unexpected and tragic end
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(Yes, I understand.)

all had a part in the work. Each time I came I was over-
whelmed with the tragedy of it and my friends were no help be-
cause of their like feeling. It was far from right.

This passage is a remarkably interesting one. The reader
should note the acknowledgment that, after he had gone away
from the communications of the previous day, he had caught
for the first time the meaning of my suggestion about the critical
risk for his wife in the project which he had worked up. Take
any theory you please of the source of it. There is the awak-
ening to a new point of view, more ideal than the one he had in
mind. There was nothing in the attitude of his heart all along
that any one should deprecate or reproach. That was altogether
correct and, whatever his state, it represents a beautiful spirit.
But it was clear to me that his “ earthbound ” condition dis-
qualified his judgment for measuring the situation rightly, and
there soon came spontaneous evidence that my belief about his
condition was the correct one. The first and most striking evi-
dence of this was the return of the sensation that he was dead.
He had not felt this apparently for some time. He had not
realized properly that he was in a spiritual world at all or that he
was dead, and naturally enough, tho that condition may have been
brought on by contact with the psychic, he would recur to the
point of view which would characterize a man in physical life
and he would not have perfect control of his mental processes.
Bent on helping his wife in distress, his mind might carry out
advice in the direction of matrimony without having synthetic
command of all the facts that should affect the advice given.

Then he correctly described the ‘ earthbound” condition
when I raised the question. It is simply the occupation of the
mind, as in a dream, with the memories and ideas of the earthly
life and the new spiritual situation is not realized. Progress,
as intimated, in the spiritual life is hindered by it. In such a
condition a subject is not fitted to advise on such a question as
was put before him. Nor was he fitted to form and carry out .
the project he had indicated. He conceived it solely on the
material plane and had not a spiritual note in it. Only financial
advantages for the wife were considered alike by him and her-
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self. If spirits cannot get above that they had better keep their
hands off the question, and so also the living. The dead are
evidently not always wise or spiritual.

The reference to hypnotic treatment is a most interesting
incident. It is precisely the process employed by the living to
relieve distorted mental conditions or dissociated states and here
it is impliedly resorted to correct the ‘‘ earthbound ” or dream
life and the subject has to confess that his friends could do him
no good because they were in a like condition. But he got a
clearer vision by my attitude and Jennie P’s and reversed his
advice.

The lesson- that is to be learned from this episode is a most
important one. Here was a lady in great distress of mind owing
to the loss of her husband and seeking to know if he existed
after death, tho she had a religious nature. Having secured the
evidence of his survival she sought his advice on the matter of
matrimony, her remarriage. It was apparent from the facts
that both she and the man who sought her hand had been in-
fluenced from the  other side ”’ before she had any evidence of
the fact and long before I learned the facts. What the initiative
in the case was no one can tell, but the evidence points to the
fact that it did not take a critical form until after evidence for
this influence had been obtained. The lady acted on the suppo-
sition, first that her husband, deceased, knew more than she did
about the situation and secondly that she should follow his ad-
vice whatever her natural inclinations were. She assumed that
advice from spirits was especially valuable and reliable. I took
no such view of the matter, tho there might be reason to listen
to counsel from certain spirits who had proved their fitness to
give it. But I have always maintained that each individual must
be responsible for his own judgment and should never blindly
follow the counsel of any one, living or dead. I held and hold
that this is especially sound as regards persons who have re-
cently died. If they are earthbound, they are in no condition to
advise their living friends on any subject, and that the present
communicator was earthbound was evident in some personal
experiences which the lady herself had in reference to him and
it was especially indicated in the message about his living in a
house very much like his home which he described, except that
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he said, “it was more dreamlike.” There was evidence to one
familiar with communications that he was this, but the fact could
not be proved here. But this earthbound condition simply meant
that he was still under the influence of his earthly memories to
such an extent that he was leading a dream life and the reality
to him was only a mental reality like our dreams and this based
upon his terrestrial memories, not upon a perfectly normal life
in the spiritual world. He would take only the earthly view of
the situation and seeing the distress of his wife would -naturally
resort to methods adjusted to earthly ideals and such ideals as
he himself had.

Now it should be noticed that the communicator showed not
the slightest knowledge or interest in a spiritual life or world.
He had no, other conception of things than the financial one and
he was willing to risk his wife’s health and life at the age when
child-bearing is dangerous and especially so when an operation
had made it doubly dangerous. He frankly said what I knew
to be a fact from the lady’s own statement, namely, that it was
not a matter of love, but of financial advantages to carry out
some plans which she had and that required money for the pur-
pose. He was a well-to-do man himself and had he lived ten
years longer would have been much wealthier. He could see
things only in the light of money and what it would bring. He
had never led a spiritual life and had no inkling of it after death.
His earthbound condition was not merely the continuation of his
earthly ideals, but the manifestation of them in the form of a
dream life with its sensory hallucinations and inability to realize
or appreciate a really spiritual life. This his living wife did not
see or suspect, and being attached to him and always following
his judgment while living, was disposed to do the same after
his death when she could get into communication with him. She
had no realization of his earthbound condition and what it meant.
He could only counsel her in the direction of money making and
child-bearing at a dangerous period of her life.

Knowing this fact, I deliberately asked him if it was not
dangerous to her at her age to undertake motherhood and his
answer showed that he had not suspected this and as a conse-
quence changed his mind on the matter and finally advised re-
maining unmarried. Jennie P. told him he could help her from



Consulting Spirits. 137 .

that side and he altered his position. He admitted, as readers
will observe, that he was earthbound and that he could get no
help because all his friends were in the same condition. They
too were of the monied class and had no other conception of life
than money making and its power for sensuous enjoyment. Not
a spiritual note came from any of them. They had no other
conception of the need of the lady than more money and that
was purchased or to be purchased at the price of childbearing at
a dangerous period. No spiritual consolation was offered and no
point of view apparent in the communications by which it could
be reached. Purely earthly ideals were the only ones that domi-
nated him and ‘without reflection on the situation she was ready
to follow the advice.

Nor is it necessary to assume the spiritistic theory of the
facts to make the point I am here urging. There is abundant
evidence, apart from the facts quoted in this paper, to support
that view, but the importance of the position taken here does
not depend on the truth of that point of view. We do not have
to assume any more than that the subconscious of Mrs. Cheno-
weth in the course of a number of sittings, had discovered that
a widow was seeking communication with her deceased husband
and was seeking advice, and tho the exact subject of this desired
advice was not mentioned until the main feature of it had been
presented by the real or alleged communicator, we may suppose
that it was guessed and the advice framed accordingly. The sub-
conscious might assume that the sitter knew the situation enough
not to advise on the ground of obstacles to the fulfillment of the
desire. But when I pointed out the risks involved the subcon-
sciousness picked up the situation and advised against it. While
I do not believe that this view of the subject applies as a fact,
and while I know that the evidence, not here quoted, is very
strong for identity, I do not require to apply the spiritistic
hypothesis to the facts in order to make the point that this is
not a source for reliable advice. I am quite willing to admit
that the subconscious of Mrs. Chenoweth might be as well quali-
fied as spirits, or even better, to give advice on the subject. But
that is not the point here. It is the blind assumption that others
than yourself are better able to judge of the situation. The im-
portant thing is to face facts and not to accept the counsel of
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those who do not know them as well. I do not believe that spirits
are always better situated to give us advice on any matter. They
may perhaps be better qualified in some cases; even then their
counsel must be verified by our own knowledge of the facts be-
fore we are justified in accepting and following it implicitly.
The vice of the interested person is that he or she assumes spirits
to have special fitness for knowing more than the living. This
is an illusion of the older religious view. It assumed that escape
from the body entailed infinite knowledge at once. There is no
ground whatever for any such assumption. The contrary might
be true, for all we know. So far from knowing more after
death, a man might even know less or he might simply live on
the capital of his past experience. This latter view is certainly
supported by the earthbound condition. The man or woman so
affected lives a dream life based upon the contents of his sen-
suous memory and these memories appear, as they do in our
dreams, as hallucinations which the subject of them takes for
reality, and in that condition he or she is not in any respect
qualified to give advice, especially spiritual advice. I do not
believe that all the discarnate live in this manner to the same
degree and it is not requisite for us to solve that problem in
order to realize what caution we should exercise in accepting
and acting upon the advice of spirits, especially those recently
passed. It would be like following the advice of insane people
instead of the rational.

There was no lofty point of view, no ethical insight or spir-
itual appreciation, on the part of the communicator in this in-
stance, who was planning a marriage of his living wife. He was
ready with a fixed idea to reduce her distress by any device
that hit upon his fancy and he did not reckon with risks which
were fundamental and less did he reckon with the need of a
spiritual point of view for his wife. He did not get above ma-
terial pleasures and advantages in anything that he said or did.
Consequently I do not know a better illustration in my experi-
ence with mediums, except one other much like it, to enforce
the lesson of letting the advice of spirits alone in this subject,
unless we can prove it wise on our own knowledge. We are
ultimately responsible for action on our own judgment and we
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shall never be able to act wisely until we can do it on that basis.
Wisdom is not passive obedience, but the active employment of
our own understanding, and we never attain spiritual develop-
ment until we can rely upon our own intelligence for the direc-
tion of our conduct.



140  Journal of the American Society for Psychical Research.

OBSERVATIONS OF A JURIST.
By the late JouN HoOOKER.'

HarTtrorp, CoNN., March 24th, 1890.
MR. RicaArRD HopGsoN,

Secretary of the American Branch of the Society for
Psychical Research.

DEAR SiIr:

You request me to give you some account of such psychical ex-
periences as I may have had, which I think might be of evidential
value. I cannot do this in any way so convenient to myself as to
send you a copy of an address on the subject which 1 delivered
before a gathering of several Hartford clergymen, at their request,
about fifteen months ago. The facts which I state in it are wholly

1. Dr. Richard Hodgson had intended to publish the greater part of this
article, furnished him at his own request thirty years ago, but was
prevented by circumstances not under his control. We agree with him in
discarding three incidents dealing with physical phenomena in connection
with professional mediums, since the conditions of these were such that only
an expert student of the art of sleight-of-hand could have been qualified to
vouch for the actual facts. There are no indications that Mr. Hooker was
this, though his strong intellect and long training in the valuation of evi-
dence give weight to his testimony on the incidents which lay open to view,

John Hooker, born 1816 and deceased 1901, was sixth in descent from
Thomas Hooker, the first pastor of Connecticut Colony, and belonged to
one of the most blue-blooded families of Connecticut State. He was a mem-
ber of the Legislature in 1850, and from 1867 to 1872. He practised law, and
had important cases, one a suit brought by the British government. In
1858 he became reporter of judicial decisions of the Supreme Court, and held
that office for thirty-six years. Twice he was offered a seat in that august
Court, but refused judicial honors, preferring to proceed with that long
series of Reports which rank among the most masterly in libraries of Amer-
ican law.

Mr. Hooker was the husband of Isabella Holmes Beecher, a sister of
Henry Ward Beecher and Harriet Beecher Stowe.

The * Judicial and Civil History of Connecticut” (Edited by Hon. Dwight
Loomis and J. Gilbert Calhoun, Boston, 1895, pages 146-7) pays the fol-
lowing tribute. “ Mr. Hooker reported the cases of the Supreme Court for
thirty-six years. It is needless to say that this work was carefully and cor-
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of my own observation, but their value for your purpose is some-
what impaired by a running thread of argument in favor of the
spiritualistic theory as the only explanation of them. What you
want is simply facts and not theories. But I have not time to re-
write the article, but must simply hand it over to a copyist.

I will add that, while I was attending our supreme court at
Bridgeport soon after the article was written, some of the members
of the bar, who had heard of it and had requested me to bring it,
got up an evening meeting in the court room, and I read it to a
gathering of lawyers and their families; three of the judges of the
court being present, as well as one of the city clergymen, all of
whom seemed to listen to it with much interest.

rectly done. It was marked with a nicety in the use of language, and an

uncommon facility of expression, that were coupled with a thorough appre-
ciation of the principles of law involved. The syllabus which he prepared
was the case in miniature, and all of it. He added from time to time, ex-
planatory and historical notes of very considerable value. The biographical
sketches, prepared either by himself or by some selected friend, soon came
to be a regular addition to the reports as they appeared volume by volume.
Those written by Mr. Hooker are among the most eloquent of his produc-
tions, for he possessed not only an entire honesty of description, without
flattery or detraction, but a particularly attractive faculty for eulogistic writ-
ing. He did not hesitate to say of one attorney, remarkably persistent and
stubborn in his contests in court, ‘He rarely gave up a case that was de-
cided against him until he had pursued it to the extreme limit of the legal
remedy, and submitted to a final adverse decision only as to an accumulated
wrong that he had no further power to resist,’ and yet the entire eulogy is

‘not only neither unkind nor unfair, but it is instinct with a respect for the

subject which is all the more flattering for its candor.”

- “Mr. Hooker resigned from the office, October 2, 1893, having reported
the decisions of seven chief justices and fifteen associate judges. The
court accepted his resignation in a resolution expressive of the mastery with
which he had performed his labors, and the warm sentiment of regard and
attachment felt for him by the judges.”

We may appropriately add a paragraph from a printed address delivered
by John Hooker in Willimantic, Conn., March 21, 1886. “My whole life has
been spent in the practice of the legal profession, where it has been my con-
stant employment to study and apply the rules of evidence, and to determine
whether certain facts would warrant and establish a certain conclusion; and
with this training I could not well doubt the correctness of my mental oper-
ations in applying the phenomena of Spiritualism to the theory to be deduced
from them.”

W. F. PrINCE.
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I began to investigate spiritualistic phenomena about fifteen
years ago. Up to that time I had regarded them with no respect,
and for a long time after I began my observations I held tenaciously
to the theory of mind-reading as sufficiently explaining them. But
I was compelled to give this up, and have beep for a long time
convinced that the spiritualistic theory is the only one that can
stand. I lay out of the case all manifest delusions and consider only
the residuum of unquestionable facts. There clearly are such, and
in abundance.

Very truly yours,
JorN HOOKER.

An article written at the request of several Hartford Clergymen
of different denominations and read before them Dec. 17, 1888, by
John Hooker, Hartford:

A spiritualist is one who believes that disembodied spirits may
communicate with spirits in the flesh. The question whether they
have done so, and may do so, is wholly a question of fact, like any
other question of fact presented in a court of law, or in business,
for men to consider and decide. It is to be determined by evidence.
There is a great presumption against the existence of such inter-
communication, growing out of the very strong belief to the contrary
which has so long and so extensively prevailed. But this affects
only the question of the quantum of evidence necessary to establish
the fact. In the face of such a presumption there must be a great
preponderance of evidence in favor of the spiritualistic theory.

After the question of fact is settled in favor of that theory
there will remain a large practical question of much importance
with which every person must deal for himself. This question is,
to what moral use shall the fact be put? It may take the form of
a series of questions. How are my religious opinions to be affected
by it? How my teaching? How far are we to accept the state-
ments made by spirits on the other side as to their condition and
experiences over there? What is the philosophy of spiritualism?

These are questions of great importance and interest, but it is
useless to touch them until we have first settled the question of
fact. Let us then address ourselves first of all to this question.

In doing this I propose to limit myself to facts that have fallen
under my own observation, and I shall, to make the matter clearer,
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present them by classes,—taking generally only a representative
fact or two from each class.

And first, as the lowest class of phenomena, I take purely
physical phenomena, by which I mean the manifestation of a mys-
terious force that has, so far as we can see, no connection with
intelligence.

About three years ago my wife and I were invited by a frlend
in this city, a widow, to spend an evening at her house and meet an
elderly lady who was visiting her, and who belonged in the western
part of the state of New York. I came afterwards to know the
lady well. She had uncommon mediumistic gifts, but she exercised
them solely for her friends and never for compensation. She was
professedly, and seemed to be sincerely, a Christian woman. Her
trustworthiness, however, does not become an important factor in
the case. We met in the parlor of our hostess, where there was a
grand piano which I was told weighed over 1,000 pounds. It
stood against the wall on one side of the room and at about the
middle of the wall on that side. There was one gentleman besides
myself and five ladies, including the medium. We all stood up by
the piano, except one lady who played upon it, and put our hands
on top of it. Very soon the large end of it began to move out into
the room. As it did so the top board which projected over the sides
about two inches, began to rub against the wall at the smaller end of
the piano, and I went there to try to move it out a little way. I
applied my whole strength but could not move it. As soon as I de-
sisted it moved out of itself, till it was a few inches from the wall.
Then the whole piano began to move out slowly and by hitches, till
it had reached the middle of the room. On its way it stopped sev-
ergl times and lifted up its side, resting wholly on its legs on the
other side and on reaching the middle of the room again lifted itself
up in the same way, the feet rising several inches from the floor
and remaining so for several seconds. To make sure that there was
no optical illusion I stooped down and passed a book through the
space between one of the upraised feet and the carpet. During all
this time no one was lifting at all; our hands were merely resting
on top of the piano. When all was over we undertook to roll the
piano back to its place, and it was all we could do with our united:
strength.

I could give you many facts that belong to this class of what
I call unintelligent force. But phenomena of this class are of but
little interest except as they show the reality of some force entirely
external to ourselves. It may be some undiscovered natural force,—



144 Journal of the American Society for Psychical Research.

electricity perhaps. But they have an important relation to spir-
itualism in this, that they are a part of a great variety of mysterious
phenomena, and no mode of solution can be accepted which does
not cover them all; and when one is found that seems manifestly
to cover them all, it is greatly supported by the fact that it does so.
It is the weakness of the anti-spiritualistic explanations that each
set of phenomena has its separate explanation, which cannot be
applied to any other set. Thus, fraud, mind-reading, an occult
natural force, have each a very limited application, while the facts
demand some general theory.

I come, secondly, to a higher class of physical phenomena—
higher in this—that they are operated by a manifest intelligence.
This class includes, and may be illustrated by rappings, through
which intelligent communications are made. These have often been
used in private families where some member has been found to
have mediumistic gifts. The alphabet is repeated and at some letter
a rap is heard. To this letter is added in the same way another and
another, till a whole sentence is wrought out. I have received most
interesting and characteristic communications in this way. In many
cases I have had name after name of departed friends spelled out
to me, as being present, and that in a strange city, where the medium
did not even know my name. Where the medium is a public one,
there is room for a suspicion of fraud or for the explanation of
mind-reading, as the message may possibly be a manufactured one,
or the name may be got by mind-reading. But I have seen many
cases where neither of these explanations could possibly apply.
This I will illustrate by a single case. I could give scores if I had
the time.

I was spending a few days with a friend in Providence. A
lady, a member of his family, had become a medium, and at dinner
every day we had raps indicating the presence of spirits. There
were thus named to me numerous friends, whom none of the family
knew. One day I left the table early to finish a letter which I
wished to mail, and came back as the family were leaving the table.
Said my host, “ You did not stay to meet your friends. Do vou
know anybody by the name of Edward Hart?” *“ Yes,” said I,
“ He was my life-long friend, the husband of my own cousin, who
died recently.” “ Well,” said he, “ he came while you were gone
and gave his name and said it was for you.”
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Here, observe, there was no room for the mind-reading
theory;* while a fraud in the case is so remote a possibility as to
be entitled to no consideration.

* * * * *3

I take, fourthly, in the ascending scale, oral communications
through trance mediums. I class with them written communications.

This class of spiritualistic phenomena is to me the most inter-
esting and the miost convincing, and I shall dwell upon it more at
length than I have upon the others. I shall not attempt to reduce
them to any particular order, but shall select a few out of a great
many with reference to their clearer exclusion of the idea of mind-
reading, and with less reference to their value than to the proof
which they give of a super-mundane origin.

About eight years ago a gentleman was staying at my house
who proved to be a rare medium. He had no suspicion of it (that
is, he said so) though he told us of some strange experiences that
he could not understand, and of his frequently hearing raps in his
room, especially in the night, that he could not account for. He
professed not to believe in spiritualism and seemed inclined to ma-
terialistic views. At the request of my wife and myself he had
several sittings with us. He would go into a state of unconscious-
ness or apparent sleep, and after an hour come out of it with no
knowledge (as he declared and we believed) of what had happened
while he was in that condition : but he had given us communications
apparently from spirits, of which we had taken quite full notes,
giving us names that we knew well, but which it was hardly pos-
sible that he could have known of (and he declared that he did not),
and often names of which we knew nothing, but which he rec
nized as those of old friends of his who had departed. He had been
~ brought up in a family of little cultivation, and certain errors of
speech had become embedded in his English and were constantly
appearing in his ordinary conversation; yet some of the communi-
cations, purporting to come from educated minds, were expressed
in the best of English, with no intrusion of his inaccuracies.

2. Mr. Hooker could not know that the time would come when “the
mind-reading theory” would be limited in its divagations only by infinity
and the elasticity of imagination. Even had he foreseen this, he might have
refused to budge from his statement, on the ground that he, as a jurist,
must stick to evidence and common-sense.

3. Two slate-writing incidents are here omitted, for the reason stated
in Note 1.
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One evening Samuel Bowles, formerly editor of the Springfield
Republican, who had died not long before, came. He and I had
been great friends. He always called me, “ John,” and in his fre-
quent spiritualistic communications, in different places and before
different mediums, he generally so addressed me. I asked him who
were with him. He named several persons and among them Dr.
Smith, a Springfield physician, who had died a short time before.
I said a few words to him, to which he replied, stammering a little
as he spoke. I had known him slightly, and knew that he had an
impediment in his speech, but it was wholly out of my mind. It is
stated to be a general, perhaps universal rule, that spirits returning
to earth put on the old earth conditions. I have seen many illus-
trations of this, but not enough to safely generalize from. Soon
after Dr. Smith came my wife said, “I am glad to meet you, Dr.
Smith; I have often heard of you, but never saw you.” Said he.
“I met you once, Mrs. Hooker.” “ Why,” said she, “I have,no
recollection of it.” “ Yes,” said he, “I met you in London.” I
could not at the moment recall the fact, and my wife was totally
unable to, and we passed on to other communications. I very soon,
however, recollected the circumstances. My wife and I were in
London in 1875, and she went into a shop on Regent Street to make
some purchases, while I went on to attend to another, and was to
call for her there on my way back. While returning I overtook
Bowles and Dr. Smith, and we stopped and had a chat. I had not
before known that they were in the city, or indeed that they had left
home. After awhile I said to Bowles that my wife was in a shop
near by, and he must step in and see her. So he came along and Dr.
Smith with us. She was sitting at a counter looking at some goods.
Bowles shook hands with her very cordially, but Dr. Smith was
merely formally introduced, and then stepped back and waited at
the door. This little incident (of Dr. Smith’s coming in) my wife
had totally forgotten, and could not recall it after I stated my recol-
lection of it. I cannot see how any theory of mind-reading can ex-
plain this occurrence. I suppose mind-reading to be the reading
of what is then in one’s mind,—of what the mind is then doing,
and not of what is laid away in the memory and perhaps sub-
stantially forgotten.

* * * * *4

Nearly ten years ago I made a contract with a florist by which
he was to hire of me a piece of land in Hartford for a nursery and
garden, with a small house upon it, with the expectation of purchas-
ing it at a price agreed, but without a binding agreement that he
should purchase, as he felt that he could not safely come under such
an obligation; after a while he wanted to have me build a green-

4. An incident is omitted, for the reason stated in Nete 1.
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house on the lot and thought it indispensable that he should have
one. I had just been subjected to a heavy loss as a surety for some
friends, and so had no money to spare, and there was a serious risk
that he might not be able to buy, in which case the green-house
would be a useless piece of property to me. The matter was held
by me for consideration. I had not spoken of it to a human being,
not even to my wife. Just then the wife of a friend of mine, who
was a writing medium, told her husband one morning that she felt
impelled to go to Mr. Hooker’'s—that she could not say for what
purpose, but that the influence upon her was very strong. He at
once got up his carriage and drove her to my house. Both my wife
and I were out. She then felt herself impelled to write something.
She took a sheet of paper and wrote a message, signed * Francis
Gillette ” (my brother-in-law, not long deceased, and who had once
owned this land with me and knew all about my affairs) in which
he addressed me as his “ tender-hearted brother,” and advised me
not to let myself be induced to help another man who was better
able to take care of himself than I was to take care of him. I came
in, and the lady said to me, “ Here is a message for you; perhaps
you can understand it; but I have no idea what it means.” I read
it and said, “I understand perfectly what it means.” This decided
me not to make the investment. And the wisdom of the decision
was clearly proved a few months later, for the florist had an offer
of a place as superintendent of a cemetery in Springfield on a good
salary, and told me that he should have felt that he must accept it
and leave Hartford, even if I had built the green-house.

It must of course be understood that from my statement of how
the lady was impressed and what she did, up to the time when I
came in, I have had to depend on her own and her hushand’s state-
ments. I will further state that the message could have had no other
meaning or application than the one I gave it, as there was no other
matter then under consideration with me that involved the raising
of money, or the helping of anybody.

In the financial crash of 1875-6 a firm of my personal friends
and relatives, who were engaged in a large real estate undertaking,
failed most disastrously. I was holden as their surety to a large
amount. Their real estate was all mortgaged to various savings
banks, and I held a second mortgage for my security. I took the
property and struggled with the load two or three years, losing sev-
eral thousand dollars more in the attempt, and finally surrendered
it all to the mortgagees. I found myself no longer able to hold my
own dwelling-house, and after a long effort to carry it, I put it into
the hands of a broker to sell. For three years he tried to sell it
without success and there was no way but for me to give it upon a
heavy mortgage which I had some time before put upon it. The
mortgagee was willing to take it, as it was well worth the debt,
even in the very depressed condition of real estate at that time.



148  Journal of the American Society for Psychical Research.

Accordingly I prepared a deed and executed it and held it ready to
be delivered to the mortgagee. It then occurred to me that a friend
of mine, who had no house, might be willing to buy an undivided
half of the place at a low price, and that we could together carry it,
the house being of ample size for our two families, with extensive
grounds. I proposed it to him. He said it was a generous offer
and that he would talk with his wife about it. My intimate friend,
Gov. Hubbard, an eminent lawyer, had died a few weeks before this.
While the matter so stood, a lady whom we knew called on me and
said that the previous evening she had been at a séance, and that
Gov. Hubbard announced himself and said, “ Tell John Hooker to
let there be no foreclosure and no division.” She said none of them
knew what it meant, but perhaps I should, and that she had brought
.it exactly as it was uttered. I told her I knew what it meant. I
decided to hold on to the property a little longer. This was early in
April. Before the first of May a stranger, desiring to settle in
Hartford, found that this house was for sale, looked at it and bought
it, giving all that I could have hoped to get in the depressed con-
dition of real estate, but several thousand dollars more than the
mortgage.

I cannot see how there could have been any mind-reading here ;
while there could have been no fraud, at least there seems no room
for any suspicion of it. It is to be noticed, however, that the mes-
sage speaks of a “ foreclosure,” while no foreclosure was thought
of. It was to have been merely a surrender of the property to the
mortgagee, the result being of course the same as if there had been
literally a foreclosure, that being the ordinary mode of getting pos-
session of a mortgage.

Nore: I have thus far followed substantially the address which
I delivered before the clergymen, omitting a few illustrations. The
rest of that address was an answer to objections which I had seen
made, and so anticipated, followed by oral answers to questions of
the clergymen. All this I omit as pertaining only to the spiritual-
istic theory, while what is now wanted is facts and not theories. I
will in its place give a few more facts that came under my own ob-
servation. I ought to say further that I very rarely made any record
or memorandum at the time of the occurrences, my object being to
satisfy my own mind and not to get proof for use with others. I
always made it a point to scrutinize the conditions attending any
phenomena so far as I was able, and where I was not I considered
the case of little value.

There resides in Hartford a woman who practises “ Magnetic
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Healing,” named A. E. Colt. We have employed her many times
in our family for massage treatment during the past ten or twelve
years, anid have come to know her well, and to have great confi-
dence in her honesty. She professes to be controlled by an Indian
girl named Minnie, and sometimes by another named Nicowassa.
Each of these controls has peculiarities of speech (imperfect and
mispronounced English). But the language of one is at certain
points totally unlike that of the other. I have had many sittings
with her, and have watched carefully this matter of speech, and am
able to state positively that I have never found either trespassing
on the other’s preserves of inaccuracies. And, further, I have
never known in a single instance Miss Colt, when not in a trance
and speaking in her own person, falling into the particular inaccur-
acies of speech of either, and while she has some inaccuracies of
her own I have never known her to intermingle them with the
words of either control, at least in such a way as to make them
noticeable. Also when speaking under control, she invariably alludes
to herself as a third person, and never says “1” of herself.

In the fall of 1887 (I think Nov.) Rev. Jos. D. Hull, a college
class-mate and life-long friend, was very ill at Boston. He had been
there for five years under medical treatment, growing worse all the
while, and had now reached the point where his physician said his
death was a question of only a few days. He had formerly lived
in Farmington, Conn., and 'his first wife was buried there, and he
desired to be buried there. His immediate death was regarded as
so certain that all arrangements were made for his burial, and his
brother in Philadelphia, I at Hartford, and other friends in New
York, were hourly expecting despatches informing us of his death.
He had lived awhile in Hartford and Miss Colt had known him.
At this time I had an accidental opportunity for a short sitting with
her. I asked her guide (I forget which—I think, Minnie) if she
remembered Mr. Hull. She said, “ Yes.” “ Well,” said I, “ What
is his condition now?” She said he was very low. “ How long will
he live?” I asked. The answer was, “He will be living nine
months from now ” or “ will live till nine months from now.” It
did not necessarily imply his death then, but I took it to mean that
he would probably die then. I said, “ nine months? It is impossible,
you must mean nine days.” * No,” said she, “ nine moons.” “ Don’t
you mean nine weeks?” ‘“ No, nine moons.” She added, “I see
a moon, and a figure nine over it.” This seemed so strange that at
once I made a record of the prediction, but informed no one but my
wife. News soon came that Mr. Hull was more comfortable, but
not otherwise gaining. He lingered on, however, to the astonish-
ment of everyone, and finally seemed to gain strength a little, but
suffered greatly and was impatient to die. The nine months ran
into August, 1888. During that month I was in England and ex-
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pected to hear of his death, but he lived on through August and was
still living when I got back about the first of October.

Soon after my return I had a sitting with Miss Colt, and said
to her guide, “ Well my friend, Mr. Hull did not die in nine months
after all.” She replied, “ I did not say he would, but fhat he would
live till then” “ Well,” said I, “ How long will he live?” She
replied, “ He will not go over till after snow comes, and I think not
till February.” He died on the 16th of February, 1889.

A few days after his death I had a sitting with Miss Colt, and
said to Minnie, “ Well, my friend, Mr. Hull lived till February.
Can you tell me now how long he will live?” She replied, “ He
won’t live but a little longer.” I said, “ Why, he is dead already.
He died several days ago. Did you not know it?” “No,” said
she, “I did not know it. I have not seen him here.” A few days
later, at another sitting, she told me she had now seen him, and at
a still later one she brought a very characteristic message of consid-
erable length from him, which I cannot spend time upon here.

The curious fact here was her ignorance of his death, when she
had in each case before seemed to know his condition, and to be able
to make predictions about him.

In June, 1888, I made my arrangements to go to England for my
summer vacation. Two ladies, one of them a cousin, decided to go
with me, and finally two young gentlemen and two more ladies,—
the whole party making seven, of whom.I was the only one who had
ever crossed the Atlantic, which I had done a dozen times. All
were therefore dependent on me as a manager and guide. Our pas-
sages were taken and all preparations made. I proposed to my
wife to go with us. (She had before spent a year and a half in
England and Europe.) She said that nothing would induce her to
take the voyage for so short a stay, and it was treated as a settled
thing that she would not think of going. About a month before we
were to sail I had a sitting with Miss Colt, when Minnie said, “I
see you and your wife crossing the ocean together.” (Not a word
had been said about my going.) Said I, “ Oh, you are all wrong
there. I may go, but my wife will not think of going.” * Yes, she
will,” she replied, “ She will change her mind at the last moment
and go.” I took this to be a clear case of blundering, so much so,
that I did not even speak of it to my wife. About three weeks before
we were to sail my wife went away from home to be gone about two
weeks. Ten days before the day for sailing I was taken suddenly
with dysentery, and was threatened with a serious fit of it, with
little hope of getting up in season to sail. My wife was telegraphed
to hurry home and came at once. By good medical and home care
I got better rapidly, but was still in poor condition for the voyage.
We were to leave home on Friday and to sail on Saturday. On
Wednesday morning my wife said. “ I am going with you, you need
my care.” I advised against it, but she was decided about it, and
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sent immediately for a seamstress to help get her clothes in order,
and by excessively hard pushing she got ready and went off with
me on Friday and took the whole tour with me. She had not thought
of going till she woke on Wednesday morning with the sudden re-
solve to go.

Mrs. Bigelow of Boston had told me in 1875 that my great-
grandmother on my mother’s side was interesting herself in and
watching over me. (Some spirit pretending to be her has repeat-
edly come to me since through different mediums in different places.
I mention this only in passing and cannot dwell upon it.) The same
woman was also the great-grandmother of Wm. M. Evarts, Senator
Hoar, Masstts., and Gov. Roger S. Baldwin of Connecticut. I was
having a sitting with a medium in Providence about ten years ago,
when she came to me (or the medium asserted that she was present).
I asked the medium (who was in a semi-unconscious condition, not
quite a complete trance), if the old lady was interesting herself in
any other great-grandchildren whom I knew. I had before inad-
vertently spoken of Mr. Evarts. The medium said, “ Yes.” I then
asked for names. She at once said, “ Evarts”; then after long
looking into vacancy she said she saw the letters, H O A R before
her. I then asked for one more name. She said there was another
name, but it was very obscure and she could not make it out.
Finally she said it began with “ B ”” and that she counted seven let-
ters in all, but she could not make out any of them except the first
letter “B,” and gave up the attempt. If the medium had men-
tioned all the names I should not have regarded the case as worth
noticing, as the three names were not only in my mind, but were
there in a predominating way. But it was curious that while the
name “ Baldwin” was as clearly in my mind as the others, and
finally became the one engrossing thought in my mind. the medium
was not able so to read my thoughts as to get hold of it. I state
the case for what it is worth.

Last November (1889) I held a note of $5000.00 which fell
due on a Tuesday of that month. The maker had assured me that
it would be paid and I had made arrangements, which I could not
easily change, for the use of the money. On the Thursday before
the note fell due the maker wrote me from New York, where he
lived, that he found he must renew for three months for $4000.00,
paying now only $1000.00 and asking if I could accommodate him.
The letter reached me on Sunday.* I wrote him by the Sunday* night
mail that I would do so if he would send a check for the $1000.00
by the Saturday evening mail, so that I could have it on Monday
morning. Sunday evening Miss Colt, the medium I have before
spoken of, was at my house and went into a trance there. I had
not said a word to my wife about this note matter, nor of my ex-

* Evidently misstated for Friday.
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pectation of the $1000.00 on Monday. Miss Colt said, “ Your
daughter Mary is here.” (A daughter aged 40, who died in 1886,
and who has been to us many times, and in a convincing way.)
And she says, “ Father, the letter that will come to you to-morrow
will have nothing in it, but what you expect will come very soon.”
Nobody in the room had any conception what it meant, but I told
them that I understood it perfectly.

The postman the next morning brought a letter from the gentle-
man in New York, expressing a regret that he had not been able to
get the money in season to send me a draft by that mail, but that
he would certainly send it by the next day’s mail, and in fact he
came up himself late Monday evening and brought me the $1000.00.

About 1845, just as I was entering on my profession (law) I
read with great interest a life of Sir Samuel Romilly, a great Eng-
lish lawyer, who lived in the latter part of the last and the early
part of this century. My whole life has been affected by the per-
sonality of that man, and when I was in England in 1858 I sought
out his son, Sir John Romilly, then master of the rolls, and had a
long talk with him about his father. I never saw Sir John again,
and did not suppose that he ever again thought of me. He died a
few years later. About twelve years ago I was, with my wife,
spending a few days at Rev. Dr. Edward Beecher’s in Brooklyn,
N. Y. He and Mrs. B. were at that time much interested in look-
ing into spiritualistic phenomena. Mrs. B. has since become a full
believer in spiritualism. He cannot explain the facts he has ob-
served by any other but the spiritualistic theory, but is repelled by
the theological character of some of the communications. One even-
ing Dr. and Mrs. B. and my wife and I went together to a very
respectable lady living not far off, who was a medium, and in whose
trustworthiness they seemed to have confidence. Various interest-
ing things occurred, but I will notice only one incident. The medium
addressed me and said (some spirit seeming to try to speak through
her), “ Sir John, Sir John.” I could not imagine who it could be,
till my wife (unfortunately for the completeness of the test) said,
“ Don’t you know friend Romilly?” The name had not come into
my mind till then. I then said, “Is it Sir John Romilly?” The
medium at once reached out her hand to take mine, and seemed
to answer at once to that name. I took the hand, shaking it rather
formally than cordially, and said, “I am very happy to meet you,
Sir John.” The medium then said (personating him), “ I am happy
to meet you, but I came specially to introduce to you my father, Sir
Samuel.” He then (that is the medium) made motion as if intro-
ducing somebody, and then the medium took my hand (now repre-
senting Sir Samuel) and gave it a dignified shake, and said, “I am
happy to meet you ” (or substantially that) and this was all that was
done. Something else came along and took the attention of the
medium. ’
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INCIDENTS.

The Society assumes no responsibility for anything published under
this head and no endorsement is implied, except that it is furnished by
an apparently trustworthy contributor whose name is given unless with-
held by his own request.

COINCIDENTAL DREAM.

The following incidents were sent to Dr. Worcester by the
informant who confirms them and whom I met with Miss Dawson
at Dr. Worcester’s house. The letter is not dated, but the post-
mark is May 1st, 1915, and the date of the experience is noted
by the one who had the dreams and wrote the account to Miss
Simmons. It will be noticed that Miss Simmons confirms the
incidents on April 19th, so the letter of Miss Dawson must
have been written on April 19th, as the second dream took place
on the night of April 18th, 1915.—Editor.

Miss Dawson’s Account.

I dreamed that I was in Cuba last Saturday night (April 17,
1915) with Miss Simmons and her father. We went for a long
ride and drew up before a group of thatched roof huts, where we
were invited to dine. In some mysterious way (mysterious because
it just came) I learned that the man who was our host was named
Mooney. We all sat down at a long table, and there were so many
hens and dogs trying to get onto the table that I couldn’t eat. Miss
Simmons said: “ You should eat in spite of your not wanting to,
for politeness’ sake,” but her father placed his arm around my shoul-
ders and said: “ Don’t tease her Eva, for she isn’t to blame. Some
time she will grow stronger, but we will just help her now.”

When I told Miss Simmons my dream I laughingly said: “ Of
all names, Mooney, I don’t believe there is such a name.” She
said: “ But there is and my father and I have ridden there in Cuba
to his house and eaten, even with the dogs and hens.

Lirrian T. Dawson.
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This occurrence, except for Miss Dawson’s share, took place in
Cuba in July, 1903, and is described accurately.

Eva L. SiMMoNs.

April 19,"1915.

The Second Dream.,

On Sunday night April 18th, I dreamed that Miss Simmons’
father came to me and talked of her (Miss Simmons’) graduation
from High School. He said it took place in 1898, and that she was
valedictorian and had written the class hymn. When I told Miss
Simmons of the dream, she said: “ Yes, I did graduate from High
School that year, and the rest is true, but I’ve forgotten the poem
completely.” She had never talked to me of her school days at all
and I didn’t even know until that night that she lived in South Wey-
mouth at the time. On Tuesday, April 20th I sat idly playing with
a pencil and paper and had been wishing I knew what the poem was,
when my hand started to write frantically. I was awake but it
seemed as if I was in a dream. The shutting of a door startled me
and I stopped writing and looked down at the paper. There was a
complete poem, rather hard to decipher, but it was there and my
arm seemed lifeless as if some one had used it and exhausted it.

LirriaNn T. DawsoN.

Miss Simmons writes a special confirmation of this account
and the automatic writing was not deciphered by her. This
second dream must have been written on a later date since the
automatic writing mentioned in the same account occurred on
April 20th.—Editor.

:

“True and accurate in every detail. I had forgotten entirely
poem and motto, but they were given correctly.

Eva L. S1MMoONS.
April 20, 1915. ’
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PREMONITION.

The following incident came to my attention through the
newspapers which repeated the circumstance immediately after
the death of the person who had the dream. Fortunately we
have her own account of it which I copy from her own magazine.
It is taken from the January-February number of Zoe’s Maga-
zine for 1914. The account is by Zoe Anderson Norris, a well-
known young woman on the East Side in New York. It seems
that in the previous July-August number of the same magazine
she had asserted that the dead never come back, and apparently
this dream which she narrates at least set her to thinking and
apparently converted her to a large outlook in regard to the
meaning of the cosmos.

Narrative from Zoe’s Magazine,

I am going to take a journey to the Undiscovered - Country,
very soon, if there is anything in dreams, and if you knew the
dreams of my life, you would say there is.

Do you remember 18w, in the July and August number, I said
that the dead never come back? Well when you say such a thing
positively, the Great Deity says to himself, “ I'll show her just how
little she knows.” That is what happened to me.

But first, so that you may understand the dream, I must tell
you of my family, how my father died, then one after another of
them, two years apart, until five had died, and two years ago
another.

Now I will tell you of my dream. I was sitting alone one night
long after I had published the audacious statement that the dead
never come back, sat very lonely in the big chair under the lamp,
pondering over the problem of life and wondering, as I often do,
what was the use of it all anyhow, and then I went to bed and slept.
Along toward dawn I had a dream.

Again I sat alone, wondering, wondering. And then I thought
there came swiftly down a long and dusky hall a little woman, a
tiny little woman in black. As she came down the hall, the doors
swung open and shut for her in a mysterious way, as if blown by
winds. Finally she reached my bed and stood there. It was my
mother, such a tiny little thing to have borne thirteen children.
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She was hardly higher than the posts of my low bed as she stood
there by me. In my dream I put up my arms and clasped them
about her. I felt the soft slazy silk of her black dress. “ Am I the
next,” I asked her, and she said, “ Yes.” I screamed, and she put
up her small hand and said, “ Shhh! Shhh!”

My scream awakened me. How glad I was that it was light,
for tho I had put my arms around my little mother, I was afraid
of her. Her presence was so strongly with me that I think her
spirit still stood there by my bed, tho I couldn’t see it, because of
the light. At any rate the first thought that came to me as I lay
there in the dawn was that I didn’t care.

Mrs. Norris died on February 13th, 1914, and her death was an-
nounced in the papers on February 14th. Some of the notices re-
ferred to the prediction which she made of her death. A personal
friend, Mr. W. J. Lampton, on February 24th, 1914, published a
memorial poem of her and referred to the prediction of her death
as an incident which he had heard her mention personally. His
letter appeared in the New York Times. A further corroboration
of the prediction comes from Miss Tubby, assistant in the office
of the Society for Psychical Research. The following is her
statement.

Aprir, 16th, 1914,

I knew personally the late Mrs. Zoe Anderson Norris, to whom
the attached matter relates. Four years ago, at the time of the
death of one of her sisters, she referred in my presence to the fact
that she had had a premonition of it in her dreams. She referred
then also to the character of her dreams, some of them at least
being such as bore an import of coming trouble or death to her.

In speaking of her daughter, she told me that there seemed to
be a peculiarly close relation between her daughter and herself. If
her daughter felt the need of her mother’s presence, she almost
always felt it evan at a distance. Once when the daughter was
suffering in Chicago from some physical or mental anguish, in the
night, Mrs. Norris, in New York City, was awakened by hearing
her daughter speak her name twice clearly as tho calling upon her
for aid. She wrote a letter and asked her daughter whether there
had been any cause for her own feeling of uneasiness about her

welfare and the reply came verifying the cry for help on that very
night on which it was heard, and at the same hour, difference in
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time being allowed for between Chicago and New York. Mrs.
Norris said this was but one incident of many that went to show
their close relation.

GERTRUDE OGDEN TUBBY.

The chief interest in this incident is the combination of ap-
parition and premonition. Usually either the apparition or the
premonition comes without the added complexity of another phe-
nomenon. This makes it more difficult to assign an explanation.
When one incident alone occurs, such as the apparition or the
premonition, it may possess no clue to the connections which
suggest the cause. When they occur in combination, however,
they at least show a unity in phenomena that purposes of classi-
fication often separate. FEach alone thus represents an incom-
plete phenomenon, so that a frequent occurrence of the combina-
tion would require us to seek the same explanation for appari-
tions and premonitions. This peculiarity of incompleteness often
shows itself in the subliminal messages of psychics. I have often
marked it in the subliminal stages of Mrs. Chenoweth. She
“sees” forms or “hears” messages, but has not the slightest
conception of what the source of them is, unless she is familiar
with the personality seen. Sometimes she finds the message and
apparition so combined that the simplest inference explains them.
The message is incomplete until its source is ascertained, but
often that source is unknown. On the contrary, the opposite is
quite often the fact. The source and the message come in the
same process and the explanation becomes much simpler, as it
involves the articulation of phenomena that are often separated
for classification.

If, in the case of Mrs. Norris, only the premonition had come
in a dream which did not represent the apparition of her mother,
some hasty speculators and would-be scientific adventurers would
suppose that the subconscious, with its marvellous powers, had
been able to perceive the condition of the organism and forecast
its demise. But to find the dream associated with an apparition
of her mother who was dead is to complicate subconscious ex-
planations, especially if such phenomena occur in that particular
form in large numbers. Hence the main interest in this instance
is in the complication of explanations that would escape the most
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apparent and simple one. If telepathy would explain the appari-
tion it would not explain the premonition, and whatever will
explain the premonition will also explain the apparition. The
combination of wholly distinct explanations for each aspect of
the phenomenon is exceedingly improbable.—Editor.
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Handbook of the New Thought. By Horario W. DrEsser. G. P.
Putnam’s Sons, New York, 1917,

This is the fourteenth volume by Mr. Dresser on the general sub-
ject of the influence of the mind on the body. It probably indicates
the wide extent to which the belief of some causal relation between
thought and bodily conditions exists. It is not a scientific treatise
and can come under our attention only as an index of public feeling
regarding the subject. It has but the most general interest for
psychic researchers and that only because it is in the borderland to
our work. It is most general in its discussions and relies on a sort
of introspective and analytical method for its asSertions. It deals
largely in the abstractions of the sciences, especially those of psy-
chology, and may be accusable of distorting the ideas to which it
appeals. Whether such an accusation can be made out or is worth
making may be doubted. Wherever Mr. Dresser has been read and
appreciated the book will be read—J. H. H.

The Supernatural in Modern English Fiction. By DoroTHY SCAR-
BOROUGH, Instructor in English in Extension, Columbia Univers-
ity. G. P. Putnam’s Sons, New York, 1917.

The primary interest of this work for psychic researchers is its
probable inspiration from the work of psychic research. It is not a
work for any scientific interest in the truth of the “ supernatural ”,
but merely its influence as an idea in fiction. * Ghosts "’ have long
been a topic as interesting in literature as in common life, and prob-
ably it is the half dread of the supernatural that keeps the matter
alive. 'But however that may be, such works as the present one are
good evidence of the vitality of the idea wholly aside from the claim
to scientific reality of the thing itself. It is a good book, well written
and with some considerable measure of scholarship. You will not
get any evidence for the reality of the “ supernatural ”, which will
not be tolerated until even academic centers are forced to make their
peace with facts, but it does not harm to have it fully told to us that
the idea is strong enough to influence extensively a large field of
literature.—J. H. H.
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SURVEY AND COMMENT.

It is amazing to find university men still publicly making
glaring misstatements concerning well known psychics. The chief
offenders in the past few months have been Professor Joseph
Jastrow, of Wisconsin, and President G. Stanley Hall, of Clark
University. Neither of these men is a member of the Society
though, no doubt, they have access to library files of the English
and American S. P. R. publications. By his own confession in
1915, President Hall's university is doing nothing whatever in
psychic research,’ and by the earlier testimony of his own and
Dr. Tanner’s volume in 1910,? its president is quite incompetent
to pass judgment on Mrs. Piper’s work. As to her trustworthi-
ness : shall he speak who approached her with misrepresentation,
stating that he had authority from Sir Oliver Lodge in order to
secure from her the permission to hold sittings which, after her
courteous acceptance of the undertaking, were so wrongly con-
ducted and so badly reported that they have proved an entirely
worthless production to psychology or psychic research from the
moment they appeared ?

The writer of this note has not personally met Mrs. Piper
but knows well the history of her work for the S. P. R. in

1. Journal A. S. P. R., Vol. XI, No. 8.
2. Journal A. S. P. R, Vol. V, No. 1.
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America and afterwards in England. Her reputation for ac-
curacy of statement is so well and soundly established that she
may well afford to smile at these public fulminations, as she has
no doubt been doing the past two months. She has never pro-
moted a lie or supported a lie in all the work she has done.

A newspaper, in 1901, secured a statement from her of her
understanding of her own mediumship. It then garbled her own
statement to suit itself ; brought it to her to sign; she refused. It
then rewrote, or claimed to rewrite the article; brought her the
last two pages for signature in such shape that she was willing to
sign, maintaining that the first part of the article had not

~ been changed and therefore wasl not resubmitted. However,

when the statement finally appeared it so thoroughly displeased
Mrs. Piper that she refused the payment for it. The newspaper
then approached her with the offer of a life pension if she would
agree to discontinue her work. This she also refused. The
documents in these matters were duly filed with Dr. Hodgson, of
the S. P. R., who wrote to the newspaper to ask its explanation
of the whole affair. Up to this time no reply has ever been
received.

As to Mme. Palladino to whom Prof. Jastrow has recently
alluded in public statements: the present writer has long been
possessed of the testimony of an eye-witness, entirely disinter-
ested, who saw Prof. Muensterberg start with amazement and
turn pale at a Palladino séance, one Thursday or Friday night,
when nothing apparent had touched him at all. In reply to
immediate questioning by those in the circle he asserted that
something had poked him in the ribs! Yet he was in plain sight
of all and nothing visible had touched him. He was still pale
as he left, on the same elevator that carried my friend down.
He never explained the phenomenon, but came out with his
denial of anything supernormal in the next Sunday’s papers.
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RECENT EXPERIMENTS CONTINUED.
By James H. HysLop.

The present paper has a special importance besides that of
proving the personal identity of the communicator. The mate-
rial is purely the spontaneous work of the controls. I had not
hinted that I desired to hear from the parties. They are my
stepmother and my mother. My stepmother had died in the
previous October just five months prior to this sitting which was
on February 26th, 1916. She had died on October 6th, 1915.
I had not said a word about it and nothing had been said publicly
that would lead to any knowledge of it, tho her death was an-
nounced in a brief obituary notice at the time. The funeral did
not interrupt my experiments and I simply awaited events.

My mother had died 47 years before and had communicated
through Mrs. Piper and later through Mrs. Chenoweth. All
the results of the Piper records had been made public and only
a part of them through Mrs. Chenoweth, tho most of them had
been incorporated in Vol. VI of the Proceedings which Mrs.
Chenoweth had seen. None of the facts, however, were of any
help in what came from her this time unless one of them may
have afforded a clue to a part which was said here. At any rate,
we have to assume that Mrs. Chenoweth knew that my mother
was dead, but the facts told were out of the reach of all but
three of the family and a very old aunt who did not recall any of
the facts mentioned at the sittings. Not a person was living in
the neighborhood that knew anything about her and some of
the events occurred in another country in her own childhood
about which there was but one relative living who might have
known and that was the aunt just mentioned. But actually she
knew none of the facts.

The sequel showed that the controls had in mind proving that
those who had been long dead could communicate better than
those who died recently. They stated that this was their object,
and tho my mother did most excellent work in proof of her
personal identity, the result showed that, had it not been for my

-
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own memory, she would have totally failed to have proved her
identity, as no one save myself and two brothers could remember
the facts, and these two brothers did not remember many of
them as I could. They were younger than I. But for this
fortunate circumstance such incidents would have been attributed
by the sceptic to guessing and fabrication. They very clearly
showed that any casual and wandering spirit who had been dead
so long might communicate as well or better than my mother and
yet not be able to prove his identity.

The particular interest of my stepmother’s efforts lies in
the confusion and fragmentary, almost irrelevant nature, of her
messages. While she said enough to prove who it was, she
would not have influenced any sceptic and perhaps would not
have appeared intelligible to any one who did not understand
the nature of mediumistic work. The results throw special light
upon the difficulties of communicating, tho we do not yet know
enough about them to say exactly what these are. Their exist-
ence is apparent, tho their nature is not.

At the time of my stepmother’s illness which caused her
death, I had brought up the subject to the trance personalities
without telling who it was. They were very sanguine about her
recovery and did not seem to think the illness was serious, tho
they referred correctly, as I afterward learned, to a few in-
cidents that I did not know. But they totally failed in their
diagnosis of its dangers. When I arrived home, she was dead,
having passed away two hours before my arrival. At the sitting
five hours before her death, the controls left the impression, in-
deed, asserted that there was no immediate danger. She was
actually near death at the time. It is possible that the subcon-
scious of Mrs. Chenoweth was so determined to see or take such
a hopeful attitude about the situation that it would not let the
real facts penetrate the veil. However that may be, the attitude
and statements were wholly wrong.

I said nothing about the matter after the funeral and acted
as if nothing had happened, waiting calmly to see what would
happen spontaneously. I was, of course, busy with a special
task and this could not be interrupted. I had gotten her name
and relationship through a young lady a week after her death,
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a case I was working on for obsession with a view to curing it;
the lady knew absolutely nothing about my stepmother, not even
knowing that I had one or that any one had recently died in
whom I was interested.

My stepmother’s first appearance through Mrs. Chenoweth,
as intimated above, was on February 26th, 1916. She began
the automatic writing with the following message and without
any announcement of her personality. She began, as it were,
in the middle of a sentence or without preliminaries, as if she
had been communicating before, which she had not.

Mother wishes to tell her son that, when the boys are together
working out these problems of identification of signs and writings,
she is with him and hopes to be of some use somewhere in the work
just as father has been.

It was the reference to father as well as the term “ mother ”
tho it was not strictly accurate, that made me see who was
present. But the allusion to the “boys” was not intelligible
and it was only later in the experiment that I got a clue to what
her reference was. She was referring to my deceased brothers
one of whom she had never known and to their work at sittings
in the effort to help with communications. It is apparent how
fragmentary the message is. But for later remarks we should
not have a clue to its interpretation. With this additional ex-
planation, we find that the reference is to events out of sight
and not verifiable except by frequent messages on the point
articulating in such a manner as to render probable the nature
of the complex process involved in the communications.

One obscure allusion deserves special notice. It is to the
part of these “boys ” in the process of the work. They are im-
plicated in the “ identification of signs and writings ”’ connected
with the communications. Here we have an obscure hint of
the complications. They are not what the average layman as-
sumes. As I have often remarked in comments on the method of
communicating, the average layman pictures to himself some-
thing like immediate control of the organism in either speech or
writing. The superficial appearance of the records leads to
this view of the phenomena, and it is only in the by-ways of the
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work that we find the correction of this error. Here it is the
unconscious allusion to “ signs” and “ writings ” that intimates
the existence of complexities, tho it does not explain what they
are. We may imagine what they are sometimes from what I
have observed in the work of Miss Burton; namely, the writing
of a message in letters of fire in the air. It is probable—and I
have seen evidence of it in the work of Mrs. Chenoweth—that,
in lieu of other methods at the time, the controls picture the
message in light for the subconscious of the medium or the -
mind of the control to communicate it, sometimes after inter-
preting it, as has to be done in the pictographic process when the
memory phantasms are transmitted. Sometimes I have obtained
evidence that symbolic signs have to be used, and it is all these
facts which give meaning to the allusion here to “signs and
writings.”
My stepmother knew what my father’s work had been, and
while Mrs. Chenoweth knew that I had communicated with him,
_she had seen none of it except in Vol. VI of the Proceedings and
tho that was enough to enable her to make this statement, she
had no normal reasons for connecting my stepmother with the
matter. Of course she does not say ‘‘ stepmother ”, but mother,
but the next message easily and quickly identifies her as my
stepmother. It goes on immediately after the statement I have
quoted, without even interrupting the sentence.

With the workers at another connected center, I have been try-
ing to give a sign of my presence. It is harder here to get an
opening, for there are so many who are waiting for the hour long
before it is used and the limited time prevents much change.

As already remarked I had heard from her a week after her
death through another psychic, and tho she had also been referred
to through one in New York I could not attach any value to
the reference, as this psychic knew of her death and was, indeed,
at her funeral. But that this particular medium was not in
mind was indicated later, as we shall see. But the fact that I
had gotten evidence of her presence before makes this instance
a hit of some kind, whatever value we may attach to it. The
expression that it is “ harder here to get an opening” is in-
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telligible only on the supposition that personalities are present
who may be permitted to communicate in case that any hitch in
other plans occurs.

Immediately following this message and without any relevant
connection with it came an allusion to my living sister—half-
sister, daughter of the deceased—and it is interesting as showing
a tendency to regard the effort as one to give a proper name. I
quote the passage at some length.

I have long wished to tell S—— that I am near her.

(Who is S?)

You know your sister.

(All right. Go ahead. I thought so.)

And I know her desire to understand more and yet her natural
conservatism, almost fear, innate shrinking from strange gods,
understand me, James?

(Yes, exactly.)

I sometimes think she will never accept with joy the truth you
are expounding. She believes in you and she endures your dis-
coveries, but you two are quite as different as if born under two
nations. :

(I understand.) ,

I know her fidelity to the girls and to you.

Evidently we have an obscure intimation of complexity in
the process of communicating in the capital S which referred to
my sister, but which the control or the subconscious mistook for
an attempt at a proper name. I have often observed the same
fact when the word “ Mother ” is given. We are evidently here
in the presence of some sort of ““ signs "’ as already stated.

The characterization of my sister is exact and I need not
repeat the facts in my own language, except to say that the
reference to her “ fidelity to the girls and to me ” is remarkably
apt. I had my sister as my housekeeper after the disqualification
of the one that followed the death of my wife and her work
with the children solved a problem which it was impossible for
me, with my task in the Society, to accomplish myself. Her
relation to the family was not known to the public, tho it could
easily have filtered its way into general knowledge, but it would
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not carry with it the intimate fidelity to the children. Her atti-
tude on this subject was wholly unknown to the public.

Immediately following the passage quoted above came another
attempt to refer to a medium who was apparently meant in the
first allusion to cross reference. The passage is a little
complicated.

It is a privilege to me to be here, but I must not forget that my
message was to be but a test of the work where a new writing was
begun and unfinished, and another took the time. It is where you
have tried to get a man * * messenger doing good work, a man
working to unfold a light in a more systematic way with a trance.

(Who is that man. Tell what you can to make me ...) [Writ-
ing began before I had finished my statement.]

I mean your brother and some of the friends. Charles tried
and R. tried, still trying to give a better report to you, and I have
been there. You know where I have been with father and the boys

- to make this cross reference.

The control was lost at this point and in fact the communi-
cation was extremely difficult all along. This message is extra-
ordinarily fragmentary. While any one can see that there is
an attempt to say something of importance there is no clear
indication of what is meant except that an effort is made at a
cross reference. The reference to a masculine control, to writing,
and to the trance and the statement that she had been there
indicate to me very clearly what was in mind. It was the young
woman mentioned previously who was as yet an undeveloped
psychic, afflicted with obsession, and a man, a deceased person-
ality, was trying to develop her for systematic work. As pre-
viously stated my stepmother had given her name and relation-
ship to me there. But there was no trace whatever of my
father or the “ boys ”. But Charles is the name of my deceased
brother who communicated through Mrs. Piper and Mrs. Chen-
oweth, and R is the initial of the brother Robert who communi-
cated through Mrs. Chenoweth. The young woman had never
heard of either of them. They are represented here as trying
to do something there and it was evidently they that were in
mind in the first message here commented on and it was too
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fragmentary to determine either what was meant or who the
“boys ” were that were in mind. The present passage, however,
makes the matter clearer. It represents a group of my own
family trymg to get a cross reference message through and the
result is so fragmentary that we should not have the slightest
evidence that it is true but for the identification of the psychic
and the correct statement that my stepmother had been there.
We have to build up the intention of the communicator from
what I know of the facts rather than from the clear character
of the message. It is even possible that I do not get a word of
what it was intended to say and that some marginal thought
slips through in explanation rather than the real message itself.
There is just enough of the supernormal to justify the attempt
to reconstruct the message and to illustrate the extremely frag-
mentary character of the message.

The next message illustrates this last remark still more clearly.
I remarked in regard to the previous message that the control
broke down at the end of it. But the control was evidently
changed at once while the same communicator continued. The
passage is an extraordinarily interesting one from the stand-
point of fragmentariness.

W... W... Wo... Wo... Work [Struggle to keep
control.] "

(Stick to it.)

so hard, stairs go up, soft stairs, inside not these. You know
what I mean.

(No I don’t.) [The message was unintelligible.]

Boston, not New York.

(What kind of a person?)

[I was still thinking of the medium involved in the cross ref-
erence experiment and so was confused about the real meaning of
the message.]

N... York.

[The pencil fell and the sitting ended with the subliminal utter-
ing the name “ James” which was what my stepmother always
called me.] ‘

This message is so confused that no reader could imagine
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that it was an intelligible message at all. One has to know
certain facts to give it any meaning whatever. My stepmother
was quite old, 82 at her death. She had been more than usually
active at that age and aided in the housework at my home. She
could never remain idle. But it was very hard going up and
down stairs and she often complained of the weariness of it to
my sister. The stairs were carpeted and so were ‘ soft stairs .
The effort here was to distinguish between the stairs in New
York which she had to climb and the stone stairway which every
one has to climb to reach Mrs. Chenoweth’s house, which was,
of course, in Boston and mine in New York. The clue to all this
is the reference to the “ hard work ”’ and the stairs, characterized
as “ soft ”, and to the distinction between Boston and New York.
The incident is especially evidential because it could not possibly
have been known to the psychic, Mrs. Chenoweth. Even its con-
fusion and fragmentary character help it in this respect.

This was the first communication of my stepmother through
Mrs. Chenoweth tho a day or two previous to this my father’s
name was given and probably indicated an attempt on her part
to send a message. But there have been no further sustained
attempts by her since that time. The present effort was inter-
rupted by my mother who had died 47 years previously and a
series of messages given which are among the best I ever re-
ceived from any one for sustained evidential interest and com-
pactness. They began the next day. There was confusion at
first between the two personalities which is most interesting. It
should receive special notice as very difficult to explam on any
theory of normal processes.

Not quite clear was the message at its close, but the beginning
was good for your mother, not your stepmother, but the mother
long gone from your earthly habitation. There is one small detail
which seems as if it might make good evidence, which we wish
to repeat.

She held in her hand a small garment of bright color. It was
apparently a night gown for a small child, and was of a distinct
flame color, not red, but orange.

Now it was not my mother that was communicating it any



Recent Experiments Continued. - 171

time in the sitting unless we suppose she was acting as inter-
mediary, for my stepmother. The incidents had no relation to
my mother, but all were connected with my stepmother. The
consciousness of confusion at the end is interesting. My
mother, as indicated, had long been dead. The detail here men-
tioned related to my mother and not my stepmother. The very
next statement not quoted above proved this, as the communi-
cator, evidently the control, said the night gown was connected
with my mother and immediately asked if any of us ever had the
croup. My stepmother never saw croup in the family. My
mother saw much of it.

After mentioning the croup there was an immediate effort
to indicate who it was that had it, in response to my question
to say what child it was. As an indication of what happens
on such occasions the control asked if the child had died and I
responded with the statement that it depended on which child
it was. I was at once told that I was the one in mind and then
came a reference to a poultice made of grease, lard and onions
over a wood fire. The poultice and the wood fire I remember
well enough, but I do not recall the ingredients of the poultice,
except that poultices were often made with onions as an in-
gredient in them. I had suffered terribly as a child with croup
and many a time it was thought I would not recover from it.
The attacks were unusually severe. I do not remember the night
gown, except that we children had woolen ones as intimated in
the message.

A reference followed to a quilt which I do not remember
except that we had them in abundance, and then to a “little
bed.” On my asking what the bed was the answer came that it
was “a trundle” bed.” This was correct and a very natural
thing for my mother to mention. My stepmother knew nothing
about it as it had been disposed of before she came into the
family.

This was followed by an allusion to a cradle, said to be of
wood and having a hood, and then that it was of dark wood.
This was made specific by saying first that it was “ butternut ”
and then, correctly, that it was walnut.

We had a large walnut cradle in our childhood. It was of
black walnut. It had no “hood ” as that is usually understood,
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but a net was used instead to keep out the flies and mosquitos,
when they were in season. One of the interesting features of
the incident is the reference to “ butternut ”, as it is a kind of
walnut, the white walnut, and very rare in my own country, while
the black walnut is rare in New England and the butternut more
frequent. Apparently the subconscious interpreted the symbols
in terms of its own knowledge of the walnut. An interesting
evidence of this influence is the attempt to correct the allusion
to “ butternut "’ when I intimated that the cradle was not called
“butternut ”. The first correction was ‘ hickory ”. This, of
course, was false, but we may note two things. If the symbol
presented in a picture to the mind of the medium was a “ nut”
as the control said he was sure that it was a nut, the natural
interpretation of the mind, after finding that “ butternut ” was
incorrect, was that it was “ hickory ”. Then walnut came, on my
saying that “hickory” was wrong. Moreover, I happen to
know that Mrs. Chenoweth and many people in New England
often use the terms “ walnut ” and “ hickory nut ”. interchange-
ably, so that there was everything in the mental situation to
encourage the possible misinterpretation of a symbol, or assum-
ing that phonetics entered into it, of guessing at it when the
word “nut” came clearly, as indicated by the control. The
whole process is interesting as excluding telepathy as an inter-
pretation of the phenomena, assuming that it is entitled to recog-
nition or discussion at all, which, in fact, T do not admit. It is
only a bogy to be dismissed as harmless, tho we are entitled to
note its inapplicability where some minds are tempted to con-
sider it.

The next allusion was to a “ lumbering stage coach ”, said
to be connected with a place at a distance from home. Now I
remember no such vehicle in the life of my mother. I never
saw her original home until long after her death. It was many
miles from our home and as her father’s family was a large one
it is very likely, as we know what vehicles in her child-
hood were, that the family carriage was a rather ‘‘ lumbering ”
one. It would not be called either a “coach” or a “stage
coach”. In the Piper sittings Rector, the control, referred to
our carriage at home as a “ coach ”, acting as intermediary for
my father. The mental picture presented here of her memory
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might well be interpreted in the language quoted. I have no
personal memory of the facts and hence cannot verify the state-
ment, but it is very probable from what I know of those earlier
times, the latter period of which was going out in my earliest
childhood. ,

There followed a reference to something about her death and
burial, a cemetery “ a long way from here”’, a removal but not
of her body, and the building of a new house. The incidents are
not clear enough to make an important evidential point of them.
But there was something special about her death and burial and
a removal not of her body that was of special interest, tho we
cannot be sure that this is in mind. A new house was built
some eight years before her death. But the confusion here was
too great to be sure that the incidents are those I have indicated.
The sitting came to an end before the matter was cleared up.
But the name Sarah came at the end and it was said to be
connected with me. This is correct as my deceased sister had
that name and the reason that it was connected with me lay in
the fact that she was my twin sister, tho this is not stated in
the message.

At the next sitting, as soon as she obtained adequate control
the following confused but remarkable message came:

I recall the winter, the cold of the year when I was last with
you all, so long long ago and the incident of funeral burial I wish
to recall, the unlooked for incident. You know the strain of the
two together, two in one grave. Yes it was a great strain for him,
but it was better as it was and there were those there who thought
it so. Double funeral and yet not double woe, understand, one
little which made it less to bring responsibility to your father and
made it easier for me in the new life, you understand.

This confused message is an attempt to tell some very in-
teresting facts. My mother died from the effects of childbirth
and a few days before she died the infant was buried, having
been still-born. She knew that she was going to die, tho not at
first, so that the incident was really “unlooked for” before
complications which arose and which I need not mention here,
and when she knew that she could not live, she asked to be
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buried in the same grave with her child and this wish was
granted. The two were buried together. This was a very un-
usual fact and of course not known at this time to more than
three or four persons living.

It was apparent in the record prior to the above incidents
that they were delivered by an intermediary, as the messages
came in the third person. But at the next sitting my mother
purported to come direct and to speak in the first person. These
are the incidents just quoted. Immediately after the one about
the double funeral she referred to my brother Robert, calling
him Robbie, which he was called as a child and he was only a
few years old when she died. Reference was made to a cemetery
inscription which I believe is incorrect and then the names
Robbie, Charlie and James were given, the first two as said
previously being the names of deceased brothers and given
as they were called. Mine, however, is not given as she called
it, but as it appears in my records since my father’s death and
as he called me the latter part of his life. Then reference was
made to “an old Scotch Presbyterian”, but the message was
evidently not completed. We were Scotch Presbyterians and as
my mother in an earlier communication had referred to James
Hervey, the author of the Meditations of which she was very
fond and for whom I was named, it is possible that, having
given the name James here, she was trying to refer to him.

There then came a curious incident which shows a perfectly
correct appreciation of my father with an incident which is
particularly evidential. It contains some confusion but plays
correctly about the right facts.

The out of door life which the children had in summer with
freedom of body and action, which your father so much believed in.
He had his own methods of training or rather his ideas and he
thought plenty of good food and plenty of warm clothing, plenty
of air and plenty of work was a good rule.

(Yes, especially the work.) ,

I was about to add that play was not in his list, for the smallest
had his tasks, and it was a rule that each did his own work and no
allowances for lazy growing boys.

(That is correct.)
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I sometimes think that his way of forgetting youth was not the
best, but he still clings to the idea that the play is useless, and if one
needs activities, it might as well be work, but he did take a day
sometimes when he went away for some business and one or the
other went with him and that was a festal day. To mill you know.

(Yes, I know.) '

It was a great event to you as to go to California would be now.

(Yes, that is right.)

Long day and coming home later loaded with grain flour, and
then the exciting news of the day and journey.

I do not remember the telling of the day’s doings, but all
the rest of the incidents are perfectly accurate. My father is
correctly characterized as little interested in play and always
looking economically at activities. He kept us at work all he
could and regarded play as useless. Utility was his standard for
everything and either esthetics or fun were secondary, tho not
to be excluded from life. The outdoor life was an accompani-
ment of living on a farm, and when father wanted to give us a
good time he would take one or two of us with him to mill when
he took his wheat there and brought home flour or bran. It was
a great adventure for us small children to have this ride of
seven miles and return in a beautiful country.

Just after recovering from the trance and while in the border-
land of the normal state, Mrs. Chenoweth saw a vision of a
funeral with a coffin in an open wagon and not in a hearse and
spoke of it as a “ country funeral”. Then she saw a vision of
a brown dress.

The allusion to a funeral is evidently an effort to complete
the message about the “ double funeral ” mentioned previously.
Instead of employing an undertaker and a hearse for the funeral
of the still-born child, it was taken to the cemetery in an open
carriage, not a wagon. My mother had a brown silk dress,
but I do not know whether she was buried in it or not. The
impression which Mrs. Chenoweth had in the vision was that
the person in the coffin was a woman and that she wore a brown
dress. It was the child that was taken to the grave as described
and not my mother.

The next sitting was a remarkable one for the details involved

.
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and is difficult to abbreviate. But when the facts are told the
difficulty and confusion are easily explained and make even the
confusion as intelligible as it is good evidence.

It took me sometime to understand these small memories, but
they make the past very real and vivid.

I believed in God and heaven and hell,'as the people about me
did, but the active life after death was a revelation, and today you
can understand how it helped me in the separation from my little
family, needing me so much, and when friends came to help you,
it was a relief to me, and your poor father felt the care so much.
He was not mother nor could he ever be. It was not his way. He
provided and planned and was the head of the family.

(Who was it that did come to help and took your place?)

There were two that came after, but first was the relative who
made such effort to comfort and care for you all. My s Aunt,
Aunt. My relative, your Aunt. She came at once to help you know.

(Yes, that is correct.)

And later an older relative came at times to make the usual
visit and help. You know to whom I refer. Ma... Mar...
Mart... th...

(“Martha ”?) [Name of the communicator but wrong for the
person intended.]

There was a Martha, but that is not the one I am trying to write
now.

(I understand.)

Margaret. It is not the least dimmed in my memory, but I
seem to mix two scenes together without meaning to do so.

(I understand. Who was Martha?) [Name of my mother.]

Later on she came sometimes.

(Think a moment.)

Sis... who was Martha? [Asked on the other side.]

(Yes.) Grandmother. Martha was there and did much for
the family. There was a sister, you know, who was not yours, but
his, Aunt.

(Whose?) Yours and then Grandma and stepmother later.

A simple statement of the facts will make this interesting
passage clear. My mother’s name was Martha. Immediately
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after her death my Aunt, my father’s sister, came to keep house
for father and to care for us children. In a few years she
married and this left our domestic affairs in such a condition
that father married his second wife. Her name was Margaret.
When my father’s younger sister married, my grandmother who
had lived with this aunt, came to live with us for a time until her
death. Her name also was Margaret.

It is interesting to note the mistake about the Martha. She
is evidently taken for my stepmother, an error which is inexcus-
able on the supposition of normal knowledge of her name and
relationship, as Mrs. Chenoweth had an opportunity to know it
from Vol. VI of the Proceedings which she had seen. But she
knew nothing about the name of my stepmother or my grand-
mother, and if she had she should not have confused them. The
same confusion was made through Mrs. Piper and also at another
time through Mrs. Chenoweth.

My mother was an orthodox believer in heaven and hell
and she would find death a “ revelation ” on that doctrine. The
statement regardmg my father’s inability to be a saother is quite
true, but perhaps is true of most fathers It is especially true
of my father, however. ¢

It is interesting to remark the statement, Just after giving
the name Margaret, that the communicator is *“ mixing two
scenes together ”. There is evidently a pictographic process
involved and the confusion regards the stepmother and my grand-
mother whose names were Margaret.

Immediately following the reference to my grandmother at
the end of the message just commented on, came a reference to
spinning and making yarn from wool for the needs of the
family. This was pertinent, but not to the period just described.
My grandmother had done much of this work, but only in her
younger days and not at the time involved in the message about
events after my mother’s death. The association is not abrupt,
but the time involved is. Then came a reference to “ Sunday
afternoons and a walk sometimes taken by the children” and a
sudden and disconnected reference to where my mother was
buried. The first of these incidents has no meaning and the
latter is not made specific enough to emphasxze. But an effort
was made to mention some “ small blue flowers ”, said “ to grow
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wild around the fields and not to be blue bells ”’, that were put
at her grave. I do not remember anything of this incident. But
violets grew wild and were cultivated by my mother in the yard.
She was very fond of them and some may have been taken to
her grave, but I have no recollection of it.

This imperfect message was interrupted with a reference to
clover and to buckwheat, the latter of which was said to be “ so
pretty growing” and to have been sown for its flour and for
the making of honey. This was perfectly correct. I suspect
the allusion to clover was a marginal aspect of the picture in
the effort to refer to the buckwheat, as it was one of the plants
from which honey was taken by the bees. The buckwheat was
sown for two reasons; namely, for the two mentioned, and the
fields of it were certainly very pretty when growing and in
flower. She said the honey “ was a treat and lots of it”. This
was true. We had it in great abundance.

Then came a reference to a carriage with the following con-
fused statement: “ Some had to walk. You know there was a
preparation for a meeting where some started early and walked.”
When I asked what meeting it was the answer came: “ Sunday
meeting.”

This evidently refers to the fact that some of us used to
walk part of the way to church and then to ride the rest of the
way when overtaken by others who would take our place afoot.
Usually this was connected with horseback riding. The incident,
however, is rather confusedly indicated. It was followed, how-
ever, by an interesting characterization of my father as “an
interested listener but took objections as he saw fit. He never
took the pulpit for a final place of authority.” This was perfectly
correct. He did his own thinking even when he confined it to
orthodoxy. Immediately after delivering this message Mrs.
Chenoweth came out of the trance and just as she became normal
she asked if I knew anything about an Andrew. This name was
very relevant to the incident of going to church as described. This
man lived not very far from the church to which we used to go
in the manner indicated and had been involved in important
domestic troubles which my father as a member of the Session
in the church had to help settle. My mother knew the facts well.
He and his place might well be in the mental picture of going to
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church as described. It would be one of the most distinct
features of such a picture in my mother’s and father’s memory.

The next sitting interrupted my mother, to give her some
respite possibly, and then she resumed her work on the following
occasion. She first referred to my father’s giving work the
first place in his life and expecting the same of us boys, which
was true, and then gave the following:

Do you remember a school house not far away from home, long
ago destroyed, and later one farther away, more pretentious, and the
first one was in sight of our land near it, and the surroundings
were quiet and country sounds were all about. There were meet-
ings in that school house before you were born and after and some
of them were religious and some were of a political nature. And
sometimes your father took a lantern and went with the neighbors
there to discuss the situation in the country’s distress and later they
went many miles to hear more about the I cannot think of
the word. Wait a moment—the southern Secessionists.

(Yes, exactly.)

That was the word on everybody’s lips. Your father was a
vociferous advocate for the Union.

(Yes, he was.)

And he never hesitated to call the neighbors together for

discussion.

The “ old school house ”, as we used to call it, was situated
on a corner of our farm toward the east and was destroyed about
1862 or 1863. It was frame and very old. The new one was
brick and much more pretentious. Many debates were held
about slavery in the old one. I do not remember any religious
meetings in it nor do I personally remember political debates in
it. My father told me of them and I knew from his lips that
he did go with a lantern to meetings to discuss slavery and
‘“ secession "’ and often many miles to other school houses. The
word “ secession” was on everybody’s lips at the time, some-
times abbreviated to “ secesh ”. My father was a very staunch
supporter of the Union cause, but always a fair tho keen debater
on it.

An allusion to the first day on which I went to school was
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made and if a certain incident in it had been told it would have
been a striking bit of evidence. But I did not get this incident,
tho I asked for it. Then came a reference to cheese as follows:

I also want to know if you know about cheese. I mean cheese
made in a shed room and then carried to the cheese room to dry
upstairs. Do you recall how you children liked the curds and the
wherry, and how there was a division of it between you.

We made cheese in the woodshed and it was taken to the
house to dry, I think, in the attic of the old kitchen. We children
were wild about the “ curds and wherry ”’ on these occasions.

My mother then referred to the well dand the fact that the
water was “ hard like a mineral ”. It contained much lime and
iron sulphide. In the subliminal recovery she referred to an old
loom as in the attic where the cheese was kept. This was true
at one time, but I do not recall the fact personally. I learned
it by inquiry.

At the next sitting a long message came about poplar trees,
the bam, yokes, sleds, buckets connected with sugar making,
barrels and buildings, and making ready for sugar boiling, as
we called it at the time of “ the last snows ", as indicated in the
message. The scene was clearly located away from my home and
the name ‘““ Peter ” in connection with it goes to prove this, as
it was the name of an old negro connected with my uncle’s farm
near the original home of my mother in another county and
which was evidently the place in her mind, tho I never saw it
until long after her death. The articles described, except the
yokes, were all connected with sugar making and were very
natural for my mother to mention, as she was quite familiar with
the life connected with it. But I-do not remember any of the
scenes that are evidently in mind, as they were connected with
a period long before I was born. We had no poplar trees on
our place. One existed on our neighobor’s place and I do not
know whether there were any on the farm where my mother
was born. It is probable that there were. Reference was made
to oxen and this proves that the time was before I was born, as
we never had any on my father’s farm. When I asked if any
one living could tell me about the place she had in mind, having
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my father’s living sister in mind, I got the answer: “ Your
Uncle knew about it.” ‘This is distinct evidence that my inter-
pretation of the incidents is correct, as the Uncle who had the
negro Peter on his farm lived near my mother’s old home as
already stated. But my mother was unable to give this Uncle’s
name. Her control broke down before she could give it.

But the thread of the message was taken up by the new con-
trol and the whole incident made clearer, tho it related to events
before my time. The passage is worth quoting at some length,
and especially its sequel.

Have you any relatives who live far away from here?

(Yes.) :

Is there not an old gentleman who lives with some young people?

(Not that I know of.) '

Who did live with the younger members of the family. He
seems like an uncle to you.

(I don’t know who it is.)

Did you have an Uncle J—— (Yes.) who lived with some
younger persons ?

(No.) Sure? (I don’t recall any one.)

Wait a minute. I will see what the trouble is. To go back to
the poplar trees, was there a member of your family who lived
where there were poplar trees growing?

(Not that I ever heard of.)

Your mother seems to have a recollection of such a thing and
she thinks it that which she has not made quite plain.

(I know of poplar trees not far from our home, but they were
not connected with any relative whatever.)

You are thinking of one place and she of another. Did she
come from a farming community before she married your father,
a little distance away from the home which you knew as a boy.

(Yes, and I do not know anything about it, as I never saw it.)

I think you will find that it was a more primitive state of
living than the life she lived with your father. I mean by primitive
a somewhat earlier period and these trees of which she speaks were
on%ome part of the original homeland. There must have been an
Uncle on that side of the family who lived some years after her
immediate family -passed away and he knew about these earlier
scenes.
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I believe that she was so far back in her memories that it will
be very hard to trace the connections. Yet it may be possible
through some of the younger ones. The J—— is not the J— you
thought of but an older one. Look it up and let her get to some-
thing a little more recent. They—I mean by they the group—told
her to recall back as far as she could and that was the result. You
can dig too deep a well.

I had not said anything to indicate that I knew about the
place and time my mother had in mind, so that this message
confirms what I expressed in my notes on the previous reference
to the same thing and it enlarges on it in a way to prove that I
was right and that the events occurred before I was born. The
Uncle J. referred ‘to was my mother’s brother. He had died
a short time before this sitting, perhaps two or three years or
more, so that it was absurd to refer to him with the expectation
that I could verify the facts by him. We are not sure that he
was mentioned with that purpose, but he knew the facts and was
the last survivor of my mother’s family. But the sequel showed
that she had in mind another Uncle also. We shall see the mean-
ing presently. But this was the Uncle to whom reference was
made first. He was said to live or to have lived with some
younger members of the family. His niece, daughter of the
brother of the Uncle ]J. mentioned, lived for years with this
Uncle before his death which was before the death of the Uncle
J. Both of them knew the facts and the first one lived most of
his life near my mother’s original home. Both Uncles lived
some years after my mother’s immediate family had passed away,
as stated in the message. It did belong to a period antedating
her marriage to father.

To help the message and to get away from what I could not
remember and perhaps could not verify by others, the more
recent aspect of the incident was taken up and an attempt made
to identify the place which this Uncle lived in who had made a
home for the niece of his. Reference was made to cross roads
and to a village and the way to it described, but not in siffi-
ciently clear terms for me to identify it with assurance or to
make the statement evidential to others. The confusion ended
the sitting and when I remarked that it had no meaning what-
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ever to me, the control ceased trying. Immediately the sub-
liminal stage came on and the matter was taken up there as
follows:

What are they trying to do?

(I don’t know.)

Do you know anything about a back road?

(No.) Who said anything about it? (The one communicating.)

Well, don’t your father know about it?

(Perhaps, but they did not make clear to me what they had in
mind.)

Oh, can I help?

(If they tell me the name of the town, it will clear it up.)

I will see if I can see it. Do you know anything about a town
that sounds something like Spring. I don’t think it is Springfield.
I think it is like Spring in it. You know of any one living in it
with Springs in the word?

(Some one in the family, a relative did.)

Was Springs the last part of it. (Yes.) Like Sulphur Springs
or White Springs?

(You will get it.)

I don’t know as I can. W-O-L-L-E. [I did not notice at the
time that this was part of “ Yellow ” spelled backward.]

(It is not quite right.)

Is there more of it?

(Only two letters are right.) [I did not yet see it was all correct
and backward with the “Y ” omitted.]

Is W right. (No.) [I did not yet see it.] I can’t get it. Well
the L is there. Are there two L’s?

(Yes.) And then there is an E? (Yes.) And an O? (Yes.)
I got all those before.

(Yes, but the W is not.)

Is therea Y? (Yes.) Isn’t therea W?

(Oh yes, it is backward.) Wolley Springs. (No, that is back-
ward.) . .

Yellow Springs. (That is right. Who lived there?)

E-L-C-N-U. (That’s right, Uncle who?) D-N-A T-N-U-A.
[“and aunt”] (Yes.) F-O-S-R-U-O-Y. [“of yours ...”}

(I understand.)
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The Uncle whom my mother had in mind when describing
the roads and the village lived the latter part of his life in Yellow
Springs, a small town not far from my home. He had com-
municated before this time not long after his death and referred
to the same place in a still more dramatic manner by the picto-
graphic process which, if used here, was put in a different man-
ner than usual. Apparently the resort here to spelling backward
was to eliminate efforts on the part of the subconscious to in-
terpret and intermix her own ideas with the name. That ten-
dency was apparent in the reference to ““ Sulphur Springs ” and
“ White Springs ”’. There were sulphur springs there and their
yellow color gave the name to the place. The earlier message
about the place involved a mental picture of the *“ yellow springs "’
and the waterfall near by. But this is omitted here. It is
apparent that I was nearly as much confused about the message
as the communicator was about the cross roads. But the name
of Yellow Springs and the allusion to my uncle and aunt who
lived and died there decides what was in mind. But it is re-
markable that they should be referred to with the apparent
expectation that I could verify the facts about the old farm.
They both knew them well, but were both dead at this time and
both had been communicators.

The next sitting was opened with an interesting statement
which showed consciousness of interpretation entering into the
receipt and delivery of messages and it was followed up by in-
cidents which the allusion to Yellow Springs might recall. I
quote the passage.

Mother has a little more to say. I did not make it quite clear
and so was helped by the friend who is so quick to catch a meaning.

(Yes, I understand.)

You know about the iron in the water, the mineral water, that
was drinking water for us.

(Yes, I remember it well.)

You asked me a few days [ago] about it and I did not answer,
so I do so now.

(Yes, thank you.)

And do you recall a spring in the distance where very cold and
clear water bubbled up and very often water was brought from the
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spring, but oftener it was a place where a thirsty boy might drink
after working in the woods beyond it and in the fields.

She then mentioned wild strawberry vines and grasses as
near the spring and also a brook, saying that willow trees were
there and that we boys made whistles out of the willow.

I had not hinted to the control what was in the well water
at home and the correct statement about it comes out here spon-
taneously; namely, iron. No less interesting is the reference
to a spring. It was natural to think of it in connection with the
allusion to Yellow Springs, because it was also a yellow sulphur
spring on what we called “ the other place ”’, some distance from
the house. We did not use it for any domestic purposes, but we
boys did go to it, when working in the fields, for drinking water.
There were woods beyond it, but I imagine that the communi-
cator really had in mind the woods beyond which the spring
was and which were between home and the spring. There were
grasses and wild strawberry vines growing all about there and
a brook ran by the spring. The whole scene had been referred
to at an earlier date by my father and described more fully.
Indeed he and my stepmother knew the place better than my
mother. The brook was thickly lined with willows. I imagine,
however, that the communicator in passing from the well to the
spring had in mind the large willow tree which was near this
well and from which we boys made more whistles than we did
from the willows near the brook.

There followed an interesting and evidential message about
the orchard and a particular apple, which it took some time to get
correctly.

I want to refer to an orchard, not where we have just been
walking, but one nearer the house.

(Yes, go ahead.) -

And the care your father felt for his trees was quite a real care
to all of us. You know to what I refer now.

(Yes, I do.)

" And there were some days of hard work put into the fruit trees

or fruit by you boys as well as by him.
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(Do you remember a good apple near that shed where the cheese
was made?)

You mean the early apple with rather yellowish flesh.

(Yes, the name of it.)

Yes, G... long apple. It was C—— I will get it in a minute.
Was it the P...?

(Yes, go ahead.)

P... Por... Port...

I admitted that P was right, but it afforded no help ap-
parently, as the confusion went on, but finally I got *“ Pound
Sweet ”. This was not correct and I did not urge further
attempts at this time. Reference was made to a crab apple which
also was near the same place. The apple I had in mind was an
early yellow Pound Pippin of which we were very fond and
which was one of the favorite apples of the family. Before the
series of communications from my mother terminated she came
back to the question and finally got Pound Pippin correctly.

Immediately following the attempt to name the Pippin apple
my mother referred to a pear that was a favorite with father
and the family.

Duchess, you know the Duchess.

(That was near.)

I have them in mind. Was not the Duchess a yellow pear, or
rather a sort of light brown? (Yes.) And of course you know
those green pears that were later and hard and ripened in the house.

The Duchesse D’Angouléme pear was not near the Pippin
apple, but was near the house. It was yellow when ripe but
with a brownish tinge. There was a hard green pear which was
put away for the winter and ripened in the house.

My mother immediately changed the subject and referred to
an old brick oven which she said was used long ago and referred
it to the time of my grandmother. I knew nothing about this,
but learned from my Aunt that it was correct and that long
before my time there was a brick oven used for domestic pur-
poses as in those times.

The opening of the next sitting has a statement that throws
light upon the confused and fragmentary character of messages
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and it is worth quoting. It came from my mother and was an
explanation of what occurred with her at times.

Sometimes it seems as if a great deal of time is taken by me to
make very few things clear, but your father tells me to go ahead.
Sometimes one’s recollections suggest another time and place
through the relationships of occurrences, and the two memories
make a perverted or inverted picture.

(I understand.)

For instance, when the memory of a walk by the brook is a
scene I would like to recall to you, there come to me pictures of
other brooks and people entirely unrelated in your memory to the
thing I am describing, but quite properly related to my memory of
the scene.

(I understand.) !

And it was so in the orchard conversation. Yesterday I re-
called several things quite apa<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>